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         1       MR AGIUS:   Good morning, Commissioner.  Before my learned

         2       friend Mr Wigney calls Mr Stuart, there are one or two

         3       housekeeping matters that I should put on the record.  The

         4       inquiry has written to the Prime Minister and asked him to

         5       provide a statement in relation to relevant matters.  We

         6       expect to receive that statement and, when it is received,

         7       I will deal with it in accordance with the way in which we

         8       have dealt with the other statements and make it available

         9       on a confidential basis to those who have authority to

        10       appear.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Secondly, for some time now the inquiry has

        15       been in contact with Ms Felicity Johnston, who the inquiry

        16       and you, Mr Commissioner, will recall was referred to in

        17       cables in January and March of the year 2000 concerning a

        18       complaint by an unnamed third party country, which we know

        19       now to be Canada.  On Friday of last week the

        20       Secretary-General of the United Nations released

        21       Ms Johnston from her obligations under the convention and

        22       regulations so as to permit her to provide the inquiry with

        23       a statement and to give oral evidence.  We have asked the

        24       British Foreign Office as well to give Ms Johnston

        25       authority and sufficient release to enable her to speak to

        26       the inquiry and to provide a statement.  We are confident

        27       that we will have a statement from Ms Johnston shortly.

        28       It's unlikely that the Foreign Office would withhold

        29       permission for Ms Johnston to provide us with a statement

        30       in circumstances where, as we understand it, a national

        31       current affairs program is soon to air statements made by

        32       her to them.

        33

        34            When that document is available, we'll make it

        35       available on the same basis to my learned friends.  We

        36       anticipate that that statement will deal with the processes

        37       at the United Nations, the receipt and processing of AWB

        38       contracts and Ms Johnston's conversations with Ms Moules

        39       and Mr Nicholas.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   We expect to have Minister Vaile available for

        44       examination this afternoon at 2 o'clock, and at that time I

        45       will be making application to interpose the minister's

        46       evidence.  Mr Wigney will now call Mr Stuart.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll just give reasons in relation to

         2       the application for cross-examination.

         3

         4            The application to examine Minister Downer on behalf

         5       of Mr Lindberg has been withdrawn.  There remains only the

         6       application on behalf of Mr Geary and Mr Long.  The

         7       application to examine on behalf of Mr Geary and Mr Long

         8       was put, correctly, both in writing and orally, subject to

         9       the examination of Mr Downer upon suggested topics by

        10       counsel assisting.  It thus may be that, after hearing the

        11       examination of counsel assisting, the application may not

        12       be pressed.

        13

        14            The application was not based on any conflict between

        15       the evidence of Mr Downer on the one hand and Mr Geary or

        16       Mr Long on the other.  The application was based upon a

        17       desire to explore:  (a) the exercise of the approval

        18       process under the Customs (Prohibited Exports) Regulations

        19       1958, and any ministerial submissions in relation to that;

        20       (b) testing Mr Downer's recollection regarding receipt of

        21       cables; (c) the basis for Mr Downer's opinion regarding the

        22       importance of certain cables; (d) knowledge of material in

        23       secret exhibit 4; (e) why a cable forwarded to his office

        24       was not shown to him; and, (f), Mr Downer's knowledge of

        25       Mr Long's achievements as an adviser to the Coalition

        26       Provisional Authority.

        27

        28            It is to be borne in mind that the reason why this

        29       inquiry is considering the knowledge of the Commonwealth,

        30       and thus its ministers and officials, is because of its

        31       possible relevance as a defence should the ingredients of a

        32       knowledge-based offence otherwise be established against

        33       AWB or any of its officers.  It was the inquiry which

        34       decided the knowledge of the Commonwealth may become

        35       relevant and commenced investigations regarding any

        36       knowledge on 1 December 2005.

        37

        38            This application brings into focus the respective

        39       roles of counsel assisting the inquiry and counsel for a

        40       witness.  A commission of inquiry exercising the powers

        41       under the Royal Commissions Act may inform itself in such

        42       manner as it regards appropriate.  It has compulsive powers

        43       which enable it to obtain documents and evidence from

        44       witnesses.  It need not hold hearings at all and any

        45       hearings it does hold need not be held in public.  Speaking

        46       generally, the restriction on the powers of a royal

        47       commission is that any person or body who might be
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         1       adversely affected by its findings must be afforded

         2       procedural fairness or natural justice.  That usually

         3       exhibits itself in such a person being advised of any

         4       likely adverse finding and being given an opportunity to

         5       respond.

         6

         7            The scope and role of a person appearing before an

         8       inquiry or royal commission regarding the examination of a

         9       witness is addressed in section 6FA of the Act.  It

        10       provides:

        11

        12            Any legal practitioner appointed by the

        13            Attorney-General to assist a Commission,

        14            any person authorised by a Commission to

        15            appear before it, or any legal practitioner

        16            authorised by a Commission to appear before

        17            it for the purpose of representing any

        18            person, may, so far as the Commission

        19            thinks proper, examine or cross-examine any

        20            witness on any matter which the Commission

        21            deems relevant to the inquiry, and any

        22            witness so examined or cross-examined shall

        23            have the same protection and be subject to

        24            the same liabilities as if examined by any

        25            of the Commissioners, or by the sole

        26            Commissioner, as the case may be.

        27

        28       Pursuant to section 6FA of the Act, authorisation to appear

        29       before a commission of inquiry must be sought.  It was in

        30       all instances by counsel and solicitors appearing for each

        31       witness.  The authorisation was granted on the "usual

        32       terms".  Those terms were:  (a) this authorisation to

        33       appear may be withdrawn or made subject to altered or

        34       additional limitations or conditions at any time; and, (b),

        35       this authorisation to appear entitles the person to whom it

        36       is granted to participate in the proceedings of the

        37       inquiry, subject to the inquiry's control and to such

        38       extent as the inquiry considers appropriate.  In

        39       particular, the inquiry may:  (i) limit the particular

        40       topics or issues upon which the person may examine and

        41       cross-examine; (ii) impose time limits upon examination and

        42       cross-examination; and (iii) require that submissions be

        43       presented in writing only.

        44

        45            Section 6FA distinguishes between three categories of

        46       persons appearing before such a body.  First, there are

        47       legal practitioners appointed by the Attorney-General to
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         1       assist a commission.  Such counsel assisting do not need

         2       the authorisation of the commission to appear.  Counsel

         3       assisting have no "interest" as that term is generally

         4       understood.  It is the role and function of such persons to

         5       investigate and place before a commissioner all material

         6       which they consider relevant to the subject matter of the

         7       inquiry.  That places a broad and heavy burden on counsel

         8       and solicitors assisting.  It is because of that burden

         9       that commissioners traditionally require all material to be

        10       tendered by, and all witnesses to be called and examined

        11       by, counsel assisting.  That is why the Practice Note

        12       provides:

        13

        14            4.  Subject to the control of the

        15            Commissioner, counsel assisting will

        16            determine what witnesses are called, what

        17            documents are tendered to the Inquiry, and

        18            in what order they will call and examine

        19            witnesses.

        20            ...

        21            9.  All witnesses will be called by Counsel

        22            Assisting.  Any person wishing to have

        23            evidence of a witness or witnesses placed

        24            before the Inquiry is to notify Senior

        25            Counsel Assisting of the names of all such

        26            witnesses and provide a signed statement of

        27            their expected evidence, if possible in the

        28            form of a statutory declaration.  Counsel

        29            Assisting or Inquiry staff may interview

        30            such witnesses and take further statements

        31            from such witnesses if considered

        32            necessary.  It is not necessary that any

        33            such interviews or the obtaining of such

        34            additional statements occur in the presence

        35            of the person, or legal representatives

        36            thereof, who sought to have the evidence of

        37            such witnesses placed before the Inquiry.

        38            The orderly conduct of the Inquiry will be

        39            greatly facilitated if this evidence is

        40            made available without delay.

        41

        42            10.  Application may be made directly to

        43            the Commissioner to call witnesses or place

        44            documentary material before the Inquiry

        45            only in the following circumstances:  (a)

        46            application has been made to Senior Counsel

        47            Assisting to call such witness or tender
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         1            such documents which application has been

         2            refused; (b) thereafter, the application

         3            has given to Senior Counsel Assisting

         4            written notice of the reasons why such

         5            witnesses' evidence or documentary material

         6            should be placed before the Inquiry; (c)

         7            either:  (i) Senior Counsel Assisting has

         8            reaffirmed his decision not to make the

         9            evidence before the Inquiry; or (ii) two

        10            working days have passed since the notice

        11            referred to in (b) has been received by the

        12            Inquiry without response from Senior

        13            Counsel Assisting.

        14            ...

        15            13.  A copy of any document proposed to be

        16            put to a witness in any examination or

        17            cross-examination must be provided to

        18            Counsel Assisting the Inquiry as soon as

        19            after a decision is made to use the

        20            document for this purpose, and in all cases

        21            prior to its intended use.

        22

        23       The examination of witnesses by counsel assisting is thus

        24       to be broad ranging, covering all aspects of material

        25       which, in their view, is material to the terms of

        26       reference.  It involves the testing of witnesses where that

        27       is appropriate and where there is a sensible basis for

        28       there being doubt regarding evidence given.  If there be

        29       conflict between the evidence of witnesses, it is the

        30       responsibility of counsel assisting to explore that

        31       conflict, if resolution of the conflict is material to the

        32       inquiry's consideration of the matters in the terms of

        33       reference.  That is why counsel assisting are given the

        34       first and last opportunity to examine witnesses.

        35

        36            The second category addressed in section 6FA is "any

        37       person authorised by the Commission to appear before it".

        38       Such persons are usually those who may be adversely

        39       affected by the inquiry or who otherwise may have a

        40       material interest in the inquiry.  A wide discretion is

        41       conferred upon the Commission to grant such authorisation.

        42       Here, AWB Ltd is such a person, as are its officers.

        43

        44            The third category addressed by section 6FA is "any

        45       legal practitioner authorised by a Commission to appear

        46       before it for the purpose of representing any person".  The

        47       role of this category of legal practitioner is different to
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         1       that of counsel assisting.  They have a particular

         2       "interest".  Their interest is the narrow one of

         3       representing a person or witness.

         4

         5            By section 6FA, the Commission retains control over

         6       the process of examination or cross-examination.  No

         7       category of person has an unbounded right of examination or

         8       cross-examination.  The use of the word "may" confers a

         9       permission to examine or cross-examine "so far as the

        10       Commission thinks proper", and only in relation to "any

        11       matter which the Commission deems relevant to the Inquiry".

        12

        13            Consistent with that provision is clause 12 of the

        14       Practice Note.  It reads:

        15

        16            Any person who is legally represented who

        17            has been examined (including

        18            cross-examined) by Counsel Assisting may

        19            next be examined by his or her own legal

        20            representative and then cross-examined by

        21            or on behalf of any person considered by

        22            the Inquiry to have sufficient interest in

        23            so doing.  The witness's own legal

        24            representative and finally Counsel

        25            Assisting may re-examine.  At all times,

        26            duplication and repetition is to be

        27            avoided.

        28

        29       Thus, cross-examination "may" be permitted where the person

        30       on whose behalf it is sought has a "sufficient interest" in

        31       relation to any matter which the commission "deems relevant

        32       to the inquiry" and "so far as the Commission thinks

        33       proper".  Duplication of examination would normally not be

        34       proper as it would be of no assistance to the inquiry.  If

        35       a witness who seeks to cross-examine another witness has

        36       information or documents relevant to the inquiry upon which

        37       to base a cross-examination, such information or documents

        38       ought to have been provided to counsel assisting, who could

        39       weigh its utility and, if thought appropriate, examine a

        40       witness upon it.  The area for useful further

        41       cross-examination is thus diminished.

        42

        43            It is for these reasons that the narrow interest of a

        44       witness in challenging or testing the evidence of another

        45       witness is usually subsumed in the broader examination of

        46       counsel assisting.  It follows that it is premature for me

        47       to rule upon the application.  If, after counsel assisting
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         1       has examined Mr Downer, the application is pressed, I will

         2       rule upon such application as may be pressed.

         3

         4       MR WIGNEY:   I call Mr Stuart.

         5

         6       <DAVID GORDON STUART, affirmed:                   [10.17am]

         7

         8       <EXAMINATION BY MR WIGNEY:

         9

        10       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Mr Stuart, might we have your full name,

        11       please?

        12       A.   David Gordon Stuart.

        13

        14       Q.   You're currently the First Assistant Secretary of the

        15       International Security Division of the Department of

        16       Foreign Affairs and Trade; is that so?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   I think, Mr Stuart, you have provided two statutory

        20       declarations for the purposes of this inquiry; is that

        21       right?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Can we deal with the first of those, please, that is,

        25       if I can just bring it up on the screen, commencing with

        26       the barcode DFT.0013.0663.  Are you able to identify that

        27       first page that's on the screen as the first page of your

        28       statutory declaration, Mr Stuart?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   If one goes to the last page, which is at

        32       DFT.0013.0674, if that could be brought up, please, is that

        33       the last page of your statutory declaration, indicating

        34       that you made it on 10 March 2006?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Subject to one thing that I'll come to in a moment,

        38       are the contents of that statutory declaration true and

        39       correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

        40       Mr Stuart, did you hear my question?

        41       A.   Yes, I did.  I believe so.

        42

        43       MR WIGNEY:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that statement.  I

        44       exclude from the tender at this stage paragraphs 33, 34, 35

        45       and 36 of the statutory declaration.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   What about paragraph 11?
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         1

         2       MR WIGNEY:   Yes, I was going to come to that.  There are

         3       also - I'll come to this with Mr Stuart in a moment - some

         4       references to a closed submission.  That's in the last

         5       sentence of paragraph 11, those words in the parentheses

         6       and also in paragraph 21 in the last sentence in

         7       parentheses, we don't press the tender of those passages

         8       either.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  Do you wish to be

        11       heard on this, Mr Robertson?

        12

        13       MR ROBERTSON:   May I be heard briefly in relation to that

        14       matter, Mr Commissioner.  I don't want to be heard in

        15       relation to those parts of the statutory declaration that

        16       refer to a closed submission - say paragraph 36, and the

        17       other references to which Mr Wigney has referred - but my

        18       submission will be that, in relation to paragraphs 33, 34

        19       and 35, that material is relevant to the Commission's

        20       inquiry, on this basis, that Mr Stuart is an experienced

        21       user, as he says in paragraph 2 of the statutory

        22       declaration, of intelligence material of this kind and

        23       there would therefore be a relevance to the Commission in

        24       having the benefit of Mr Stuart's evidence in 33, 34 and 35

        25       as to how a reader of that material would approach it.

        26

        27            In the alternative, Mr Commissioner, if you're against

        28       me on those propositions, I would seek to ask Mr Stuart in

        29       due course some three or four short questions, not about

        30       the contents of those 15 items but about the form generally

        31       in which unassessed material is received by readers of that

        32       material.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will mark Mr Stuart's statutory

        35       declaration as exhibit 757.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #757 STATUTORY DECLARATION OF DAVID GORDON STUART,

        38       DATED 10/3/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0663-0674

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will exclude from the exhibit the

        41       passages in parentheses in paragraphs 11 and 21, and I will

        42       also exclude paragraphs 33 to 36 of the material.  I will

        43       permit you to ask those questions in due course,

        44       Mr Robertson.

        45

        46       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        47
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         1       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Mr Stuart, in two or three of the

         2       paragraphs to which reference has just been made - that is,

         3       paragraphs 11, 21 and 36 of your statutory declaration -

         4       there is reference to what you have called a closed

         5       submission.  Is it the position that you have provided a

         6       second statutory declaration to the inquiry which is

         7       classified as secret and therefore not open to

         8       dissemination to any persons without the appropriate

         9       security classification?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       MR WIGNEY:   Mr Commissioner, I might just make it plain

        13       that we do not seek to tender or place any reliance on that

        14       statutory declaration.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        17

        18       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Mr Stuart, your statutory declaration

        19       that has been tendered deals in some considerable detail

        20       with how the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, which

        21       I'll call, like everyone else, DFAT, receives and

        22       distributes intelligence which it - that is, DFAT -

        23       receives from the Australian Intelligence Community; that's

        24       so, isn't it?

        25       A.   That's what it does, yes.

        26

        27       Q.   What I propose to do, Mr Stuart, is to endeavour to

        28       distil from your lengthy and detailed statement some basic

        29       propositions, hopefully in fairly simple and understandable

        30       terms, about the distribution within DFAT - that is, once a

        31       report is received by DFAT, the internal distribution at

        32       DFAT; do you understand?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   What I want to do is to deal specifically in these

        36       questions with what you have called raw or unassessed

        37       intelligence; do you understand?

        38       A.   Mmm-hmm, yes.

        39

        40       Q.   In paragraph 6 of your statutory declaration you

        41       define raw or unassessed intelligence in the following

        42       terms - this is at 0664 - as constituting "specific,

        43       individual items of information, typically obtained by

        44       covert means (as opposed, for example, to diplomatic

        45       reporting from our overseas posts the information for which

        46       is obtained openly, even if the contents may be

        47       classified)".  It may be obvious, but for those of us not
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         1       au fait with the intelligence community, can you tell us,

         2       please, when you refer to "covert means", what does that

         3       include?

         4       A.   It includes a collection of what are called human

         5       intelligence - in other words, information obtained from

         6       people who provided, I guess through westernised channels,

         7       signals intelligence, material that's intercepted as it's

         8       sent electronically or physical copies of documents are

         9       obtained, imagery obtained - for example, by overhead

        10       photography from satellites; in other words, material

        11       that's obtained without the knowledge of the government or

        12       entity that's the target, if you like, for obtaining that

        13       knowledge.

        14

        15       Q.   I should have said this before, and I suppose that you

        16       of all people are someone that I don't need to say this to,

        17       but if at any stage my questions call upon you to reveal

        18       anything that is classified information or that otherwise

        19       the national interests require protection from disclosure,

        20       you will, I trust, let us know.

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   In relation to the raw or unassessed intelligence, is

        24       it typically obtained from one of the collecting agencies

        25       to which you refer in paragraph 4 of your statutory

        26       declaration - that is, the Defence Signals Directorate,

        27       referred to as DSD, the Australian Secret Intelligence

        28       Service, ASIS, and the Defence Imagery and Geospatial

        29       Organisation, DIGO; is that right?

        30       A.   Yes, with the qualification that they may not obtain

        31       it directly themselves, they may obtain it through

        32       information-sharing agreements with partners - in other

        33       words, counterparts from other countries.

        34

        35       Q.   So other foreign intelligence services; is that so?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   The questions I want to ask you in relation to the

        39       distribution within DFAT I will ask in general terms

        40       without distinguishing between those specific collecting

        41       agencies; do you understand?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   I also want to focus on the period that you focus on

        45       in your statement - that is, the period 1998 through to

        46       2003 - though I'll come back to one specific area in which

        47       that may have changed in due course; do you understand?
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         1       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         2

         3       Q.   If I can have, please, brought up on the screens

         4       exhibit 641, barcoded GOV.0003.0018.  Now, Mr Stuart, that

         5       document on the screen I think you're familiar with.  Have

         6       you seen that document before?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   It is a distillation of 15 documents obtained from the

        10       Australian Intelligence Community which has been produced

        11       to the inquiry, including some reference to the

        12       distribution of that material; do you understand?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   You've seen the 15 reports that make up secret

        16       exhibit 4, have you not?

        17       A.   I have.

        18

        19       Q.   The questions that I want to direct you to are really

        20       not directed so much specifically to the 15 reports but to

        21       the following passages that I'm going to take you to.  You

        22       see in paragraph 1, under the subheading "Distribution", in

        23       the second sentence there is a reference to the reports

        24       being distributed on or about the date to which reference

        25       is earlier made to the Department of Foreign Affairs and

        26       Trade; do you see that?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Likewise in relation to paragraph 2, under the

        30       subheading "Distribution", there's also a reference to the

        31       relevant report or reports being distributed to DFAT; do

        32       you see that?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   As I indicated earlier, what I want to explore with

        36       you in my questions this morning is what happens or what

        37       follows when a report or reports are distributed to DFAT,

        38       as is recorded in that document; do you follow?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   I want to just take this step by step, if you wouldn't

        42       mind.  May we take it that the first thing that happens

        43       when a report from the Australian Intelligence Community is

        44       distributed to DFAT is that it's received in a secure

        45       location within DFAT; that is, a location where there are

        46       controls and limitations on who may enter it - is that

        47       right?
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         1       A.   The way that material is received from the Australian

         2       Intelligence Community varies according to each agency -

         3       there are six agencies that provide material of different

         4       sorts - and the type of product it is.  Generally it's

         5       correct that it's received through a section which is part

         6       of my division.

         7

         8       Q.   We are just focusing for the moment, in terms of the

         9       type of the report, on reports that have high - that is,

        10       secret - security classification, such as each of the

        11       documents, as we understand it, in secret exhibit 4; do you

        12       understand?

        13       A.   Most of them have a higher classification, which is --

        14

        15       Q.   So my questions are focusing on reports with a high or

        16       very high classification; right?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   You've indicated that they are received in your

        20       section of DFAT.  That's the intelligence policy and

        21       liaison service, or the IPL, is that right?

        22       A.   Yes, that's part of my division, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You made reference to the fact that the way it is

        25       received depends on the particular agency involved.  One of

        26       the differences that may occur is whether it is received

        27       either in hard copy form or electronically; is that right?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Some agencies, at least during the relevant period,

        31       distributed the reports electronically; some provided hard

        32       copies to DFAT - is that right?

        33       A.   Yes, and in at least one case the way they provide it

        34       changed in the course of the period.

        35

        36       Q.   Is it possible to elaborate on that without treading

        37       in difficult areas?

        38       A.   A little bit.  As I said, most of the material in

        39       those documents is above secret level.  It's top secret

        40       code word.  That material was received electronically on a

        41       discrete system which is not available in the department

        42       outside of this particular specially protected area.  It

        43       was printed out to a narrow distribution list and then

        44       supplied, along with other material, in closed bags to the

        45       people intended to receive it.

        46

        47            It was in those bags material from a couple of
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         1       sources, some of which would have been provided in hard

         2       copy to that intelligence policy liaison section, IPL, and

         3       they would have accumulated anywhere between five and

         4       20 documents, usually in a daily take that we put in a bag,

         5       secured, taken to the office of the recipient, where they

         6       would hold it until they'd finished with it, or at least

         7       for a brief period, and then return it.  Either the staff

         8       of that section would come and get it and return it, or

         9       they would return it through a special arrangement directly

        10       to that room.

        11

        12       Q.   I think, Mr Stuart, you leapt ahead of my question a

        13       bit there.  I was trying to take it stage by stage.  At

        14       this stage we've simply had it - that is, the report -

        15       being received in one way shape or form by your particular

        16       section of DFAT; okay?

        17       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        18

        19       Q.   The second step I think you've just referred to or

        20       adverted in that answer you just gave was that the IPL -

        21       that's your section - arranges for the distribution of the

        22       particular report or reports to particular officers within

        23       DFAT; is that right?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   As we understand it, the internal DFAT distribution

        27       list may be arrived at in two ways, and I'll mention those

        28       two ways:  they are, firstly, that a list of names or

        29       positions within DFAT to whom the report should be

        30       distributed is put together by the particular intelligence

        31       agency.  Is that one way that the list is compiled?

        32       A.   Some material is received with a list of names it's to

        33       go to, yes, that's generally true for extremely sensitive

        34       material.

        35

        36       Q.   So the list of names is compiled by the intelligence

        37       agency and accompanies the report when it's received by

        38       DFAT?

        39       A.   Yes, in some cases.

        40

        41       Q.   And in other cases is the distribution - that is, the

        42       internal DFAT distribution list - put together by your

        43       section; that's IPL?

        44       A.   It's never quite as simple as that.  There's usually

        45       at least some indication.  One of the agencies - quite a

        46       number of bits of material from this agency is available -

        47       would include some topic profiles as part of the document.
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         1       These would be general headings, so "Middle East", of that

         2       level of generality, and, through a process of liaison with

         3       users, it would be established which position should get

         4       that piece of material.

         5

         6       Q.   Right.  So your particular section, the IPL, having

         7       regard to particular topics or the subject matter of the

         8       reports, can decide or determine what positions within DFAT

         9       should receive the report, or the persons occupying those

        10       positions?

        11       A.   No, I just qualified your last question to make it

        12       clear.  There may be some discretion in some limited cases.

        13       So there's quite a lot of different types of material.

        14       It's very difficult, and one reason my statement is long is

        15       it's very difficult to generalise about just how things are

        16       handled.  Now, there is some ability of the registry staff

        17       in that section to make decisions in some cases about who

        18       would get it.  For one particular line, the majority of

        19       those 15 documents, the distribution was decided by using

        20       profiles and a discussion between the originating agency

        21       and the limited number of users about what material they

        22       would receive.

        23

        24            Now, for the other agencies - I'm conscious here I may

        25       get ahead of your questions; I don't want to be

        26       pre-emptive - providing material, that material is provided

        27       only in hard copy up until the middle of 2002.  Some

        28       material from that agency became available on our secret

        29       level system to officers electronically - in other words,

        30       not passed through the IPL section - near the end, the

        31       second half of 2002.

        32

        33       Q.   I see.

        34       A.   So you can see why I don't want to leap into just

        35       giving you a generalised answer, it might be inaccurate.

        36

        37       Q.   Can we just focus for the moment, then, on the reports

        38       where reports are accompanied by a distribution list,

        39       internal DFAT distribution list, that is compiled by the

        40       originating agencies.  Now, is it the situation - I think

        41       you may have adverted to this in one of your earlier

        42       answers - that that particular list is arrived at as a

        43       result of some dialogue and liaison between the particular

        44       security agency, IPL - that's your section - and individual

        45       officers within DFAT; is that right?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   If you go to paragraph 28 of your statutory

         2       declaration, you say this - this is at 0671:

         3

         4            One mechanism for the dialogue is through

         5            the feedback process on intelligence

         6            product --

         7

         8       and these are the words I wish to emphasise:

         9

        10            If a DFAT recipient finds an existing line

        11            of reporting useful and would like to

        12            receive more reporting on that issue, he or

        13            she can fill in a feedback report which IPL

        14            sends to the relevant agency.

        15

        16       Do you see that?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Is that an example of the sort of dialogue and liaison

        20       that may occur between the intelligence agency concerned

        21       and IPL and the individual DFAT officers?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   If there could be brought up on the screen, please,

        25       exhibit 645 firstly - that's GOV.0003.0041.  I'll provide

        26       Mr Stuart with some hard copies of those, just to assist.

        27       That's exhibit 645.  If you'd just take a moment to look at

        28       that.  Then if you could have a look also at exhibit 646.

        29       That's at GOV.0003.0042.  Just take a moment to look at

        30       that, please.  Firstly, have you seen either of those

        31       documents before today, other than perhaps in preparation

        32       for your evidence in these proceedings?

        33       A.   Only in the latter case.

        34

        35       Q.   Are these two exhibits examples of the sort of

        36       dialogue and feedback process to which you've just referred

        37       in your evidence?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   That is, it's individual officers of DFAT indicating

        41       the types of topics or types of reports they would find

        42       useful to receive in the course of their duties; is that

        43       right?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Thank you.  Those exhibits might be returned.  So far,

        47       Mr Stuart, I think we're up to stage 3 or 4.  The reports
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         1       have been received by DFAT, internal distribution lists

         2       have either been received from the agency, or with some

         3       input from your section.  Can I turn now to the actual

         4       distribution of the reports, and I think you've also

         5       adverted to this in your evidence so far.  Is it the

         6       position that a hard copy of the relevant report is

         7       distributed to the individual officers on the internal

         8       distribution list by way of a locked bag that is taken

         9       around to those officers by a designated IPL officer?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And does the officer receive the bag and he or she -

        13       that is, the specific DFAT officer - is left with the bag

        14       containing the report or reports?

        15       A.   The recipient, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   If they choose to open the bag and read the reports,

        18       they may do so, but they are not in any sense compelled to

        19       do so; is that right?

        20       A.   That's right.

        21

        22       Q.   And there is, as I understand it, no record kept of

        23       whether individual officers who are on the distribution

        24       list and therefore receive the locked bag in fact read the

        25       reports within it; is that right?

        26       A.   That's right.  We can't tell whether they've read it

        27       or not, yes, that's correct.

        28

        29       Q.   The individual officers who receive the locked bag are

        30       meant to read the reports, if they choose to do so, in a

        31       locked or lockable room with some protection from

        32       oversight - that is, there are security --

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   They're not permitted to photocopy the reports?

        36       A.   Absolutely not.

        37

        38       Q.   They're not permitted to show anyone else, even fellow

        39       DFAT officers; is that right?

        40       A.   No, that's not correct.  They can, if it fits the need

        41       to know principle - in other words, if it's essential for

        42       another officer to see it - have that officer come and read

        43       it in the same controlled circumstances which they have,

        44       but that officer has to have appropriate clearances.

        45

        46       Q.   Do they have to clear that process - that is, showing

        47       it to another officer - through your section.  That is, do
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         1       they have to consult your section before they take that

         2       step?

         3       A.   They would consult if they weren't clear about another

         4       officer's clearances or the circumstances, but if they are

         5       already aware of those things and they know they're doing

         6       it correctly, they wouldn't need to consult, no.

         7

         8       Q.   Thank you.  You've indicated that they're not - that

         9       is, the officer - permitted to photocopy the report.  Are

        10       they permitted to make any other record of the report - for

        11       example, writing out the contents or --

        12       A.   No.  No, you can't summarise or take notes from

        13       material of that sort.  You can't file it.  You can keep a

        14       record of the reference number.

        15

        16       Q.   I think it follows from all of this that they're not -

        17       that is, the officers - permitted to keep any sort of copy

        18       or record of the report on the files in their particular

        19       section; is that right?

        20       A.   No, absolutely not.  Just to clarify this, the more

        21       sensitive material, so above secret, top secret and

        22       codeword material, the operating environment in the

        23       department outside of this special room doesn't allow - it

        24       only operates up to secret level, it doesn't allow for

        25       files to be kept above that level.  It doesn't allow for

        26       work to be done or word processing to be done above that

        27       level.  So any such material that was held once a user had

        28       finished with the bagged material, if it were to be held,

        29       it would be held inside this IPL special area.

        30

        31       Q.   I was just going to come to that.  What happens is,

        32       once the officer either doesn't read the material, puts it

        33       back in the locked bag, or chooses to read the material and

        34       puts it back in the locked bag, they then return it to the

        35       designated IPL officer, who takes the bag around to the

        36       various officers; is that right?

        37       A.   That's one way.  There is - you can physically take

        38       the bag and put it in a particular area that will return it

        39       safely to the inside area.

        40

        41       Q.   In any event, it then goes along to the next person on

        42       the distribution list, who then goes through the same

        43       process; is that right?

        44       A.   It's not passed by one officer to another officer;

        45       it's passed through IPL.

        46

        47       Q.   Yes.  But the point is that there's only one copy of
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         1       the report, it goes to each successive officer on the

         2       distribution list; is that right?

         3       A.   Again, we run into a problem of generalising.  That

         4       would certainly - that would be true for the very most

         5       sensitive material.  Some of the material in the

         6       15 documents at a secret level, we may have been given more

         7       than one copy of that by the originating agency, but not

         8       very many more.  I think in one case we received four

         9       copies, but the basic principle that governs all of this is

        10       very strict application of a need to know principle, a

        11       degree of risk management, so the most highly sensitive

        12       material is guarded with the greatest rigour.  So in the

        13       case of most of the material we're talking about today,

        14       yes, a copy would have gone back and been then sent to - if

        15       there was another person on the list, sent to that person.

        16       In the case of some other material, people may have got it,

        17       if you like, simultaneously, but again amongst a very

        18       limited distribution.

        19

        20       Q.   Whether there be one copy or more than one copy to

        21       which you've just referred, in due course, once it has been

        22       to each person on the internal DFAT distribution list, the

        23       copy or copies are returned to your section and either

        24       destroyed or, in very few cases, kept within your section;

        25       is that right?

        26       A.   Well, they're destroyed or sent back to the

        27       originating agency.  None of the material in question here

        28       today has been retained.  Certainly our searches suggest

        29       none has been retained.  Material of this type it would be

        30       most unusual - there'd have to be some exceptional reason

        31       for it to have been retained.

        32

        33       Q.   Is this the position in relation to each of the

        34       15 items in secret exhibit 4, that DFAT has no records of

        35       the list of DFAT officers - that is, the internal

        36       distribution list - to whom the particular reports in the

        37       secret exhibit were distributed?

        38       A.   Not quite.  For the majority of the material from one

        39       agency, yes, it is true that we don't have a record;

        40       records were kept by the originating agency and only up to

        41       I think about 2005, and there's now a different system

        42       which has superseded that.

        43

        44            For the material from the other agency, up until

        45       around the middle of 2002, when it was received in hard

        46       copy, records were kept through a receipting system of what

        47       had been received in hard copy from that agency.  Those
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         1       receipts were held for usually around five years.  We do

         2       have receipts for a couple of pieces of the submitted

         3       material.  The material from that source from after the

         4       second half of 2002 was sent through an electronic system.

         5       We don't have records of who received it.  The originating

         6       agency has some - is able through electronic auditing to

         7       establish who opened those documents.

         8

         9       Q.   I may have asked you an imprecise question.  I'm

        10       referring specifically to the 15 items in secret exhibit 4.

        11       You've referred to in some cases from one agency hard copy

        12       receipts being retained by DFAT.  Is it the situation that

        13       there are no hard copy receipts for any of these reports in

        14       secret exhibit 4 in existence today; that is, they've been

        15       destroyed or otherwise disposed of?

        16       A.   For the material that was received in IPL in hard

        17       copy, as opposed to the material received in IPL

        18       electronically and then printed out for distribution - so

        19       in the category of material that was received in hard copy

        20       from the originating agency and then distributed, for which

        21       there are only, I think, a couple of documents, there were

        22       receipts kept of the - you know, having obtained that

        23       material, having had that material passed to us by that

        24       agency.

        25

        26       Q.   I see.  But no record of the names of the individual

        27       officers within DFAT who received the reports?

        28       A.   Yes, there are two such receipts I've seen.  One of

        29       them has a record of the two officers in the department who

        30       received that document.

        31

        32       Q.   Thank you.  You referred to the fact that some

        33       agencies kept distribution lists for a period of time, be

        34       it electronically or in hard-copy form; is that right?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Is it your understanding that, from your liaison with

        38       those agencies, they now no longer have any records in

        39       relation to these 15 documents of the internal DFAT

        40       distribution?

        41       A.   From the first agency that provided the majority of

        42       the material there is not any record, as far as I

        43       understand it.  The records were kept by the originating

        44       agency.  They were sent to us electronically, okay?  For

        45       the second category of material, they have a record of what

        46       was sent to us in hard copy and then after 2002, when

        47       material up to secret was available on an electronic
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         1       distribution system, they have the ability to recover or to

         2       create a record through an electronic audit; in other

         3       words, to detect who actually opened on their system this

         4       material.  That is a record held by that agency.  So the

         5       only records held by DFAT in this area go to the hard copy

         6       material, a couple of items, I think, where receipts were

         7       kept by staff in the IPL section.  Those receipts show on

         8       one occasion two officers of the department receiving a

         9       certain document and, on the other occasion, they don't

        10       indicate who received it.

        11

        12       Q.   My question was directed at your knowledge from the

        13       inquiries that you made with the intelligence agencies

        14       involved in relation to these 15 documents.  Do you

        15       understand whether or not they have records of the

        16       individual internal DFAT distribution?

        17       A.   Well, I thought I had answered that question,

        18       Mr Wigney.  In the case of the first agency, the majority

        19       of the material, no, they don't, as far as I know.  In the

        20       case of the second agency, to my knowledge, they can

        21       establish who opened the documents once they were provided

        22       electronically after the middle of the second half of 2002,

        23       so they have a record in effect by the ability to detect

        24       who had opened a document available on a computer screen.

        25       Does that answer your question?

        26

        27       Q.   I think so.  I'm sorry, I had difficulty hearing your

        28       previous answer, and it was a lengthy one.  I think

        29       implicit in some of the responses that you have just given

        30       is that the record keeping of both DFAT and the relevant

        31       intelligence agencies in relation to internal distribution

        32       of such reports has improved somewhat in more recent years?

        33       A.   As a result of both the Blick Inquiry and the

        34       Flood Inquiry there is more rigour now in recording -

        35       allowing us to track the circulation and destruction of

        36       material, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   I just want to pick up on a couple of miscellaneous

        39       matters in your statement finally.  If you would go to

        40       paragraph number 6 of your statement, 0664 is the page, you

        41       state there, "Raw intelligence may be accompanied by

        42       comments from the originating agency that go to its

        43       accuracy or reliability but usually contains no such

        44       qualifications".  My question to you is this:  is it the

        45       position that, in the case of some raw or unassessed

        46       reports, they contain information about the source of the

        47       relevant intelligence?
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         1       A.   Yes, some do.

         2

         3       Q.   To give but one example, where a particular

         4       conversation has been intercepted, the intelligence may

         5       contain the names of the parties to that conversation?

         6       A.   Sometimes.

         7

         8       Q.   The reports may contain comments about the reliability

         9       of the source of the particular intelligence?

        10       A.   Yes, although that was rather distinctly lacking from

        11       the material that we're drawing from today.

        12

        13       Q.   Even if there is no explicit comment about reliability

        14       in the particular report, the report may contain

        15       information sufficient to allow a reader with some

        16       familiarity with intelligence to form judgments about the

        17       reliability of the report; correct?

        18       A.   It depends very much on the information, the type of

        19       intelligence it is, exactly which organisation has produced

        20       it, the time it was produced.  The way these things are

        21       done evolves and changes.

        22

        23       Q.   It depends also on the experience of the particular

        24       officer or receiver of the report; right?

        25       A.   Yes, certainly to read this sort of material without

        26       being familiar with the pitfalls of dealing with raw

        27       intelligence, or unassessed intelligence, you can easily be

        28       misled or think it's more dramatic than in fact it is.

        29       It's very important that it be looked at in a broader

        30       context and against broader sources of information.

        31

        32       Q.   But, putting aside your more recent role in the IPL

        33       section, you were an experienced user or reader of

        34       intelligence material, were you not?

        35       A.   I am, yes.

        36

        37       Q.   And you were able to form judgments about the

        38       reliability of particular raw or unassessed intelligence,

        39       weren't you?

        40       A.   I am, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Similarly, there are other senior officers of DFAT who

        43       are experienced readers and users of unassessed or raw

        44       intelligence, aren't there?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Can I just deal briefly with an issue in relation to
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         1       paragraph 5 of your statement, where you refer to

         2       intelligence assessments carried out by assessment

         3       agencies, such as ONA, the Office of National Assessments;

         4       right?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Is it the position that not all topics or areas of

         8       concern that may be covered by unassessed intelligence are

         9       covered by assessment reports by the ONA or other

        10       assessment agencies?

        11       A.   Sorry, can you clarify what you're asking there,

        12       please?

        13

        14       Q.   Sorry, is it the position that not all topics or areas

        15       that may be covered by unassessed intelligence - not all

        16       such topics are covered by assessed reports by ONA or other

        17       assessment agencies?

        18       A.   Well, yes, there's a huge amount of material available

        19       in our assessed reports and the analysed assessed forms

        20       are, yes, by nature fewer in number, yes.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It's reported as "in our assessed

        23       reports"; did you say "in unassessed reports"?  I thought

        24       your answer was:

        25

        26            Well, yes, there's a huge amount of

        27            material available in unassessed reports

        28            and the analysed assessed forms are, yes,

        29            by nature fewer in number, yes.

        30

        31       Is that right?

        32       A.   The analysed reports are fewer in number and deal with

        33       topics, if you like, at a broader level of generality.

        34

        35       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   My point, Mr Stuart, is simply this:  it

        36       may be that in certain areas, particular topics that are

        37       not covered by assessed intelligence, the only intelligence

        38       available to DFAT officers is in the form of raw or

        39       unassessed intelligence; is that right?

        40       A.   There's a presumption - an assumption in your question

        41       which suggests that you don't have an accurate view of how

        42       intelligence issues --

        43

        44       Q.   What is that assumption?  You're probably right.

        45       A.   Your assumption is that officers will expect to

        46       receive the full range of intelligence on any topic they

        47       may be interested in at any one time.  That doesn't happen,
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         1       for a number of reasons.  First of all, I did try to

         2       explain this very carefully in my statement, because you

         3       would have to understand the working environment of the

         4       department and the division of labour that exists in the

         5       government.  You've seen the numbers, the volume of

         6       material received, I think, Mr Wigney, that there are every

         7       week up to a couple of thousand raw intelligence assessment

         8       reports received in the department.  It's necessary to

         9       filter and try to ensure that officers get what they are

        10       currently interested in.  They couldn't conceivably spend

        11       all their time going through this material.  They have a

        12       very large number of other core tasks to fulfil.  They have

        13       to make decisions about how much information, which will

        14       inform those tasks.

        15

        16            There are other parts of the government which are

        17       dedicated to looking at material in greater detail.  It is

        18       one of the important functions of assessment agencies to

        19       have people who are dedicated to particular topics

        20       examining all the material, including the sensitive

        21       material, putting it in context and providing analysis,

        22       assessments for the use not only of the government but of

        23       government departments, including DFAT.  So your assumption

        24       in your question was that somehow or other an officer not

        25       finding what they were looking for in an assessment might

        26       then go looking in the pool of unassessed material.  I

        27       don't think it works that way.  For a start, the

        28       distribution of unassessed material is, by its nature, very

        29       limited, based on not what the officer goes to access so

        30       much as what decision is made by others on who needs to

        31       know what.

        32

        33            Secondly, officers, those who are recipients of

        34       material - that only applies to a limited range of

        35       officers, essentially at the level of director or above,

        36       and as I explained in my statement large amounts of

        37       material are not usually forwarded to the senior executive

        38       of the department, so there's a narrow band of officers and

        39       in that band, officers learn to read very selectively for

        40       what is current and of obvious interest to what they're

        41       working on at any one time.  So the assumption that because

        42       you didn't - an officer didn't find something in an

        43       assessment, that they would go looking for it in the field

        44       of unassessed material, that is unusual.

        45

        46       Q.   I see.  I'm not entirely sure that my question did

        47       have that assumption.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I don't think it did.

         3

         4       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   My question was simply directed at this

         5       proposition, that in some areas unassessed intelligence

         6       will be the only intelligence in relation to that area.  Is

         7       that correct or incorrect?

         8       A.   A particular bit of information that the only way it

         9       could - yes, that could happen.

        10

        11       Q.   I think in the lengthy answer that you just gave

        12       before you referred to the amount of material.  You deal

        13       with that I think in the third dot point of paragraph 9 in

        14       your statement, where you state:

        15

        16            the considerable volume of raw intelligence

        17            reports received (on average, in the period

        18            2001-02 running to well over a thousand

        19            items, many multiple pages in length, every

        20            week)...

        21

        22       Do you see that?  That covers unassessed or raw

        23       intelligence over all fields and at particular areas,

        24       topics; is that right?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   To give but one example, the quantity of unassessed or

        28       raw intelligence reports relating to, for example, Iraq,

        29       would be considerably less, would it not?

        30       A.   For that period it would have been one of the major

        31       topics amongst that material.

        32

        33       Q.   I think also in that lengthy answer you just gave you

        34       referred to distribution to senior officers, I think you

        35       said of director level.  That would of course include the

        36       director of the Middle East section and the assistant

        37       secretary of the Middle East and Africa Branch in relation

        38       to intelligence relating to Iraq if they were on the

        39       relevant distribution list; is that right?

        40       A.   It could.  It depends again on the material, and it's

        41       dangerous to generalise.  Very, very sensitive material, so

        42       above secret level, might only go to one of those officers.

        43       So this is assuming that it's on something to do with Iraq,

        44       it might only go to the director of the Middle East

        45       section.  It's also possible, because officers, as I say,

        46       are having to balance how much time they spend developing

        47       their information base with the time they have to do the
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         1       core tasks informed by that base, that there often develops

         2       an informal division of labour and the branch head might

         3       say to the director, "I'm going to let you read all these

         4       things and if there's something perhaps that you feel I

         5       need to know, tell me".  There are arrangements made like

         6       that.  So it isn't possible to generalise and say it would

         7       be seen by both of them.

         8

         9       Q.   You appreciate that my questions are directed at

        10       generality, because once one delves into the specifics, we

        11       delve into the details and content of these particular

        12       reports; you understand that?

        13       A.   No, I understand that.

        14

        15       MR WIGNEY:   Those are my questions.

        16

        17       <EXAMINATION BY MR ROBERTSON:

        18

        19       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Mr Stuart, can I ask you to look

        20       briefly at paragraph 2 of your statutory declaration, which

        21       is exhibit 757.  You refer there to your experience in

        22       relation to intelligence material and using intelligence

        23       material.  My question is do you have any role in training

        24       officers of the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade in

        25       relation to the use by them of intelligence material?

        26       A.   Yes.  The IPL section is responsible for the induction

        27       of users.  It's an initial introduction when they have a

        28       clearance and first start obtaining the material or obtain

        29       a higher clearance of further material.  Also, that part of

        30       my division organises regular training for senior level

        31       officers of the department in intelligence and the role of

        32       intelligence agencies in the material the department

        33       receives and how it's handled and, indeed, on its use.

        34

        35       Q.   Thank you.  Do you have with you exhibit 584, which is

        36       the distillation of secret exhibit 4?

        37       A.   I have seen it.

        38

        39       Q.   It's GOV.0002.0066, if it could be brought up on the

        40       screen, please.  You're familiar with that document,

        41       Mr Stuart?

        42       A.   I've seen it for the purposes of this inquiry.

        43

        44       Q.   Is that a form in which unassessed intelligence is

        45       provided to officers of DFAT, in your experience?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   Would you tell the Commission, and without any

         2       reference to the contents of the particular intelligence

         3       material, you understand, what are the differences between

         4       the form of the material in exhibit 584 and the form in

         5       which unassessed intelligence is received by officers of

         6       the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

         7       A.   Well, first of all, it's never presented in --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think I understand that,

        10       Mr Robertson.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   -- but it isn't representative of, I

        13       mentioned already, the volume of material from which one

        14       might distil things as specific as are listed there.  It

        15       gives no sense of what place, if you like, the specific

        16       bits of information had within the documents they were

        17       located in and, being unable to say anything about the

        18       context, you don't have a sense of the normal tools you

        19       would like, you would bring, if you like, to making a

        20       judgment about accuracy or reliability.

        21

        22            I mentioned before a professional analyst,

        23       intelligence analyst, or experienced user learns, or indeed

        24       is taught, about certain pitfalls.  It isn't possible to

        25       tell from that list about a number of those.  Typically if

        26       you're very careful, of course, with information that comes

        27       second- or third-hand, it's very important to know

        28       something about the sources.  If it's a person with a

        29       history of reliability, a lot of information is provided

        30       tendentiously, so you need to know something of context to

        31       make judgments about that.  There are problems, for

        32       example, if material comes from a translated source,

        33       usually there are just errors made in translation.  There

        34       are also problems when the same piece of information gets

        35       rerecorded in different documents, it's paraphrased and, to

        36       the untrained eye, it might seem like that's confirmation,

        37       whereas in fact it's simply sort of a circular reporting.

        38       So they're all some of the difficulties.  Information

        39       received in unassessed reports - it doesn't ever take that

        40       form or lend itself to that type of summary.

        41

        42       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Mr Stuart.  Thank you,

        43       Commissioner.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Carter, you wanted to

        46       cross-examine about paragraphs 26 and 28, I think?

        47
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         1       MR CARTER:   It's a little bit broader than that, sir.

         2       You're referring to the letter?

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm referring to your letter.

         5       Paragraphs 30 and 35 are not pressed, they're not part of

         6       the material before the Commission.

         7

         8       MR CARTER:   Well, in relation to that, sir, it would be my

         9       submission, in light of the submission Mr Robertson made,

        10       that it is appropriate, whether they're formally tendered

        11       or not, that questioning be permitted on the contents of

        12       those paragraphs.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I won't allow questions on that.

        15

        16       MR CARTER:   Well, sir, it was really only --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   I won't allow it, Mr Carter.

        19

        20       MR CARTER:   Can I be heard on that, sir?

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I've rejected it.  It's not part of

        23       the material before the Commission.

        24

        25       MR CARTER:   They were the only paragraphs in the statement

        26       dealing with the documents actually produced.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've made my ruling, Mr Carter.

        29

        30       MR CARTER:   If the Commission pleases.

        31

        32       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

        33

        34       MR CARTER:   Q.   You've held your current position since

        35       January of 2004?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   And before that what was the position that you held?

        39       A.   I was head of the strategic branch in the same

        40       division, International Security Division.

        41

        42       Q.   I just wanted to ask you very briefly, if I may, you

        43       mentioned at one point in your evidence the recommendations

        44       of the Flood Report.  That was a report set up in March of

        45       2004 to investigate Australia's intelligence agencies?

        46       A.   That's correct.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the purpose of this, Mr Carter?

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   Well, if you'll allow me just a couple of

         4       questions --

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, what's the purpose of my looking at

         7       the Flood Report or you asking questions about the Flood

         8       Report?

         9

        10       MR CARTER:   The Flood Report, as you will be aware,

        11       Mr Commissioner, is in evidence in the statutory

        12       declaration of Mr Hammer.  The Flood Report investigated

        13       the function and the role of the Australian intelligence

        14       agencies with respect to pre-war Iraq intelligence.  That's

        15       the subject matter of these questions, which are designed

        16       to test the explanation provided that really, in essence,

        17       as unassessed material it's legitimate, feasible, that it

        18       was never assessed, et cetera.  There are recommendations

        19       in the Flood Report, which was a report set up by the

        20       Prime Minister once it had been suggested that Australian

        21       intelligence pre-war in Iraq had failed.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I won't allow questions on that.

        24       It's not the function of this inquiry to inquire whether or

        25       not any recommendations of the Flood inquiry have been

        26       implemented.

        27

        28       MR CARTER:   The witness gave evidence of it, sir.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter, please go on.

        31

        32       MR CARTER:   If the Commission pleases.

        33

        34       Q.   I want to ask you some questions about the distinction

        35       between raw or unassessed intelligence and assessed

        36       intelligence.  It's the decision of the Office of National

        37       Assessments, rather than DFAT employees, that an unassessed

        38       intelligence assessment remain unassessed; is that correct?

        39       A.   The choice of topics for assessed reports is made by

        40       the assessment agencies.  There is some input from clients,

        41       like DFAT, into what are the priorities, but the choice of

        42       topics is made by the agencies.

        43

        44       Q.   Perhaps we can just deal with this by way of example,

        45       if we could bring up the public exhibit 641, which is the

        46       distillation and distribution of secret exhibit 4.  Do you

        47       have a hard copy of that, sir?
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         1       A.   I don't, but it's in front of me on the screen.

         2

         3       Q.   Perhaps if we just scroll down to paragraph 2, for

         4       example.  Would you take a moment to read that to yourself?

         5       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         6

         7       Q.   My question is, once that's distributed to DFAT, does

         8       the DFAT employee have the capacity to request the

         9       distributing agency to assess the unassessed report?  You

        10       understand my question?

        11       A.   You're assuming that whatever number of people,

        12       probably no more than a handful, possibly one or two, who

        13       this has come to their attention have this in front of them

        14       and then saying can they then ask for an assessed report,

        15       because that assumption - I think in the first place it

        16       isn't clear that, just going on that, that that would have

        17       been, if you like - would have registered.  If it had,

        18       would they ask for an assessment, could they ask for an

        19       assessment?  We could, through a mechanism at a monthly

        20       meeting, say we would like more attention in this area.

        21

        22       Q.   All right.

        23       A.   We can't dictate that there be an assessment made.

        24       It's a collective decision.  We could have an influence,

        25       but there's an assumption in your question which I think,

        26       as I was explaining before, you're assuming that - I mean,

        27       held unassessed intelligence.  Well, in what form?  Was it

        28       something that had come to people's attention, or was it

        29       simply something buried and, you know, well back, you know

        30       a multi-page document which people probably hadn't read

        31       because there was nothing in the title or the introduction

        32       to the document to suggest it was of any relevance.

        33

        34       Q.   Mr Stuart, my question was simply whether DFAT

        35       employees had the capacity to request the distributing

        36       agency to assess the unassessed report, and I take it the

        37       answer is yes, they did have that capacity if they chose

        38       to?

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, the answer is no.

        41

        42       THE WITNESS:   No, in fact --

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   The answer he gave was that they could

        45       make recommendations or suggestions at a monthly meeting,

        46       as I understood it, and there'd be some input from other

        47       people, and at the end of the day the assessment agency
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         1       would be the person who'd decide if they'd make an

         2       assessment of it or not.

         3

         4       MR CARTER:   Well, I accept that, sir.   I didn't mean they

         5       could dictate that it happen; I simply meant that they

         6       could ask for something to happen.

         7

         8       THE WITNESS:   Just to clarify, the user, the reader of the

         9       material would go to the relevant part of the department,

        10       which is the IPL section, and say, "When you next go to

        11       this meeting, I'd be grateful if you could raise this."

        12

        13       MR CARTER:   Q.   Did that ever happen, to your knowledge,

        14       in respect of any of the 15 documents distilled in the

        15       exhibit that's in front of you?   In other words, put

        16       simply, sir, my question is did DFAT ever do anything about

        17       any of these assessments?

        18       A.   Not to my knowledge, no.

        19

        20       Q.   You've given --

        21       A.   You're referring here to the information in this

        22       second paragraph.

        23

        24       Q.   That was the question.  I'm now asking more broadly,

        25       can you assist the Commission, sir - the distillation

        26       indicates that each of the unassessed intelligence reports

        27       was distributed to DFAT; do you understand that?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   My question is have you made inquiries, are you aware

        31       of whether DFAT ever did anything in response to receiving

        32       these reports?

        33       A.   Well, we've done thorough file searches of these

        34       areas, so if we haven't taken action on those particular

        35       areas, we would have expected to have found a record of it.

        36       Now, at the level of the specificity of a particular

        37       paragraph, I can tell you that not to my knowledge, but if

        38       I look at the whole thing again - well, I don't want to go

        39       away and look at the whole document and recheck, because if

        40       you get into general areas, there would have been

        41       discussion of what targets, what areas we would have liked

        42       to see assessments on for Iraq.  More generally some of

        43       these might capture elements of this without it being as

        44       specific as what the situation was at the first quarter of

        45       2000.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, sir, I don't want you to rush your answer.  My
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         1       question is, as I understand it, you're the person within

         2       DFAT who has responsibility for coordinating, liaising with

         3       the intelligence agencies; is that correct?

         4       A.   I'm responsible for that function, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   My question is did, to your knowledge, DFAT act on, do

         7       anything, in response to the matters distilled at

         8       paragraphs 1 to 8 of the document in front of you.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   So far as obtaining an assessed --

        11

        12       MR CARTER:   Insofar as doing anything, sir - making

        13       submissions to policy officers, submissions to ministers

        14       requesting assessed intelligence.  As I understand the

        15       evidence - I'm happy to be corrected if I'm wrong - thus

        16       far in the very many statements that have been provided all

        17       we've got is that the documents were distributed to DFAT.

        18       The line of questioning is directed towards what happened

        19       with them, that's all.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I think you know what happened to

        22       them, they were distributed to people who either read them

        23       or didn't read them.

        24

        25       MR CARTER:   Well, it's no doubt funny to some.  Some

        26       people will want --

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think that's an accurate summation of

        29       the evidence to date.

        30

        31       MR CARTER:   Well, I accept that, sir.

        32

        33       Q.   In terms of what the Commissioner has just said, you

        34       gave evidence that you were aware I think in relation to

        35       two pieces of information of records about who the reports

        36       went to; is that correct?

        37       A.   One of the submitted documents, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   One.  Now, are you able to identify which that is by

        40       reference to the distillation, the public document in front

        41       of you?

        42       A.   I can only do it by reference to something that's in

        43       the secret attachment, so - I'm also disadvantaged that I

        44       haven't worked out yet how to scroll up on the system

        45       myself.  Somebody kindly does it for me.  It may be more

        46       useful if I had a hard copy in front of me.

        47
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         1       Q.   You understand, Mr Stuart, that we're not permitted to

         2       see the 15 documents.  I can only ask you questions by

         3       reference to this document.

         4       A.   I don't think I can identify the document by reference

         5       to the distillation.

         6

         7       Q.   Have you had a look through it?

         8       A.   Enough to remind myself, but it's just to do with the

         9       way it's put together, I can't do that.

        10

        11       Q.   What was the topic?  What was the --

        12       A.   Sorry, I'm starting to get into levels of specifics

        13       about the documents in the secret exhibit, which I don't

        14       feel I should.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        17

        18       MR CARTER:   Q.   Leaving aside the contents of the

        19       document, then, can you date it?

        20       A.   I can say it was before July 2002.  That's all I can

        21       say.

        22

        23       Q.   You're aware, obviously, that one of the most

        24       important means of communication of information within

        25       DFAT - for that matter, other government departments - is

        26       the transmission of cables, including from overseas?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   I want to ask you whether there's any mechanism in

        30       place for an officer receiving a cable - I'll deal with

        31       this by way of example, if I can - there's a cable in

        32       evidence dated 13 January 2000 that was sent from Bronte

        33       Moules in New York to a large number of people within DFAT.

        34       Is there any mechanism whereby a recipient of a cable

        35       containing, as it did, an allegation that the Australian

        36       Wheat Board may have been receiving payment for wheat

        37       supplies under the Oil-for-Food Program, and it is

        38       conveying information about the payment of $14 a tonne to a

        39       company owned by the son of Saddam Hussein - is there any

        40       capacity for any or all of the receiving officers of that

        41       cable to say, "Well, look, hang on, what intelligence does

        42       our government hold on this topic?  What do we already know

        43       about this?"

        44       A.   There's the capacity, as I said in an earlier answer,

        45       to - well, there's different levels to answer your

        46       question, but there's the capacity, as I said in an earlier

        47       answer, to seek to influence through the coordination



            .10/4/06 (63)              6391     D G STUART (Mr Carter)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       mechanisms for seeking assessment topics what analysis

         2       might be done.  I don't know what type of search engines or

         3       tools with that effect existed in the agencies holding

         4       unassessed material at that point.  I have a fair idea of

         5       what they have now, but I don't know what capacity they had

         6       five, six years ago.

         7

         8       Q.   Well, that's talking about search engines, and so on;

         9       I'm just taking a hypothetical of one being a recipient of

        10       this particular cable.  Was there not the capacity to get

        11       on the telephone and make inquiries of someone as to what

        12       was held, if anything, that bore on the subject matter?

        13       A.   Well, you've seen Mr Wigney was asking me before about

        14       the feedback process between a user and one of the agencies

        15       providing unassessed material.  That mechanism existed.  I

        16       guess I might be getting ahead of your question.  I'm

        17       saying that if the agencies didn't have the capacity to run

        18       powerful searches and they held very, very large amounts of

        19       material, I think generally what I could say is the

        20       department would work at the level of going to the

        21       assessment agencies and saying - going to these

        22       coordinating bodies and saying, "It would be useful for us

        23       if you could put more focus on this area".  For us to ask -

        24       you see, the other thing about - there are restrictions on

        25       what the collection agencies can do in terms of any

        26       Australian entity.  They're not to collect on Australian

        27       entities and there is a provision in the Intelligence Act

        28       also that it's very exceptional.

        29

        30       Q.   I understand that.  You deal with that in your

        31       statement about the prohibition on identifying names of

        32       individuals and companies.

        33       A.   Yes, I also deal with the issue of the circumstances

        34       in which a minister might approve collection on an

        35       Australian entity, but they're very exceptional

        36       circumstances.

        37

        38       Q.   I wanted to ask you briefly about the evidence that

        39       you've given concerning the need to know principle that

        40       you've dealt with at paragraphs 9 and following in your

        41       statement.

        42       A.   Mmm.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter, this wasn't the subject of

        45       an application for examination.

        46

        47       MR CARTER:   Well, sir, that --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   26 and 28 were.

         3

         4       MR CARTER:   Well, that's not right.  The request for

         5       cross-examination said:

         6

         7            We seek to cross-examine Mr Stuart on the

         8            dissemination of material from the

         9            Australian Intelligence Community, DFAT,

        10            relevant to the subject matter of this

        11            inquiry.  The level and nature of the

        12            knowledge of the Commonwealth of payments

        13            of trucking fees to Alia is a matter

        14            relevance to the inquiry and to the

        15            interests of each of our clients.  The

        16            questions will be directed to the secret 15

        17            documents, previously 17, and to the

        18            function of intelligence assessment more

        19            generally.  In particular, we seek to

        20            cross-examine him on the contents of

        21            paragraphs 26, 28, 33 to 35.

        22

        23       It doesn't say that's all, sir.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, that's all I'm allowing, that

        26       which you asked for.  26 and 28.

        27

        28       MR CARTER:   Well, I asked for 33 to 35.  My learned friend

        29       Mr Robertson, on behalf of the witness --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter, I've already ruled on 33 to

        32       35.

        33

        34       MR CARTER:   Could I ask for reasons in respect of that

        35       ruling, sir?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, you proceed.

        38

        39       MR CARTER:   You're saying that any question I ask --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter, do you wish to ask questions

        42       about 26 and 28, or not?

        43

        44       MR CARTER:   I do, sir, but --

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well, you go ahead and do so.

        47
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         1       MR CARTER:   Q.   In paragraph 28 of your statement, sir,

         2       you state:

         3

         4            The current DSD liaison officer in DFAT

         5            conveys back to DSD requests for further

         6            information about DSD material.  I

         7            understand DSD has a record of these

         8            requests, although whether they did so

         9            before 2004 is unclear.

        10

        11       Do you see that?  It's towards the end of that paragraph?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Have you made inquiries about what records they do

        15       have prior to 2004?

        16       A.   I have made some inquiries, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   What have those inquiries unearthed?

        19       A.   That it's not clear whether they have a record.

        20

        21       Q.   That it's not clear whether they have a record?

        22       A.   Mmm.  I think you really need to get the reasons from

        23       them.  They're technical.  They go to whether it's possible

        24       to recover things from certain type of tapes or record of

        25       an electronic data base that no longer exists.

        26

        27       Q.   You then say:

        28

        29            DSD has had a liaison officer in DFAT since

        30            1997...

        31

        32       Does that person have some sort of responsibility for

        33       keeping records?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   But your evidence is that really, other than that one

        37       document that you can't cross-reference to the public

        38       distillation, you can't assist us with which individuals

        39       within the department have seen which of the 15?

        40       A.   I think, in answer to a question from Mr Wigney, I

        41       explained that for the material received electronically -

        42       so it's not in hard copy, received electronically - there

        43       was a record kept by that originating agency, the system

        44       they used for keeping those records changed about a year

        45       ago and, as a result, they don't have, or it appears they

        46       don't have, a record of the distributions that had existed

        47       on the previous record.
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         1

         2       Q.   In terms of the people - who are the people that you

         3       do know received the one document?

         4       A.   The one document?  One was then director of the Middle

         5       East section and one was the director of another geographic

         6       section in another division of the department.

         7

         8       Q.   Have you spoken to them about what action they took on

         9       receipt of that intelligence?

        10       A.   Sorry, could you repeat that?

        11

        12       Q.   Have you spoken to them about what action they took on

        13       receipt of that intelligence?

        14       A.   No, I haven't.

        15

        16       Q.   Paragraph 26, I think, is the other paragraph that I'm

        17       allowed to ask you about.  You say:

        18

        19            The Australian Government, through the

        20            National Security Committee of Cabinet,

        21            sets national foreign intelligence

        22            priorities which guide the work of the

        23            collection agencies.

        24

        25       Do you see that in the first sentence of paragraph 26?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   What's the membership of that committee?

        29       A.   The national security committee of cabinet?

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.

        32       A.   It's chaired by the Prime Minister.  It includes the

        33       Defence Minister, the Foreign Minister, the

        34       Attorney-General.  It either includes, or includes by

        35       co-opting, the Minister for Customs and the Police, the

        36       Treasurer.  It also includes the Deputy Prime Minister.

        37       The Minister for Finance is frequently co-opted.  There are

        38       other ministers who participate according to the item.

        39

        40       Q.   All right.  Just one final matter on this paragraph,

        41       26.  Do I take it from the contents of that paragraph and

        42       your evidence that you've given about the nature of the

        43       15 documents - you've said that they all had a very high

        44       classification.

        45       A.   I said that a number of them were above secret level.

        46

        47       Q.   What's the name above secret, what's the name given to
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         1       it - is it "top secret", or something else?

         2       A.   Well, "top secret" or "codeword", it was a general

         3       descriptor that includes a number of types of

         4       classification, and I can't be more specific than that.

         5

         6       Q.   In terms of position or location of recipient, does

         7       higher than secret tend to indicate that the assessments

         8       are intended to the highest levels of the government?

         9       A.   No, probably --

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   They're not assessments, we're talking

        12       about unassessed intelligence.

        13

        14       MR CARTER:   Sorry, I forgot the "un".

        15

        16       Q.   The unassessed?

        17       A.   Probably the contrary.  The level of classification

        18       can go as much to how something is collected - in fact, it

        19       very often does go to how it's collected - rather than

        20       what's actually in it.  If there's any correlation at all

        21       between the level of sensitivity and, if you like, how

        22       important the information is, it's the other way, because

        23       if you need to get the information, you will somehow or

        24       other assess it and put it in a form where it doesn't have

        25       to be handled in such a rigorous, careful way.  Do you

        26       understand what I'm saying there, that --

        27

        28       Q.   I hear your evidence.

        29       A.   If something is very specific, and it's sensitive

        30       because of how it's been obtained, it's not a very useful

        31       type of form to have.  It's one of the reasons why

        32       obtaining assessed material is important.

        33

        34       Q.   Has your attention been drawn to the evidence given by

        35       Mr Crews earlier in this inquiry?

        36       A.   It hasn't been drawn to it.  I may have read it at

        37       some point, but I haven't been drawn to it, no.

        38

        39       Q.   He gave evidence that none of the secret documents

        40       would have been kept within DFAT because of the level of

        41       their classification.

        42       A.   Yes, and that's appropriate.  Certainly you are not

        43       allowed to file or retain top-secret material in the

        44       working environment I understand Mr Crews was in.  We have

        45       files up to the secret level, but it's not usual for people

        46       to retain secret, raw material reports on files.  Indeed,

        47       there are some further restrictions if a case is to be made
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         1       to do that.

         2

         3       Q.   It is the case, though, that highly sensitive

         4       intelligence reports may be retained on files within IPL?

         5       A.   Yes, there is some provision for that.  It's very

         6       limited.

         7

         8       MR CARTER:   Commissioner, that completes my examination,

         9       but before I sit down, may I formally request reasons for

        10       refusing to permit me to examine in particular on

        11       paragraphs 33 to 35 of this witness's statement.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've given those reasons already,

        14       Mr Carter.  That material is not before the Commission.

        15

        16       MR CARTER:   Well, Mr Robertson sought --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robertson, anything in

        19       re-examination?

        20

        21       MR ROBERTSON:   No, thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        22

        23       MR WIGNEY:   Very briefly, Mr Commissioner.

        24

        25       <EXAMINATION BY MR WIGNEY:

        26

        27       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Mr Stuart, I just want to pick up on one

        28       question that my learned friend Mr Carter asked you.  He

        29       asked you a question the effect of which was was there any

        30       mechanism for an individual DFAT officer to find out what

        31       intelligence was available on a particular topic; do you

        32       remember that question?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Can I perhaps put the question this way:  was it open

        36       to an individual DFAT officer to make contact with one of

        37       the originating agencies, put aside the assessment agencies

        38       for the moment, one of the collecting agencies - was it

        39       open to a DFAT officer to ring up one of the collection

        40       agencies to ascertain what intelligence they had on a

        41       particular topic?

        42       A.   Well, I can't entirely rule out what a particular

        43       individual officer of DFAT might do directly with

        44       colleagues in another agency.  But you've seen already the

        45       normal channel for feedback.  It was the topic of one of

        46       your questions to me, some of the material submitted to the

        47       inquiry.  In other words, there is a liaison officer for
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         1       one of those agencies who works in the department who has a

         2       dialogue with users.

         3

         4       Q.   I understand the nature of the dialogue and the

         5       feedback and liaison process.  The question is a fairly

         6       simple one:  is it open to an individual officer of DFAT to

         7       ring up let's say ASIS or the DSD?

         8       A.   Mr Wigney, it's possible but there are other channels

         9       which we've discussed.

        10

        11       Q.   Right.  As to what the agency would do if such a

        12       request was made, you're not able to assist us because it

        13       depends on the record keeping and search engines of the

        14       agencies; is that your evidence?

        15       A.   That's right.  Their capacity to do it is not

        16       something that I can certainly, going back four or five

        17       years - it's not something I can comment on.  But they do

        18       have a channel for dialogue of people in the department,

        19       and I think that's what they would expect to use.  I don't

        20       know how much priority they would give to informal requests

        21       made outside of those channels.

        22

        23       Q.   The ordinary course would be to go through the more

        24       formal channels to which you've referred in your evidence?

        25       A.   I would think so.

        26

        27       MR WIGNEY:   Thank you.  Commissioner, I would prefer that

        28       Mr Stuart not be released precisely at this moment.  There

        29       is one issue that has arisen that may not be able to be

        30       dealt with in a public way, but I'll make some inquiries.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I'll not formally excuse

        33       you at this stage, Mr Stuart, but you're excused for the

        34       time being.  Thank you.

        35

        36       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll take a brief adjournment.

        39

        40       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        41

        42       MR WIGNEY:   I call, please, Mr Willox.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you wish me to excuse Mr Stuart?

        45

        46       MR WIGNEY:   Yes, Mr Stuart may be excused.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Mr Stuart is excused.

         2

         3       <INNES ALEXANDER WILLOX, sworn:              [11.56am]

         4

         5       <EXAMINATION BY MR WIGNEY:

         6

         7       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Might we have your full name, please,

         8       Mr Willox?

         9       A.   Innes Alexander Willox.

        10

        11       Q.   You're current Chief of Staff of the Minister for

        12       Foreign Affairs; is that right?

        13       A.   That's correct.

        14

        15       Q.   You have been so since April 2004?

        16       A.   That is correct.

        17

        18       Q.   You have, I think, provided a statutory declaration

        19       for the purposes of this inquiry dated 7 March 2006?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Could we just bring the first page up on the screen,

        23       please - it's DFT.0013.0578.  You identify that as the

        24       first page of your statutory declaration.  If one goes to

        25       DFT.0013.0580, that's the third and final page, dated

        26       7 March 2006?

        27       A.   That's correct.

        28

        29       Q.   I understand you have one minor correction to be made

        30       to paragraph 4a on the first page of your statutory

        31       declaration; is that right?

        32       A.   That is correct.

        33

        34       Q.   As I understand it, the correction is that the word

        35       "officer" in that paragraph 4a should read "office", so the

        36       sentence should read "Cables were always copied to the

        37       office electronically"; is that right?

        38       A.   That's correct.

        39

        40       Q.   Subject to that change, are the contents of your

        41       statutory declaration true and correct to the best of your

        42       knowledge and belief?

        43       A.   They are.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   It will be exhibit 758.

        46

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #758 STATEMENT OF INNEX ALEXANDER WILLOX,

         2       DATED 7/3/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0578-0580

         3

         4       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   In addition to being the chief of staff

         5       for the minister since April 2004, you were also previously

         6       on his staff as a senior policy adviser from June of 1997

         7       through to April of 2000; is that right?

         8       A.   That's correct.

         9

        10       Q.   Mr Willox, your statutory declaration deals with

        11       essentially two discrete areas or issues, the first being

        12       the systems or practices in the minister's office in

        13       relation to the receipt and distribution of cables, and the

        14       second being some meetings or communications that you were

        15       involved in.  If I can turn firstly to the first of those

        16       issues, relating to the system of cables.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   The cable system that was used by the Department of

        20       Foreign Affairs and Trade was a secure system which is

        21       called a Saturn High system; is that right?

        22       A.   That's right.

        23

        24       Q.   By "secure", it means that access to that system was

        25       limited to those with appropriate security classification;

        26       is that right?

        27       A.   That's correct.

        28

        29       Q.   Is it the situation that cables were transmitted

        30       electronically to designated recipients on a distribution

        31       list for each cable?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   And the recipient obviously could either read that

        35       cable on a computer screen or monitor or print it out and

        36       read it in a hard copy form; is that right?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   Just dealing with the position in the minister's

        40       office when you were both the senior policy adviser in the

        41       years June 1997 through to April 2000 and then in your

        42       later time as chief of staff, how many monitors were there

        43       in the minister's office that were capable of receiving

        44       cables on the Saturn High system?

        45       A.   Nine.

        46

        47       Q.   May we take it that the minister himself did not have
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         1       one on his desk?

         2       A.   He has a computer on his desk through which he can

         3       access the cable system, but he does not do so.

         4

         5       Q.   Your understanding of the system and practices as you

         6       describe in your statement is that the minister relied on

         7       his advisers to determine which cables to bring to his

         8       attention; is that right?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   Indeed, the primary task of reading all cables sent to

        12       the office fell to his advisers?

        13       A.   It fell to individual advisers who had responsibility

        14       for distinct geographic areas.

        15

        16       Q.   I'll come back to that in a moment, but I just want to

        17       touch on something in paragraph 4c of your statement.  Do

        18       you have a copy before you?

        19       A.   I have.

        20

        21       Q.   In paragraph 4c you state:

        22

        23            A short daily summary of each cable of

        24            about six lines or less was prepared,

        25            printed and passed to the Minister...

        26

        27       Who in the office was responsible for that particular task?

        28       A.   This was actually a task performed within the

        29       department.

        30

        31       Q.   I see.  Was that a summary of every cable in which the

        32       minister was listed on the distribution list?

        33       A.   Correct, that would be correct.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did that summary go to the

        36       minister or just his office?

        37       A.   It went to the office and it then could be accessed by

        38       an adviser, who would print it off.  It ran to about

        39       25 pages a day, and that would be printed off and then put

        40       into the minister's intray.

        41

        42       Q.   Can I just, if you wouldn't mind, deal with the likely

        43       content of that summary, and perhaps the easiest way to do

        44       it is to perhaps refer to a particular cable that we

        45       understand was received by the minister's office in the

        46       course of your duties as an adviser back in 2000 - that is,

        47       cable exhibit 486, which is at DFT.0001.0169.  Could that
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         1       be brought up on the screen, please?  Now, you'll see that

         2       particular cable, it's exhibit 486.  It has at the

         3       beginning of the body of the cable what is a summary.  It

         4       has "start summary", then there's six lines, and then

         5       there's "end summary"; do you see that?

         6       A.   I do see that.

         7

         8       Q.   In terms of the content of the daily summary that was

         9       passed to the minister, did it include the content of the

        10       summary of each cable, or was it less or more?

        11       A.   It would be the summary as shown there in this

        12       instance.

        13

        14       Q.   Was it the case that in relation to every cable there

        15       was a summary, or were there instances where there wasn't a

        16       summary?

        17       A.   In some instances there was not a summary, but those

        18       were mostly administrative-type cables.

        19

        20       Q.   I see.  Perhaps it's appropriate to deal with it now,

        21       because another cable that appears to have been received by

        22       the minister's office, or at least on which the minister is

        23       on the distribution list, during your time, is at

        24       DFT.0001.0174, if that could be brought up.  Would you just

        25       have a look at that cable for the moment.  That's

        26       exhibit 570.

        27       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        28

        29       Q.   At least on my perhaps naive reading it doesn't have

        30       the same sort of summary that one finds in most other

        31       cables.

        32       A.   That is correct.  I'd just like to see who that cable

        33       is from.

        34

        35       Q.   Perhaps if we scroll over to the second page, please,

        36       0175, you'll see there appears to be "OD", I think,

        37       "Moules" --

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   -- and then the distribution list following.  This may

        41       be outside your scope of knowledge, but what would occur if

        42       there was no summary on a particular cable such as that?

        43       A.   My belief would be that then there would not be a

        44       summary included in the summary - a cable containing all

        45       the summaries, there would not be - this document would not

        46       be covered.

        47
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         1       Q.   After this summary, daily summary document, was passed

         2       to the minister, what happened to it, to your

         3       understanding?

         4       A.   It would be put into the minister's intray and then it

         5       would be cleared at the end of the day.  The minister could

         6       read it, he may, he may not, depending on time constraints,

         7       other things happening in the office.

         8

         9       Q.   Was that document at the end of the day kept in a file

        10       in the minister's office, or what was done with the hard

        11       copy document?

        12       A.   It was then discarded through a classified waste

        13       system.

        14

        15       Q.   Just still dealing with this daily summary, firstly,

        16       dealing with a case where the minister was on leave, what

        17       would occur then?

        18       A.   Just in relation to the summaries?

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.

        21       A.   He would not receive them, would not receive that.

        22

        23       Q.   What about cases where he was overseas?

        24       A.   He may receive it.  It would be sent, but when the

        25       minister is travelling overseas there's always an adviser

        26       travelling with the minister who would cull the cables to

        27       get them down to a reasonable pack of relevant, immediate

        28       material for him to read, and in those cases the summaries

        29       may or may not be given to him.  It depends on the adviser

        30       at the time.

        31

        32       Q.   There was no invariable practice --

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   -- it really was up to the adviser to ascertain what

        36       to do?

        37       A.   That is correct.

        38

        39       Q.   I think you referred earlier to the fact that there

        40       were designated advisers in the office.  How many were

        41       there, just taking for example a period that you were

        42       there, in around 2000.  How many advisers did the minister

        43       have in his office?

        44       A.   Six.

        45

        46       Q.   Each of the advisers was allocated a particular

        47       geographic or topic area in relation to their obligation or
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         1       duty to consider cables; is that right?

         2       A.   That is correct.

         3

         4       Q.   What was your particular designated geographic area

         5       back in 2000?

         6       A.   At that time I was looking after South Asia in

         7       particular, as well as doing media work.  That was where my

         8       focus was.

         9

        10       Q.   This may be testing your recollection, but are you

        11       able to recall who the adviser was responsible for the

        12       Middle East back at that time?

        13       A.   No, I cannot.

        14

        15       Q.   In paragraph 4d of your statement you say that the

        16       particular advisers made "an assessment as to whether a

        17       copy of the cable itself should be put before the Minister

        18       for his notice".  Did the minister, to your knowledge, give

        19       any instructions or directions as to what he wanted or

        20       expected to see by way of cables?

        21       A.   There was no written or formal guideline or

        22       instruction.  There was an understanding that the interest

        23       level was on immediate issues, issues of ongoing, strong

        24       policy interest or concern, cables which related to major

        25       political events in other countries - just things that were

        26       of immediate interest.

        27

        28       Q.   So it was the major issues of the day generally?

        29       A.   Of the day - yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Are you able to recall whether, back in 2000, for

        32       example, the Oil-for-Food Program or issues arising

        33       therefrom were one of the issues of the day?

        34       A.   Not as far as I was concerned.

        35

        36       Q.   Just still dealing with this issue of the assessment

        37       as to whether particular cables should be put before

        38       the minister, perhaps if we again illustrate it by

        39       reference to the second of the cables that I took you to

        40       earlier - that's DFT.0001.0174, if that could be brought up

        41       on the screen, please.  Tell me, please, if you need some

        42       more time.  Have you seen this document in the course of

        43       your preparation to give evidence?

        44       A.   I have.

        45

        46       Q.   You will have noted that it was a cable addressed to

        47       DFAT in Canberra from the UN New York, Ms Moules.
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         1       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         2

         3       Q.   If you go to the distribution list on page 2, firstly,

         4       there's an action list, and there's four listed names

         5       there, and then the minister is listed in the "for

         6       information" list.  If the minister was listed in the

         7       action list, was it more likely to be brought to his

         8       attention - that is, the cable, more likely to be brought

         9       to his attention?

        10       A.   In this case, he's listed as for information.

        11

        12       Q.   Indeed, but is it more likely to be the case that the

        13       cable was brought to his attention if he was on the action

        14       list?

        15       A.   Yes, correct.

        16

        17       Q.   Did that happen often?

        18       A.   Mostly - I mean, it's very rare for a "for action" for

        19       the minister cable.  It's mostly for information - almost

        20       inevitably.

        21

        22       Q.   Did the nature of the other recipients listed in the

        23       "for information" list have any bearing in relation to the

        24       decision whether or not it ought to be placed before the

        25       minister?

        26       A.   Not especially.  It's more about content.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, the content of this particular cable deals, as

        29       we've seen, generally with the Oil-for-Food Program.

        30       You've indicated that that wasn't, as far as you

        31       recollected, a particular issue at the time; is that right?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   This specific content of this cable includes, and I

        35       summarise, a contention or allegation of irregular payment

        36       methods by AWB, that the issue had been raised with the UN

        37       by a third country, that the third country remained

        38       concerned and that a formal response was required.  Now,

        39       that's, of course, a very brief paraphrase.  Looked at now,

        40       and endeavouring to avoid the inevitable benefits of

        41       hindsight, is this the type of cable that you would have

        42       expected, as an adviser at the time, to have sufficient

        43       importance to bring to the minister's attention?

        44       A.   Could I just see the top of the cable?

        45

        46       Q.   Of course.  Would you like to see a hard copy?

        47       A.   If you've got one, yes, please.  If I can make the
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         1       observation, there are a couple of reasons why it's less

         2       likely that this would have been brought to the minister's

         3       attention.  First of all, it relates to a conversation

         4       involving the Austrade commissioner in Washington.  The

         5       minister is not responsible for Austrade.  Also, looking at

         6       the level of the conversation, it is not likely that it

         7       would have been necessarily brought to his attention.

         8

         9       Q.   Is that because, in part, it's apparent that officers

        10       within the minister's department were dealing with the

        11       issue; is that right?

        12       A.   That's correct.  It was part of an ongoing

        13       conversation between people.

        14

        15       Q.   There's nothing specifically in the body of the

        16       document that would suggest that it requires any action on

        17       the minister's behalf; would you agree with that?

        18       A.   That is correct.

        19

        20       Q.   In paragraph 4e of your statutory declaration you

        21       refer to the fact that the minister's office received

        22       approximately 250 cables a day on a range of issues and

        23       that your estimation was that the minister on any one day,

        24       though it varied, generally received an average of 25 to 30

        25       cables; is that right?

        26       A.   That is correct.

        27

        28       Q.   Did the minister receive those cables in hard copy

        29       form - that is, they were printed off the system?

        30       A.   That is correct.

        31

        32       Q.   When a cable in hard copy form was shown to the

        33       minister, was it accompanied by a memorandum or written

        34       submission or note of some form?

        35       A.   No.  I mean, it varies.  More often than not the cable

        36       itself is just printed off and presented to the minister

        37       with a "for information" note, or it might be another note

        38       from an adviser just "this follows up on an earlier cable",

        39       or something like that, just a very short note.  When there

        40       are issues of great moment, if I can put it that way, the

        41       most used form of communication between the minister and

        42       the department is the ministerial submission.

        43

        44       Q.   I think it follows from the answer that you just gave

        45       that there was no formal record or centralised record of

        46       what particular cables were shown to the minister on any

        47       one day?
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         1       A.   That is correct.

         2

         3       Q.   In the case of cables, the hard copy cables, that were

         4       shown to the minister, is it the position that at the end

         5       of the day they were returned and destroyed in a secure

         6       manner?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   So there was no central repository or file that

        10       contained all of the cables that were in fact shown to the

        11       minister?

        12       A.   That is correct.

        13

        14       Q.   Finally, dealing with this cable issue, paragraph 4f

        15       deals with the situation when the minister was on leave,

        16       and you state that cables were not routinely copied to him

        17       at times when the minister was on leave.  What about the

        18       situation when the minister was on leave but expected to be

        19       back, for example, the following day and the cable was

        20       deemed sufficiently important to bring to his attention?

        21       A.   It could be one of several ways.  Either he could, at

        22       the end of the holiday, that leave period, ask for some

        23       relevant material to be sent to him, or if it was deemed

        24       important enough, it would be printed off and held for his

        25       return.

        26

        27       Q.   What about the position when the minister was

        28       overseas?  I think you referred earlier to the fact that

        29       the amount of material that went to him differed than what

        30       would be the case when he was at the office; is that right?

        31       A.   That's correct.  What happens under the current system

        32       when the minister is overseas is that the posts, the

        33       embassies overseas, include a system called Foreign

        34       Minister Abroad, which means that the cable is

        35       automatically sent to the post where the minister is and

        36       then the adviser who is travelling with him will get the

        37       bundle of cables and cull through them.

        38

        39       Q.   Is it the position that, in those types of cables, the

        40       actual cable itself bears the inscription "Foreign Minister

        41       Abroad" on it?

        42       A.   That is correct.

        43

        44       Q.   If I can just turn briefly to what is the second issue

        45       or topic dealt with in your statutory declaration, and that

        46       is some meetings or communications in which you were

        47       involved as the minister's chief of staff.  It's largely
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         1       dealt with in paragraph 5.  There are a number of

         2       exchanges, and if I can endeavour to deal with them in

         3       chronological order.  You refer to an email exchange

         4       between yourself and the former ambassador, Australian

         5       Ambassador, to the United Nations, in February 2005.  Can I

         6       have brought up, please, this document, MIF.0002.0001.  Is

         7       that the email exchange to which you refer in February 2005

         8       in paragraph 5 of your statutory declaration?

         9       A.   Yes, the bottom two emails are.  The top email is an

        10       email from me to another staffer for it to be included in a

        11       pack of material to be provided to the inquiry.

        12

        13       Q.   I see.  The bottom email being an email sent on behalf

        14       of the ambassador to you at 10.04am on 10 February, and

        15       then your response is the email in the middle of the page;

        16       is that right?

        17       A.   That is correct.

        18

        19       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #759 EMAIL EXCHANGE BETWEEN MR WILLOX AND THE

        22       FORMER AUSTRALIAN AMBASSADOR TO THE UNITED NATIONS IN

        23       FEBRUARY 2005, BARCODED MIF.0002.0001

        24

        25       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Second in chronological order, you state

        26       that you attended a meeting on 22 September 2005 between

        27       Mr Downer and Mr Volcker in New York.  If there could be

        28       brought up, please, DFT.0027.0106.  We seem to be having

        29       some technical difficulties in relation to that document.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not on the system.

        32

        33       MR WIGNEY:   I might have to do this in the old-fashioned

        34       but perhaps more reliable hard-copy system.  Would you have

        35       a look at this document, please.  Just before I ask you

        36       about that specific document, you indicate in your

        37       statement that a copy of the record of conversation that

        38       occurred at that meeting was prepared by a departmental

        39       officer and subsequently approved by you as a true and

        40       accurate record of the conversation.  The document which

        41       you've been handed, is that the record of conversation in

        42       relation to that meeting?

        43       A.   It is.

        44

        45       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that document.

        46

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #760 RECORD OF CONVERSATION IN RELATION TO A

         2       MEETING BETWEEN MR DOWNER AND MR VOLCKER IN NEW YORK,

         3       BARCODED DFT.0027.0106

         4

         5       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Can I ask you this, Mr Willox:  was it

         6       ordinary practice that in relation to meetings of

         7       significance involving a minister an attendee would be

         8       designated a note taker and in due course a record of

         9       conversation would be prepared?

        10       A.   With a senior foreign official, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   I'm sorry, so it would need to be a senior foreign

        13       official?

        14       A.   In this case - not at all meetings, but at most

        15       meetings.

        16

        17       Q.   So there was no invariable practice of producing

        18       records of conversations in relation to all meetings that

        19       the minister attended, just ones certainly involving

        20       foreign officials of significance?

        21       A.   Yes, that is correct.

        22

        23       Q.   And other meetings of importance?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   The third exchange that you refer to concerned a

        27       meeting between the minister and Mr Stewart and Mr Lindberg

        28       and Mr Trewin of AWB on 4 October 2004.  Can we bring up,

        29       please, DFT.0001.0211.

        30

        31       MR ROBERTSON:   It's 2005.

        32

        33       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Sorry, 4 October 2005.  Do you identify

        34       that document as the record of conversation made in

        35       relation to that particular meeting?

        36       A.   I do.

        37

        38       Q.   Was that a document that was checked by you as being

        39       an accurate record of the conversation that occurred at

        40       that meeting?

        41       A.   It was seen by me, it was actually cleared by another

        42       adviser in the office, but I saw this record, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Did you see it contemporaneously - that is, within a

        45       short space of time of the meeting?

        46       A.   That is correct.

        47
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         1       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that document.

         2

         3       EXHIBIT #761 RECORD OF CONVERSATION OF A MEETING BETWEEN

         4       THE MINISTER AND MR STEWART, MR LINDBERG AND MR TREWIN OF

         5       AWB ON 4/10/2005, BARCODED DFT.0001.0211

         6

         7       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Fourthly, I think in paragraph 5 you

         8       refer to an email exchange that related to that particular

         9       meeting.  Could there be brought up, please, document

        10       MIF.0001.0161.  Is that the email exchange to which you

        11       refer in paragraph 5 of your statement that occurred on

        12       4 October 2005?

        13       A.   That is correct.

        14

        15       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that document.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #762 EMAIL EXCHANGE IN RELATION TO A MEETING

        18       BETWEEN THE MINISTER AND MR STEWART, MR LINDBERG AND

        19       MR TREWIN OF AWB ON 4/10/2005, BARCODED MIF.0001.0161

        20

        21       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Just staying with that document for the

        22       moment, it's an email from you to Mr Dauth, the Australian

        23       Ambassador to the UN.  I just wanted to ask you, at the end

        24       of the first paragraph, after reference has been made in

        25       general terms to the meeting, you state, "This is not

        26       appearing good".  What was it that prompted you to make

        27       that comment or observation in your email?

        28       A.   What I was looking at there was we had been in

        29       New York, we'd met Mr Volcker.  There was a strong

        30       impression from that meeting that the report brought down

        31       by Mr Volcker would not be good from the AWB's perspective.

        32

        33       Q.   Meaning there were likely --

        34       A.   It would make adverse findings against AWB.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Willox, I just want to ask you very briefly about

        37       at least one other meeting that you attended as the

        38       minister's chief of staff.  It was a meeting that occurred

        39       on 1 June 2005 between the minister and Mr Lindberg of AWB.

        40       Do you recall attending such meeting?

        41       A.   I do.

        42

        43       Q.   Was there anyone else from AWB present in addition to

        44       Mr Lindberg?

        45       A.   I believe Mr Stewart and Mr Trewin.

        46

        47       Q.   There was you and Mr Downer.  Was there any other
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         1       adviser or representative or officer of the department

         2       present at that meeting?

         3       A.   There was one other adviser from the office,

         4       Mr Windsor.

         5

         6       Q.   Was it the position that you did not take a

         7       contemporaneous note or record of the conversations that

         8       occurred at that meeting?

         9       A.   That is correct.

        10

        11       Q.   But is it the position that you have in more recent

        12       times endeavoured to record your recollection of what was

        13       said by participants at that meeting?

        14       A.   That is correct.

        15

        16       Q.   Could DFT.0028.0113 be brought up on the screen,

        17       please?  We again might do this in a hard copy way.  Would

        18       you have a look at this document, please.  Do you recognise

        19       that as the note or record that you have in recent times

        20       made in relation to your recollection of what was said at

        21       the meeting on 1 June 2005?

        22       A.   I do.

        23

        24       Q.   I understand that it's parties may have copies of that

        25       document from another source.  There are extra copies

        26       available if need be, since it can't be put on the screen.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #763 NOTE OR RECORD PREPARED IN RECENT TIMES BY

        29       MR WILLOX IN RELATION TO A MEETING ON 1 JUNE 2005,

        30       BARCODED DFT.0028.0113

        31

        32       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Can I ask you this, please, Mr Willox,

        33       precisely when and in what circumstances did you come to

        34       create that particular note, it not being a contemporaneous

        35       record?

        36       A.   I was asked by Mr Chris Moraitis, one of the

        37       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade's legal officers,

        38       to provide any recollections that I had from that meeting.

        39

        40       Q.   When did that occur?

        41       A.   About 10 days ago.

        42

        43       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it's exhibit 763.

        46

        47       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   I just want to take you through a couple
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         1       of matters in this record and then ask your recollection

         2       about a couple of other issues relating to this meeting.

         3       You say in the second paragraph, and I'll read it:

         4

         5            I did not keep a note of the meeting -

         6            Mr Lindberg had called on the secretary of

         7            DFAT, Mr L'Estrange, and the meeting with

         8            Mr Downer covered familiar territory.

         9

        10       What do you mean by the term "familiar territory"?

        11       A.   What had happened was that the meeting with

        12       Mr Lindberg, from memory, was called at fairly short

        13       notice.  I think I was contacted by Mr Trewin, to advise me

        14       that Mr Lindberg was in Canberra doing the rounds of a

        15       series of meetings and would it be possible for him to have

        16       a short meeting with Mr Downer, which I organised at short

        17       notice.  I was aware from my conversation with Mr Trewin

        18       that they were meeting other people, including

        19       Mr L'Estrange.  We had the meeting and then a note from

        20       Mr L'Estrange came up the next day, which covered off his

        21       meeting with Mr Lindberg, and contained within

        22       Mr L'Estrange's note was material which was covered in our

        23       meeting.

        24

        25       Q.   I'll come to Mr L'Estrange's note in a moment, but may

        26       we take it from your last answer that when you say

        27       "familiar territory", you're referring to the territory

        28       covered in Mr L'Estrange's note; is that right?

        29       A.   That is correct.

        30

        31       Q.   You're not able to add anything at all to what was

        32       said at the meeting that was regarded as being familiar

        33       territory?

        34       A.   The meeting was not a very long meeting.  Mr Lindberg

        35       did most of the talking.  It covered, among other things,

        36       what was happening with the Volcker Inquiry and the AWB's

        37       cooperation with it and some of - my recollection is some

        38       of the concerns that AWB had about some commercial in

        39       confidence material and matters, but there was nothing in

        40       any great detail or of any great moment beyond what was

        41       covered in Mr L'Estrange's note.

        42

        43       Q.   I suppose my question to you should have been this:

        44       was what Mr Lindberg said at the meeting relating to issues

        45       that were already familiar to you?

        46       A.   Broadly in relation to the Volcker Inquiry and the

        47       conduct of it.
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         1

         2       Q.   If I can then just take you to Mr L'Estrange's note.

         3       When was it that you saw that note?  Did you see it

         4       contemporaneously?

         5       A.   I saw it the next day, 2 June.

         6

         7       Q.   Can that be brought up, please, it's DFT.0008.0063.

         8       That's exhibit 510.  As I understand your evidence in

         9       relation to it, it's this, that when you saw this note from

        10       Mr L'Estrange on the day following the meeting - that's the

        11       date of the note - you formed the view that the matters

        12       discussed in the meeting that you attended had also been

        13       covered in the meeting that Mr L'Estrange attended - that

        14       was a separate meeting; is that right?

        15       A.   Broadly, yes, correct.

        16

        17       Q.   May we take it that you've had regard to this document

        18       in recent times, you don't need time to look at it now?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Was everything that was covered in Mr L'Estrange's

        22       note also discussed in the meeting that you attended with

        23       Mr Downer?

        24       A.   No, not everything.  I suspect from Mr L'Estrange's

        25       note that some more detail was covered.

        26

        27       Q.   Are you able to identify by reference to

        28       Mr L'Estrange's note what the additional detail was that

        29       was addressed in Mr L'Estrange's meeting but not addressed

        30       in the meeting that you attended with Mr Downer?

        31       A.   If we could just pull down the note, please?

        32

        33       Q.   Again, would you be assisted by a hard copy?

        34       A.   I would.  Thank you.  There are references here to the

        35       committee, which I assume to be the Volcker committee,

        36       attempting to shelter the UN from adverse findings.  That

        37       sort of material wasn't covered in our meeting.

        38

        39       Q.   What paragraph is that in?

        40       A.   Paragraph 2.

        41

        42       Q.   Right.  Anything else that you're able to now

        43       specifically point to that was covered in that note that

        44       was not addressed in the meeting that you attended?

        45       A.   Paragraph 5, and parts of paragraph 4, as I work my

        46       way back up.

        47
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         1       Q.   Just, if you could, briefly indicate which aspects --

         2       A.   The second part of paragraph 4 about the Iraqi

         3       Ministry of Transport.

         4

         5       Q.   Right.  And in relation to paragraph 5?

         6       A.   At that stage he did not sort of cover, in paragraph

         7       5, that sort of material.

         8

         9       Q.   So in the meeting that Mr L'Estrange attended items

        10       were addressed in more detail than the brief meeting that

        11       you attended with the minister?

        12       A.   Correct.

        13

        14       Q.   Just finally in relation to Mr L'Estrange's note, are

        15       you able to recollect anything of significance that was

        16       said at the meeting that you attended that was not or is

        17       not recorded in Mr L'Estrange's note?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Likewise, your particular note that you prepared in

        21       recent times, may we take it that's your best recollection,

        22       based as it was on Mr L'Estrange's note, as to what

        23       occurred at the meeting, what was said at the meeting?

        24       A.   That was my best recollection of what was said at the

        25       meeting between Mr Downer and Mr Lindberg.

        26

        27       Q.   Can I just ask you a couple of questions and, in doing

        28       so, I'm not at all suggesting that these items or these

        29       matters were necessarily discussed, but I'm asking you

        30       whether you have any recollection of whether these issues

        31       were discussed.  Do you recollect --

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this on 1 June?

        34

        35       MR WIGNEY:   On 1 June, I'm sorry.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you recollect Mr Downer saying anything along the

        38       lines of that he was delighted with AWB's cooperation and

        39       that his feedback was that AWB had been exemplary?

        40       A.   I don't recall him saying that.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you recall at all Mr Lindberg saying anything along

        43       these lines, that Mr Lindberg had told the Australian

        44       Ambassador in Iraq in 2002 of using Alia?

        45       A.   I don't recall him saying that.  He may have mentioned

        46       Alia in the conversation as a trucking firm that was used,

        47       but I do not recall him mentioning any conversation with
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         1       the Australian Ambassador in Iraq.  We did not have an

         2       ambassador in Iraq at that time.

         3

         4       Q.   Is that the sort of comment that you would expect you

         5       would recall and include in your note?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   And it's not in Mr L'Estrange's note either, it

         9       appears.

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you recall whether or not Mr Downer said anything

        13       along these lines - "You", that is directed to Mr Lindberg

        14       or AWB, "can't be responsible for what happened to the

        15       money after it was paid to Alia"?

        16       A.   I have no recall of him saying that.

        17

        18       Q.   Again, is that something you would be likely to recall

        19       if it was said?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Thank you.  I just want to deal with one final matter,

        23       if I might.  The inquiry has been provided with some

        24       particular pages of the minister's diary that contain some

        25       entries of potential relevance; do you understand?

        26       A.   I do.

        27

        28       Q.   Were you involved in part in that exercise of putting

        29       those excerpts from the diary together?

        30       A.   I was.  I asked for that to be put together.

        31

        32       Q.   I'll ask you this question without showing you the

        33       document if I can, but there is an entry in the minister's

        34       diary for 7 March 2005.  It says, "Received telephone call

        35       from Andrew Lindberg, AWB.  Adviser Innes Willox", that's

        36       you.  Do you have any recollection of being present during

        37       any such --

        38       A.   No, I have no recollection of being present at such a

        39       conversation.

        40

        41       Q.   Would a note in the diary such as that indicate that

        42       you may or may not have been present?

        43       A.   What it would indicate is that it was organised

        44       through me.  From memory, I think that telephone call is

        45       said to have happened at 12.15 or so on a parliamentary

        46       sitting day.  I may well have been doing other things at

        47       the time that that call took place - if it took place.
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         1

         2       MR WIGNEY:   Commissioner, those are my questions of

         3       Mr Willox.  I understand from my learned friend Mr Allen

         4       that the application that had been made to cross-examine

         5       Mr Willox has now been withdrawn.

         6

         7       MR ALLEN:   It was withdrawn.  It's now renewed.  I don't

         8       take issue with your direction, and as you explained during

         9       the exchange we had on Friday.  This is new evidence.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   What is?

        12

        13       MR ALLEN:   The last 10 minutes, sir, not referred to in

        14       the witness's statement, not referred to in the note that

        15       came not with his statement but with Mr Downer's statement

        16       only last Thursday.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   To what are you referring?

        19

        20       MR ALLEN:   What was or wasn't said at the meeting on

        21       1 June.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   But I asked you on Friday, if that was

        24       to have been the case, you should put a statement on from

        25       Mr Lindberg.

        26

        27       MR ALLEN:   You asked me, sir, to put in a statement the

        28       matters of conflict or difference between what the witness

        29       said and what Mr Lindberg said.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I didn't.  I directed you to put on

        32       a statement which would give Mr Lindberg's account of what

        33       he said was going to occur at the three meetings to which

        34       your application referred and to the unrelated or

        35       unspecified meetings in various telephone conversations.

        36       As I understood it, you declined to do so.

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   What we declined to do, sir, was to put into a

        39       statement the points of conflict between this witness's

        40       evidence in his statement and Mr Lindberg's instructions,

        41       because we weren't able to.  As I explained to you last

        42       week, there were gaps in this witness's statement, as there

        43       are gaps in Mr Downer's statement.  It's not until we hear

        44       their evidence that we're able to get instructions or able

        45       to know from instructions we have whether there are points

        46       of difference that require to be tested under

        47       cross-examination.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   What I wished to have from you, as I

         3       thought I made perfectly clear, was a statement of what

         4       Mr Lindberg said happened at those meetings.  That would

         5       then allow counsel assisting to examine Mr Lindberg, this

         6       witness and Mr Downer in relation to any differences of

         7       recollection of that meeting.

         8

         9       MR ALLEN:   I agree, sir, and until we had the witness's

        10       evidence --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Pardon me.  What we have at present is

        13       some material on that and, as I understand it, your client

        14       has decided he will not give me a statement about those

        15       matters.  If that's the case, I don't propose to allow him

        16       to cross-examine on it.  If he does, I will, perhaps, if

        17       there's some difference between them.

        18

        19       MR ALLEN:   There is difference, sir.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Then you'd better produce a statement,

        22       Mr Allen.

        23

        24       MR ALLEN:   Yes, we will, sir.  I'd ask that the witness

        25       not be excused.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   When will you have the statement ready?

        28       It was to be ready by 5 o'clock yesterday afternoon, as I

        29       recall.

        30

        31       MR ALLEN:  Well, the statement as we understood it, and

        32       consistent with what you just said, that we were to have

        33       ready by 5 o'clock yesterday afternoon was the statement in

        34       relation to any differences.  We weren't able to do that --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's not so at all.

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   That's as we understood it, sir.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, you misunderstood it.  It's not

        41       what I said and it's not what I asked for.

        42

        43       MR ALLEN:   We weren't able to identify the differences

        44       until we knew what the witness's evidence was.  We will be

        45       able to do that this afternoon.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't want a statement of
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         1       differences.  I want a statement from your client as to

         2       what he said occurred at these meetings.

         3

         4       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is it only in relation to the 1 June

         7       meeting?

         8

         9       MR ALLEN:   So far.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you mean "so far"?

        12

        13       MR ALLEN:   Well, this witness says he wasn't present at

        14       the 7 March telephone conversation.  He said, "if it

        15       happened".  It's recorded in Mr Downer's diary.  We have

        16       already provided to the Commission some talking point

        17       notes, and I understood they had already been provided by

        18       AWB, as to what Mr Lindberg believes was discussed during

        19       that telephone call.  Our learned friend wasn't able to put

        20       it to this witness because he's given evidence that he

        21       wasn't present.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't recall the notes to which you

        24       refer, but 7 March was also a date which was referred to in

        25       your application to cross-examine.

        26

        27       MR ALLEN:   It was.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it was the subject of a direction

        30       that your client provide a statement in relation to it.  I

        31       understand he hasn't done that either.

        32

        33       MR ALLEN:   No, because we don't know what Mr Downer is

        34       going to say about it.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I want to hear what Mr Lindberg has

        37       to say about it.

        38

        39       MR ALLEN:   That's now clear.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   It was clear on Friday.

        42

        43       MR ALLEN:   If you'd accept from me, sir - I'll discuss

        44       this with counsel - our understanding was that we were to

        45       identify points of difference between the evidence of the

        46       particular witness, whether it be this witness or

        47       Mr Downer, and our own client's account so that you could
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         1       assess whether we should get leave to cross-examine on

         2       those points.  If we misunderstood that, I regret that.  We

         3       will be in a position to put forward a statement this

         4       afternoon covering 1 June and 7 March.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   What about the other date that you were

         7       referring to on Friday, and the unspecified telephone

         8       conversations to which you were referring on Friday.  Are

         9       you going to press in relation to those two, or not?

        10

        11       MR ALLEN:   I'd like to give that some more consideration,

        12       sir.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's why I made the direction on

        15       Friday --

        16

        17       MR ALLEN:   Yes, I understand that.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- and made it clear we should have

        20       this material by yesterday afternoon so the proceedings

        21       wouldn't be disrupted today.

        22

        23       MR ALLEN:   Yes.  It wasn't clear to us and we regret that,

        24       as I've said.  I can't go over that ground again.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  When will you have

        27       that statement ready?

        28

        29       MR ALLEN:   We can have that ready by 5 o'clock this

        30       afternoon, sir.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you say, Mr Agius?

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Well, we'll just have to deal with it as best

        35       we can.  I would like to see that statement before I

        36       examine Mr Downer, and that will be some time tomorrow.  We

        37       may have to delay that examination, but still have it occur

        38       tomorrow.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.

        41

        42       MR ALLEN:   It won't be a long statement, sir.  There

        43       aren't many points to be addressed.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, it's to contain your client's

        46       recollection of what was said in the conversations of

        47       7 March and 1 June 2005; is that clear?
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         1

         2       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Mr Robertson, do you wish

         5       to ask any further questions.

         6

         7       MR ROBERTSON:   No, I don't, thank you, Mr Commissioner.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Wigney.

        10

        11       MR WIGNEY:   Nothing.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I can't excuse you at this stage,

        14       Mr Willox.  Thank you.

        15

        16       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I call Mr Peter Varghese.

        21

        22       <PETER JOSEPH NOOZHUMURRY VARGHESE, sworn:        [12.47am]

        23

        24       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Varghese, is your full name Peter

        27       Joseph Noozhumurry Varghese?

        28       A.   Yes, it is.

        29

        30       Q.   Are you the Director-General of the Office of National

        31       Assessments?

        32       A.   I am.

        33

        34       Q.   Have you held that position since 12 January 2004?

        35       A.   I have.

        36

        37       Q.   Prior to your appointment as Director-General, were

        38       you the Senior Adviser, International, in the Prime

        39       Minister's office?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Have you also served as Deputy Secretary of the

        43       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade --

        44       A.   I have.

        45

        46       Q.   -- as well as in several other senior policy

        47       positions?
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         1       A.   I have.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you head the secretariat that was responsible for

         4       drafting the first ever White Paper on foreign and trade

         5       policy in 1997?

         6       A.   Yes, I did.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you also head the International Security and

         9       Public Affairs Divisions?

        10       A.   Yes, I did.

        11

        12       Q.   From 1998 to 1999 were you seconded to head the

        13       International Division of the Department of Prime Minister

        14       and Cabinet?

        15       A.   Yes, I was.

        16

        17       Q.   Does your diplomatic experience include being

        18       Australian High Commissioner to Malaysia, Minister

        19       Political in Japan and postings to Washington and Vienna?

        20       A.   Yes, it does.

        21

        22       Q.   Is it your evidence that you've had extensive

        23       experience in dealing with national security and

        24       intelligence issues?

        25       A.   It is.

        26

        27       Q.   In addition to that which you've had in your current

        28       position, does your experience include heading the

        29       International Security Division in the Department of

        30       Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        31       A.   It does.

        32

        33       Q.   Which involved responsibility for intelligence policy

        34       and heading the international division of Prime Minister

        35       and Cabinet, which in turn involved responsibility for

        36       intelligence coordination and international security

        37       matters?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Now, you have seen the statutory declarations of

        41       Dr Brendan Hammer made on 14, 16 and 23 March 2006, and

        42       which are respectively exhibits 573, 583 and 642 before

        43       this inquiry?

        44       A.   Yes, I have.

        45

        46       Q.   Is it your evidence that you adopt the content of

        47       those statutory declarations as though the content was your
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         1       own?

         2       A.   Yes, I do.

         3

         4       Q.   I think it only fell upon Dr Hammer to provide those

         5       statutory declarations because during the time at which

         6       they were provided you were overseas and Dr Hammer was

         7       acting in the position as Director-General of the Office of

         8       National Assessments?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   In the ordinary course of things, had you not been

        12       overseas, it would have fallen to you to examine the issues

        13       which gave rise to those statutory declarations and to

        14       provide statutory declarations dealing with that subject

        15       matter?

        16       A.   That's correct.

        17

        18       Q.   There's only one matter that I want to ask you about

        19       in addition to what we see in Dr Hammer's statutory

        20       declarations, and that is a matter to do with briefings in

        21       circumstances where the Office of National Assessments

        22       might be called upon to brief ministers on intelligence

        23       documents, whether those documents contained assessed or

        24       unassessed intelligence.  This is a general question.  It

        25       doesn't relate to particular documents.  I wonder if you

        26       can bear that in mind during the course of the next few

        27       questions I want to ask you.  Is it the case that ministers

        28       are briefed on intelligence documents, whether they be

        29       assessed or unassessed, from time to time?

        30       A.   Well, perhaps I could answer it in this way:  it's not

        31       the role of ONA to prepare summaries or reviews of

        32       unassessed intelligence reports.  What we're required to do

        33       under our Act, and what's our primary function, is to

        34       provide ministers with assessments of how international

        35       issues affect key Australian interests, and in the course

        36       of doing that we draw on intelligence material as we draw

        37       on a range of other sources.  So intelligence is only one

        38       input into what we do and it would not normally be the case

        39       that ONA would do an assessment of a particular

        40       intelligence item or, indeed, a particular stream of

        41       intelligence unless it were to contribute to backing up a

        42       broader judgment that we are making about those broader

        43       international issues that the office focuses on.

        44

        45       Q.   In relation to the contracts for the sale of wheat by

        46       AWB under the Oil-for-Food Program, would you describe

        47       issues in relation to the execution of those contracts as
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         1       being within the category of the words you used "key

         2       Australian interest"?

         3       A.   Well, ONA doesn't provide assessments or analysis of

         4       the activities of Australian companies.  We do obviously

         5       provide analysis of international issues, and, to the

         6       extent that those two might intersect in some cases, it

         7       would be relevant to ONA's mandate, but the contractual

         8       dealings of an Australian company wouldn't come within

         9       ONA's mandate.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you know whether or not the ONA provided ministers

        12       with assessments of how international issues may have

        13       affected AWB's interests drawing upon the intelligence

        14       material?

        15       A.   Well, from time to time we would do assessments which

        16       might include opportunities for Australian trade interests,

        17       but in the period that this Commission is concerned with we

        18       would not in ONA have done an assessment on AWB's prospects

        19       internationally.

        20

        21       Q.   In particular, can you say whether or not ONA provided

        22       any assessment of its own on questions associated with

        23       whether or not AWB had ever acted in breach of UN sanctions

        24       during the course of the Oil-for-Food Program?

        25       A.   No, we didn't.

        26

        27       Q.   When ONA provides assessments to ministers of how

        28       international issues affect key Australian interests, is a

        29       record kept of those assessments?

        30       A.   Yes, our assessments tend to be formal, written

        31       reports, and obviously copies are kept and records are

        32       kept.

        33

        34       Q.   And they're searchable and available?

        35       A.   Sorry, I didn't hear the question.

        36

        37       Q.   They are searchable?

        38       A.   They are searchable.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That's the further examination of

        41       Mr Varghese.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robertson?

        44

        45       MR ROBERTSON:   I have no questions, Commissioner.

        46

        47       MR BURMESTER:   I have no questions, Commissioner.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter, I've had a look at your

         3       application to cross-examine, I will not allow

         4       cross-examination in relation to paragraph 5.  I don't

         5       think that the matter referred to next - namely, paragraphs

         6       9 and 22 - will be of any assistance to me.  The balance of

         7       the two matters you may ask questions about if you wish.

         8       It seems to me they've just been covered, but if there is

         9       some other matter you wish to raise.

        10

        11       MR CARTER:   There were some other matters.  I don't think

        12       I'll be long - I would have thought about 15 minutes in

        13       total.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Other matters in relation to those last

        16       two items?  You sought to examine on four matters.  I've

        17       rejected your application in relation to two.  On the

        18       remaining two you may examine the witness if you wish,

        19       although, as I pointed out, it seems to me they have just

        20       been covered by Mr Agius.  If there are other matters

        21       additional to what he has put to the witness in relation to

        22       those two matters, I would allow cross-examination on that.

        23

        24       MR CARTER:   Yes, sir.  Can I just say by way of reply that

        25       once again --

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't need a reply.

        28

        29       MR CARTER:   Can I say by way of submission, as counsel

        30       appearing on behalf of witnesses, sir, that your

        31       characterisation of the request to cross-examine is unfair

        32       and unduly narrow.  What was indicated was indicative and

        33       said "including" those matters.  Can I say, secondly, that

        34       prefacing that paragraph in the letter to the solicitor

        35       assisting the inquiry of 5 April, it was stated that we

        36       seek to cross-examine Mr Hammer in the general interests of

        37       our clients on his two statutory declarations concerning

        38       the role of the ONA in its gathering and dissemination of

        39       Australian Intelligence Community assessments.

        40

        41            These matters are very important, sir, with respect,

        42       to the ultimate fact-finding that you have to engage in.

        43       We're not going on a frolic, we're not going on a fishing

        44       expedition.  It's a prepared cross-examination, it's a

        45       tight cross-examination.

        46

        47            The other matter, sir, is that at the time that that
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         1       letter was written Mr Hammer was the deponent of the

         2       statutory declarations.  I accept that Mr Varghese has

         3       adopted them.  Indeed, we've supported that course.  But

         4       we've received a short statement from him also today and

         5       there are matters that I'd like to directly explore with

         6       you in there.

         7

         8            I would also like to ask him, especially given his

         9       position, some questions in relation to the Flood Report

        10       which Mr Hammer in two paragraphs of his first statutory

        11       declaration identifies and relies upon.  Now, sir, there

        12       were conclusions --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've addressed that already, Mr Carter.

        15       You know that.

        16

        17       MR CARTER:   Well, you haven't addressed it, sir; you've

        18       just told me that it's not relevant.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's right.

        21

        22       MR CARTER:   I opened a submission in relation to it --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   I realise that and I've made a ruling

        25       on it.

        26

        27       MR CARTER:   Well, I'll move on, then, sir.  I do note the

        28       time.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  We'll adjourn until

        31       2 o'clock.

        32

        33       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        34

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Carter?

         4

         5       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

         6

         7       MR CARTER:   Q.   Mr Varghese, you were asked by Mr Agius

         8       whether you could say whether or not ONA had provided any

         9       assessment of its own on questions associated with whether

        10       or not the AWB acted in breach of the UN sanctions during

        11       the course of the Oil-for-Food Program and you said, "No,

        12       we didn't".

        13       A.   That's correct.

        14

        15       Q.   You have only been the Director-General of the ONA

        16       since 12 January 2004; is that right?

        17       A.   That's right.

        18

        19       Q.   How is it that you are able to give that evidence,

        20       then?

        21       A.   Because I have checked the previous holdings in ONA

        22       going back to 1995.

        23

        24       Q.   Does that mean the files?

        25       A.   Well, I have checked certainly all of the material

        26       that we produced assessments on, and obviously we also did

        27       a very thorough file search in relation to the notice to

        28       produce documents.

        29

        30       Q.   All right.  Putting to one side any briefing

        31       concerning the Australian Wheat Board, did those searches

        32       tell you anything about whether the ONA had ever briefed

        33       ministers or their advisers on allegations of manipulation

        34       of the Oil-for-Food Program?

        35       A.   The question of Iraq's efforts to evade sanctions was

        36       certainly something that, from time to time, we did include

        37       in our reports on Iraq.

        38

        39       Q.   Can you give some examples of what you are referring

        40       to there?

        41       A.   Well, we would have included in our reporting on Iraq

        42       the attitude of the Iraqi regime at the time towards UN

        43       sanctions, their efforts to have the Security Council lift

        44       sanctions, what we knew - in the broad, obviously - of

        45       Iraq's attempts to evade sanctions, issues such as the

        46       smuggling of oil and the inflation of oil contracts.

        47
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         1       Q.   Now, Mr Varghese, we don't need to spend time, unless

         2       you need to, going over the document, but I take it from

         3       your adoption of Mr Hammer's statutory declarations you are

         4       familiar with the contents of the public document that

         5       contains the distillation of the 15 secret documents?

         6       A.   Yes, I am.

         7

         8       Q.   Were, to your knowledge, ministers briefed on the

         9       content of the documents distilled in that document?

        10       A.   Well, it goes back to my response to the earlier

        11       question from counsel assisting, and that is it is not

        12       ONA's task or role to produce summaries or reviews of

        13       intelligence reporting, lines of reporting.  What we do is

        14       we produce assessments which focus on key judgments and key

        15       trends for ministers, and, in the course of doing that, we

        16       draw upon intelligence material to the extent that they are

        17       relevant.  So we don't do anything by way of a precis of

        18       each intelligence report, or, indeed, an assessment of each

        19       intelligence report.

        20

        21       Q.   Well, I mean, are you able to say whether the subject

        22       matter of the distilled documents did, to your knowledge,

        23       form part of briefings?

        24       A.   Well, the question, as I say, of Iraq's attitude to

        25       sanctions was something that we would have referred to on a

        26       number of occasions in the period, you know, from the

        27       mid-90s through until the taking of military action against

        28       Iraq in March of 2003, and those judgments would have

        29       reflected, amongst other things, the stream of intelligence

        30       that we had available to us.

        31

        32       Q.   And when you speak of a stream of intelligence, that

        33       would, I take it, encompass both raw and unassessed and

        34       assessed intelligence?

        35       A.   Well, it included certainly unassessed intelligence.

        36       Assessment is what we do, so that's our own work.

        37

        38       Q.   Did the unassessed intelligence that was the subject

        39       of the distillation - that is, exhibit 641 - to your

        40       knowledge form part of briefings to ministers?

        41       A.   Well, we're dealing here with 15 items, over a period

        42       where there were some 750,000 intelligence reports.  So did

        43       we do an assessment that focused exclusively on those

        44       15 items?  No, we didn't.

        45

        46       Q.   That wasn't my question, sir.  My question - and I

        47       will put it to you again - is did the unassessed
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         1       intelligence, that is, the subject of the distillation,

         2       that is, exhibit 641, the public exhibit, to your knowledge

         3       form part of briefings to ministers?

         4       A.   They would have been taken into account in reports

         5       that we did on Iraq's attitudes to sanctions.

         6

         7       Q.   Now, I wanted to deal with the final matter that I am

         8       permitted to examine you on, and that is the question of

         9       the decision about whether unassessed intelligence remained

        10       unassessed rather than becoming assessed, and you are aware

        11       that Mr Hammer deals with that at some length in his

        12       statutory declarations?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   The decision not to assess the unassessed, if I can

        16       put it that way, was a decision for the Office of National

        17       Assessments?

        18       A.   Well, let me explain that we don't actually take a

        19       decision every time we see an intelligence report on

        20       whether we will subject it to further assessments.  As

        21       I said, in the period that we are dealing with we had some

        22       750,000 intelligence reports.  During this time ONA had an

        23       analytical staff of around 30, so if you do the maths,

        24       I think it would be quite clear that it is not our

        25       practice, nor, indeed, our purpose, to make a judgment

        26       about whether we will assess or not assess a single piece

        27       of intelligence.

        28

        29       Q.   Sir, my question was really just directed at a couple

        30       of specific paragraphs in Mr Hammer's first statutory

        31       declaration, paragraph 20, but also paragraph 11.  In

        32       paragraph 11 it reads:

        33

        34            ONA at no time considered the specific

        35            matters raised in the 15 unassessed

        36            intelligence documents to be of sufficient

        37            significance to warrant a separate

        38            assessment.

        39

        40       And my question to you, sir, is whose decision is that?

        41       A.   Well --

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if any people here from the press

        44       could check their equipment to see whether or not they have

        45       inadvertently left on a microphone.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   There should be no recording of these
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         1       proceedings, other than the official one.

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   Q.   You see the paragraph that I am directing

         4       you to?

         5       A.   Could you just remind me which paragraph?

         6

         7       Q.   Paragraphs 11 and 20?

         8       A.   11 and 20 of the stat dec of 16 March?

         9

        10       Q.   That's correct, sir.

        11       A.   My copy of 11 and 20 don't go to the point you were

        12       raising, but perhaps it was in one of the other two

        13       statutory declarations.  Paragraph 11 --

        14

        15       Q.   I apologise for that, sir, paragraph 11 of the

        16       statutory declaration of 14 March.  I am sorry.  It is

        17       Mr Hammer's statutory declarations which, as I understand

        18       it, you adopt?

        19       A.   I have, yes.  I see it in paragraph 11 of the stat dec

        20       of 23 March.

        21

        22       Q.   Have you got 14 March?

        23       A.   And also 14 March.

        24

        25       Q.   Right.  Do you see that paragraph?  Can I just explore

        26       that with you?

        27       A.   Sure.

        28

        29       Q.   My question to you, sir, is who is it in ONA who

        30       decides that the matters raised in the 15 unassessed

        31       intelligence documents are not of sufficient significance

        32       to warrant a separate assessment?

        33       A.   Well, the decision on what to produce assessment on

        34       and when to produce it is taken ultimately by the

        35       Director-General.

        36

        37       Q.   I am just wondering if you could comment on this:  do

        38       you agree with the proposition that incrementally, if I can

        39       put it that way, if a number of pieces of unassessed

        40       intelligence build up bearing on the same topic, the case

        41       for formal assessment gets stronger?

        42       A.   If it is an important basis on which a key judgment

        43       was being made then that would be the case, but, as I say,

        44       we don't do assessments of intelligence reports per se.  We

        45       only look at them to the extent that they contribute to our

        46       understanding of a broader trend or a key judgment about

        47       what's happening internationally.
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         1

         2       Q.   Sir, despite the fact that you will be well placed to

         3       answer, I am not permitted to ask you questions arising out

         4       of the Flood Report.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then don't ask it, Mr Carter.

         7

         8       MR CARTER:   Q.   It is fair to say, is it not, leaving

         9       aside issues of public interest immunity, that often the

        10       issue of whether intelligence material is disclosed

        11       involves a political judgment as much as anything?

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject the question.

        14

        15       MR CARTER:   Q.   You have said that the unassessed

        16       intelligence material distilled for us in the public

        17       exhibit that I have taken you to, exhibit 641, would have

        18       formed part of briefings to ministers, along with other

        19       ranges of material; is that correct?

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's not what the witness said.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I don't think that's been the witness's

        24       evidence.

        25

        26       MR CARTER:   Q.   May have formed?

        27       A.   They would have been drawn on in reaching our overall

        28       judgments about Iraq's attitudes to sanctions.

        29

        30       Q.   I am sorry, that was the evidence.  I did misput that,

        31       sir.  By that, did you mean that the contents of this would

        32       have been included in briefings?

        33       A.   Well, perhaps I can explain that it is not usual

        34       practice for ONA to cite specific intelligence reports,

        35       except where they might be important for backing up the

        36       larger judgment, because the assessments that we do are not

        37       just intelligence assessments, they are assessments of an

        38       issue that draws on a whole range of sources.

        39

        40       Q.   Are you able to tell us, sir, specifically whether the

        41       10 per cent surcharge and the inland transport fee payable

        42       on all goods imported under the Oil-for-Food Program were

        43       the subject of ministerial report?

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Report from whom?

        46

        47       MR CARTER:   From the agency that this witness works for.
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         1       Q.   From the Office of National Assessments?

         2       A.   We would have - I can recall one reference in one of

         3       our reports to the Iraqi interest in surcharges.

         4

         5       Q.   When was that?

         6       A.   I don't have the date before me.

         7

         8       Q.   And who did that report go to?

         9       A.   Well, it would have gone to the normal list of ONA

        10       product, which would be to members of the national security

        11       committee of cabinet and to senior officials.

        12

        13       Q.   You would be able to make some sort of inquiry for us

        14       as to when that was and what the document itself was?

        15       A.   Certainly.  Well, we could certainly find the precise

        16       document and the precise date.

        17

        18       Q.   Has it been provided to the inquiry?

        19       A.   We have made available all of the relevant ONA

        20       reports.

        21

        22       Q.   To this inquiry?

        23       A.   That's correct.

        24

        25       Q.   You say you can't be sure of the date at the moment.

        26       Are you able to say whether it was during the Oil-for-Food

        27       Program?

        28       A.   It probably was during the period of the Oil-for-Food

        29       Program.

        30

        31       Q.   Just one final matter, sir.  I understand that you

        32       were on leave, and we are grateful to have your evidence

        33       because you are superior to Mr Hammer.  Were you involved

        34       in the production of documents to the inquiry?

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the purpose of this?  I have

        37       rejected your application to cross-examine --

        38

        39       MR CARTER:   Without even hearing me on it, sir?

        40

        41       MR CARTER:   Yes.

        42

        43       MR CARTER:   Can I just --

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am not going to have an inquiry into

        46       how this inquiry conducted itself.

        47
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         1       MR CARTER:   It is a single question, sir.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject the question.  You know that.

         4       I have ruled on it previously.  I don't take kindly to your

         5       disregarding my rulings.  Is there anything further,

         6       Mr Carter?

         7

         8       MR CARTER:   No, there is not.  Thank you very much,

         9       Mr Varghese.

        10

        11       MR BURMESTER:   Mr Commissioner, can I, following

        12       Mr Carter's cross-examination of my witness, clarify a

        13       matter with him?

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        16

        17       <EXAMINATION BY MR BURMESTER:

        18

        19       MR BURMESTER:   Q.   Mr Varghese, Mr Carter has referred

        20       you often to this distillation of the secret exhibit and

        21       has asked you questions about the summary in that document,

        22       as to what certain documents might have shown.  The way in

        23       which Mr Carter asked those questions suggested that that

        24       distillation was what you would have drawn on directly in

        25       any assessments that you made.  Can you clarify whether it

        26       was the distillation, the sentences there, or whether,

        27       drawing on any of the intelligence materials passed before

        28       an assessment project, it would have been the raw,

        29       unassessed intelligence itself rather than extracted

        30       sentences from them?

        31       A.   Yes, it would have been a stream of unassessed

        32       intelligence that we would have drawn on.  I mean, this

        33       distillation is a retrospective bracketing of intelligence

        34       material, relevant to the terms of inquiry - relevant to

        35       this inquiry.  Analysts at the time would have been dealing

        36       with the whole stream of intelligence material, including

        37       those reports that are the subject of this distillation.

        38

        39       MR BURMESTER:   Thank you.  That's all, Commissioner.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   There is nothing arising from our point of

        44       view, Mr Commissioner.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Thank you, Mr Varghese.  You are

        47       excused.  Thank you.
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         1

         2       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I'm not sure if we will need to adjourn for a

         5       moment or two, or whether or not we are in a position to

         6       continue.  I think we might need a two-minute adjournment,

         7       Mr Commissioner.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I will adjourn for a

        10       moment.

        11

        12       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        13

        14       <MARK ANTHONY JAMES VAILE, sworn:                 [2.25pm]

        15

        16       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might we have your full name, for the

        19       record, please?

        20       A.   Mark Anthony James Vaile.

        21

        22       Q.   Mr Deputy Prime Minister, we have from you a statement

        23       together with annexures.  Could we bring up, please,

        24       DFT.0027.0002.  That's the first page of your statement as

        25       we have it.  Could we go to 0017.  Do you see there the

        26       last page of your statement, with your signature?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   I tender the statement, together with the

        30       annexures.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #764 STATEMENT OF MARK ANTHONY JAMES VAILE,

        33       PREVIOUSLY CONFIDENTIAL EXHIBIT 336C

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   It was previously confidential exhibit

        36       336C.  I lift the confidentiality order.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.  There are some typographical errors and

        39       some matters of clarification that your senior counsel has

        40       drawn to my attention that I understand are to be dealt

        41       with.  Could I ask you to go to page 0004, paragraph 7b.

        42       I think there is a typographical error in the date.  It

        43       should be 18 January 2000.  It is just the date of a cable.

        44       If we go to 0007, paragraph 7t, the cable number, I think,

        45       has been incorrectly transcribed in the first line.  It

        46       should be O.WH29425.  I understand you have a clarification

        47       in relation to paragraph 7r on that same page; is that
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         1       right?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you have a note of the clarification?

         5       A.   I have in my copy of the statement, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Can I ask you to read it on to the record?

         8       A.   Okay.  In the third sentence of paragraph 7r it should

         9       read, "I have no recollection of the contents of this

        10       cable, but I do recall that at some time I became aware

        11       that Senator Daschle had become involved with the

        12       allegations being made by US Wheat Associates."

        13

        14       Q.   I will just repeat that:

        15

        16            I have no recollection of the contents of

        17            this cable, but I do recall that at some

        18            time I became aware that Senator Daschle

        19            had become involved with the allegations

        20            being made by US Wheat Associates.

        21

        22       A.   (Witness nods) Correct.

        23

        24       Q.   I understand there were matters of clarification in

        25       paragraph 7t --

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   -- on page 0008.

        29       A.   Yes.  Do you want me to read that out?

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.

        32       A.   Okay.  In what would be the last sentence in that

        33       paragraph it should read:

        34

        35            I recall that my US Trade counterpart,

        36            Ambassador Robert Zoelick, had raised the

        37            issue --

        38

        39       and insert there "of the single desk" --

        40

        41            in the context of WTO deliberations on

        42            state trading enterprises, indicating to me

        43            that he was under pressure from industry in

        44            relation to that issue.

        45

        46       Q.   The issue being the single desk?

        47       A.   Correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   Now, subject to those typographical corrections and

         3       the clarifications, you say that the contents of your

         4       statement are true and correct to the best of your

         5       knowledge and belief?

         6       A.   Yes, I do.

         7

         8       Q.   Can I bring you to page 0003, paragraph 6.  You set

         9       out there the principal means of transmitting advice and

        10       information to you as it was.  I want to ask you whether

        11       you are aware of the criteria that Commonwealth officers

        12       have in mind when they prepare documents for you, a

        13       ministerial submission, which might include the substance

        14       or a summary of a cable?

        15       A.   So when a ministerial submission is prepared to be

        16       submitted to my office?

        17

        18       Q.   Yes.  As I understand your statement, you do not have,

        19       and have not had, direct access to the cable system, but if

        20       Commonwealth officers want to bring something to your

        21       attention which arises from a cable a form of ministerial

        22       submission or a document is prepared, which is passed to

        23       you?

        24       A.   Ministerial submissions come from the department up to

        25       my office.  They may require action, they may be just for

        26       noting, and they come across my desk and I read those, sign

        27       them and they go back into the system.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you know what criteria are applied in determining

        30       whether particular cables will be the subject of a

        31       ministerial submission?

        32       A.   Within the department?  No.

        33

        34       Q.   Who determines that?

        35       A.   Well, I would imagine the relevant departmental

        36       officer at a particular level.

        37

        38       Q.   And you have never had cause to investigate that?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   May we take it, then, that if there is no ministerial

        42       submission dealing with the contents of any cable it is

        43       unlikely that you are aware of the contents of that cable?

        44       A.   Not necessarily.  If you are saying is the only way

        45       I become aware of contents of cables through ministerial

        46       submissions, no, from time to time I can be briefed by my

        47       advisers in the office or departmental officers of
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         1       information that may be at hand.

         2

         3       Q.   Oral briefings?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Are you from time to time provided with photocopies of

         7       cables or summaries of cables in addition to ministerial

         8       submissions?

         9       A.   On occasions, sometimes there may be a hard copy of

        10       some aspects.  As I indicated in my statement, mostly if,

        11       for example, there is a cable reporting a speech that might

        12       be delivered by one of my counterparts that is relevant to

        13       trade negotiations, I might be shown that information.

        14

        15       Q.   Can I bring you now to paragraph 7a on page 0004.  You

        16       there make reference to a cable of 13 January 2000.  I take

        17       it you have with you a copy of your statement and the

        18       annexures?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Can I ask you to go to that cable - and we will have

        22       it brought up on the screen - DFT.0027.0020.  Could we go

        23       to the second page, which would be 0021.  This is a cable,

        24       as you would know by now, from Bronte Moules to Canberra.

        25       We have a distribution list at the end of the cable.

        26       Mr Deputy Prime Minister, I wonder if you could assist me.

        27       I have been reading the line "DI", and the reference to

        28       "ZZTDE", which is the third entry along that line, as a

        29       reference to somebody at the Ministry of Trade.  Is that

        30       how you read that?

        31       A.   My understanding of that abbreviation at that

        32       particular point in time indicated that it would have been

        33       on the information list for my office, and, as I have

        34       indicated in my statement, I have no recollection of

        35       receiving or reading this cable, but was aware in a general

        36       sense of the issue, so presumably I was briefed by an

        37       adviser on the substance of the cable.

        38

        39       Q.   When you say in your statement at 0004, "I was aware

        40       in a very general sense that concerns had been raised by

        41       the UN about an AWB contract and that the matter was being

        42       dealt with by DFAT and Australia's UN Mission in New York",

        43       were you aware at about that time - that is, at about the

        44       date of the cable, 13 January 2000?

        45       A.   Sorry, can you just repeat the last part of the

        46       question?

        47
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         1       Q.   I just want to put a date on your awareness that you

         2       refer to in the third sentence of paragraph 7a.

         3       A.   I couldn't exactly identify a date or a point in time,

         4       but certainly at that particular stage, in January 2000, it

         5       was within the first six months that I had taken over the

         6       portfolio, and I think that we were just dealing with, at

         7       the time, the aftermath of the WTO meeting in Seattle at

         8       the end of 1999.  My best recollection is that the issue,

         9       in a very general sense, may have been raised at about that

        10       time, but I can't pinpoint an exact point in time when that

        11       happened.

        12

        13       Q.   And if we go back to the cable itself, at

        14       DFT.0027.0020, the specifics of the allegation are set out

        15       in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the cable.  When you say you were

        16       aware in a very general sense - and I am quoting from your

        17       statement --

        18       A.   Mmm.

        19

        20       Q.   -- were you aware of the substance of those issues?

        21       A.   I can't recall being aware of the substance.

        22

        23       Q.   In a general sense, were you aware that the allegation

        24       was that AWB had agreed to a payment system whereby a

        25       certain dollar amount per tonne was being paid into a bank

        26       account for the benefit of the Iraqis?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       Q.   Were you aware that the allegation was that the wheat

        30       was being sold at an inflated price and that the supplier

        31       would pay a return on the value of the contract to a

        32       non-Iraqi bank account?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   So when you say that you were aware in a very general

        36       sense that concerns had been raised, is that the substance

        37       of your awareness - just that the UN had raised a concern

        38       about one AWB contract, without knowing the detail of the

        39       concern?

        40       A.   That's my recollection, and my recollection is that

        41       there were concerns that had been raised about an AWB

        42       contract, and that DFAT and the Mission in New York were

        43       dealing with it, bearing in mind that I was not - I didn't

        44       have direct ministerial responsibility for either the UN

        45       Mission in New York or the Oil-for-Food Program.

        46

        47       Q.   I understand.  Now, would you have expected - this is
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         1       with the benefit of hindsight; you have now had an

         2       opportunity to read this cable - in the circumstances as

         3       you understood them to be at the time, the detail of this

         4       cable to have been brought to your attention in January of

         5       the year 2000?

         6       A.   With the benefit of hindsight?

         7

         8       Q.   I don't mean by that with the benefit of the knowledge

         9       that there would be a commission of inquiry into this very

        10       subject matter.  I mean now, having had the opportunity to

        11       read the cable - it is a very difficult question - and

        12       keeping in mind what you were aware of back in January of

        13       2000:  would you have expected to have been made aware of

        14       the substance of the cable?

        15       A.   Given the circumstances at the time, in terms of my

        16       direct ministerial responsibility and being new in the

        17       portfolio, probably not.

        18

        19       Q.   I don't propose to take you through every one of these

        20       cables, but not very long afterwards there was a cable

        21       which you have now seen, because you refer to it in your

        22       statement, from Alistair Nicholas --

        23       A.   Mmm.

        24

        25       Q.   -- to Canberra.  Could we bring up DFT.0027.0027.

        26       This is dated 11 March 2000.  In respect of this cable, you

        27       have said that you have no recollection of receiving or

        28       reading the cable.  The first time that you can recall the

        29       cable being brought to your attention was in the context of

        30       this inquiry and, to the best of your recollection, no

        31       officer of Austrade brought this matter to your attention.

        32       You will see that in the summary the author of the cable

        33       says:

        34

        35            It may be necessary to advise the minister

        36            of the situation.

        37

        38       Would you have expected this cable to have been brought to

        39       your attention?

        40       A.   With the benefit of hindsight?

        41

        42       Q.   Yes.

        43       A.   In the context of this inquiry, when we came across

        44       this cable and I read the cable, and particularly, as you

        45       pointed out, the summary, I must admit I was surprised that

        46       it hadn't been brought to my attention at the time.

        47
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         1       Q.   What was the process in March of 2000 in relation to

         2       cables concerning Austrade?  Was it the same as the process

         3       that you dealt with earlier in your evidence, or was it a

         4       different process in relation to Austrade cables?

         5       A.   I have then and now in my office, on my office staff,

         6       a departmental liaison officer from the Department of

         7       Foreign Affairs and Trade and a departmental liaison

         8       officer from Austrade.  What I would have expected with

         9       that cable traffic is that it would have come through that

        10       departmental liaison officer.

        11

        12       Q.   And for that departmental liaison officer to have

        13       briefed you about it?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Can I ask you to go to paragraph 7g - 0005.  You are

        17       there referring to a cable of 5 April 2000.

        18       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        19

        20       Q.   You say you have no recollection of receiving or

        21       reading the cable, but you go on to say that, to the best

        22       of your recollection, you were advised that that matter had

        23       been resolved to the UN's satisfaction.  Did you relate

        24       that resolution to the very general sense of awareness that

        25       you had about the problem when it was first delineated in

        26       Bronte Moules's cable of 13 January?

        27       A.   My best recollection is that I would have been advised

        28       that that issue that was raised a little while ago has now

        29       been resolved to the satisfaction of the UN.  That's my

        30       best recollection.

        31

        32       Q.   So you would have put it together with the issue and

        33       then --

        34       A.   Well, I think it would have been, you know, an adviser

        35       in my office that probably would have put it in that

        36       context.

        37

        38       Q.   Would this have been somebody in your office who would

        39       have been designated to follow the resolution of that

        40       issue, or did you leave it entirely to the Department of

        41       Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        42       A.   No, individual officers in my office have different

        43       responsibilities for different aspects of policy.

        44

        45       Q.   Did you have anybody in your office in early 2000 with

        46       responsibility to follow anything that had to do with the

        47       AWB?
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         1       A.   The best of my recollection, we would have had one of

         2       the advisers that was looking after the Middle East, one

         3       point; secondly, there would have been someone who was

         4       looking after agriculture generally.

         5

         6       Q.   And they each would have had a responsibility to keep

         7       a weather eye on any information or cable traffic dealing

         8       with AWB?

         9       A.   It is possible, but bearing in mind that this was

        10       relevant to the UN Mission, and a UN program, I don't

        11       recall that anybody in the office specifically had a

        12       responsibility in that area, because I didn't have a

        13       ministerial responsibility.

        14

        15       Q.   So you might have retained a general interest in AWB

        16       matters because you had responsibility for trade?

        17       A.   Well, in a general sense, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   You were responsible for the float of AWB?

        20       A.   In a preceding portfolio.

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.

        23       A.   Partly.  Partly.  I had the portfolio of agriculture,

        24       I think, for around about 12 months, and the process had

        25       taken place over a number of years and, to the best of my

        26       memory, my involvement as the minister for agriculture was

        27       in the middle to latter stages of that.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you make assessments of AWB personnel during that

        30       time?

        31       A.   I had had direct dealings with senior people at AWB,

        32       yes, and found them to be very straightforward people to be

        33       dealing with.

        34

        35       Q.   Might you not have felt inclined to pick up the phone

        36       in January or March of 2000 and speak to anybody at AWB

        37       about even the very general nature, as you knew it to be,

        38       of this complaint?

        39       A.   My best recollections are that I was pretty well

        40       snowed under in taking on the responsibilities of a new

        41       portfolio and the breadth of issues, having come from a

        42       much narrower base in the previous portfolio, and I recall

        43       early in 2000 being very, very focused on what to do next

        44       in the WTO process after the Seattle ministerial failed in

        45       the December of 1999.

        46

        47       Q.   What proportion of your time in the first three months
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         1       of 2000 would you have given over to matters of world

         2       trade, as opposed to matters of domestic trade - that is,

         3       trade by Australian corporations with overseas governments,

         4       overseas customers?

         5       A.   Oh, the majority of my time would have been spent on

         6       the multilateral process, if I can put it that way, bearing

         7       in mind that at that stage the government's policy was

         8       predominantly and absolutely focused on that.  We hadn't

         9       started to pursue our bilateral agenda of free trade

        10       agreement negotiations with our major trading partners at

        11       that stage, so I recall straight after the meeting in

        12       Seattle, as we came into 2000, we were preparing to try,

        13       with other ministerial colleagues across the world, to put

        14       the pieces back together, as it were, to try to keep that

        15       process moving forward.

        16

        17       Q.   If we go to paragraph 7i, you refer there to a cable

        18       of 6 June 2003.  So we have moved forward from 2000 to the

        19       year 2003?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   To put this in a context, the allied forces had

        23       entered Iraq in March of 2003, and this cable is three

        24       months after that.  It refers to statements that you made.

        25       If we go to DFT.0027.0035, and if we just go past the

        26       summary, you will see that in the next paragraph there is a

        27       reference to US Wheat Associates' allegations of overpriced

        28       wheat?

        29       A.   Mmm.

        30

        31       Q.   A strong hint that money was being paid to the Saddam

        32       regime, an allegation that there was a lack of

        33       transparency, and a reference to the fact that US Wheat

        34       Associates had written to Colin Powell.  You are recorded

        35       as having responded strongly to the allegations.  AWB

        36       threatened a defamation suit.  If we go over the page, to

        37       0036, paragraph 4:

        38

        39            Mr Vaile has advised the media that our

        40            embassy in Washington will be raising the

        41            matter with Secretary Powell.

        42

        43       It was big news and some dreadful things were being said

        44       about AWB.  Upon what did you base your strong response to

        45       these allegations?  What information did you have from AWB?

        46       A.   Predominantly through the department.  If you look at

        47       the second page of that cable, underneath paragraph 4,
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         1       there is a series of talking points and I recall the

         2       department providing me with a similar set of talking

         3       points.

         4

         5       Q.   Were you aware that that material was sourced to AWB

         6       itself?

         7       A.   From the department?

         8

         9       Q.   The material that --

        10       A.   I assumed the department had spoken directly to AWB

        11       and that they were providing me with the information that

        12       they had gleaned from AWB completely rejecting the

        13       allegations.  In terms of the strength of my response and

        14       public comments in this regard, we had been in a process

        15       during the course of that year, obviously, in the lead-up

        16       to a WTO meeting later on in Cancun, and, following that, a

        17       negotiation with the United States to conclude the

        18       Australian/United States free trade agreement.  In both

        19       those negotiations the United States administration was

        20       pushing very hard to break down, if you like, the single

        21       desk, and being driven by the US Wheat Associates.  That

        22       certainly flavoured my view with regard to these

        23       allegations, because I had been advised that they had been

        24       made without any substantiation.

        25

        26       Q.   Were your advisers telling you of the sort of

        27       substantiation that ought to have been expected - I mean,

        28       what kind of substantiation was lacking, given the nature

        29       of the deals that were the subject of complaint?

        30       A.   No, I don't recall that advice being forthcoming.

        31

        32       Q.   When we go to that page - 0036, in paragraph 4 - as

        33       you, if I may say so, rightly point out, the government has

        34       been assured by AWB Limited that no such kickbacks were

        35       paid.  There are a number of dot points.  If we go to the

        36       last of those dot points:

        37

        38            AWB Ltd have made clear that the contract

        39            price included not just the price of the

        40            bulk wheat, but also costs for internal

        41            distribution within Iraq...

        42

        43       And a number of other matters are set out there.  Do you

        44       know whether anybody within your department ever drilled

        45       down into that material?  In other words, did they ever get

        46       from AWB a list of what was being paid for each of the

        47       categories that are referred to?
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         1       A.   Not to the best of my recollection.

         2

         3       Q.   When you approached this issue at that time, did you

         4       approach it on the basis of an assessment that there was no

         5       likelihood that there was any substance in these

         6       allegations, or did you approach it with a completely open

         7       mind?

         8       A.   My best recollection of the circumstances at the time,

         9       my thinking would have been that I approached it not

        10       thinking that there was any basis in these allegations,

        11       that it was still a campaign by the US Wheat Associates to

        12       get pressure on the administration for the upcoming

        13       negotiations.

        14

        15       Q.   So you approached it more as though it was part of

        16       that US faction's campaign, relating to WTO matters, than

        17       as a valid complaint of breach of UN sanctions?

        18       A.   To the best of my recollection, that was my attitude,

        19       because the information that had come to me from the

        20       department and the advice from the department indicated

        21       that as well.

        22

        23       Q.   What we now know, of course, is that at the time when

        24       Bronte Moules wrote her cable in fact AWB were paying $14 a

        25       metric tonne into a bank account, which was not in Iraq,

        26       and we know that as at the date of this cable, 2003, it

        27       would have been quite accurate to say that the AWB

        28       contracts had included inflated prices.  Was there anybody

        29       in your department who was keeping track of these

        30       complaints and looking at them to see whether they had any

        31       cumulative value?

        32       A.   I'm not sure.  I can't answer that question.

        33

        34       Q.   You see, what interests me about this is that we can

        35       go through any number of issues, but it seems that problems

        36       or complaints about AWB came up from time to time - not in

        37       the vast numbers that some people have speculated about,

        38       but there have been a series of complaints.  Was it just a

        39       case of somebody crying wolf so that a deaf ear was turned

        40       to the complaints, or was it a case where these complaints

        41       were, in each case, dealt with on their merits by the

        42       department?

        43       A.   Well, my recollection is certainly that the complaints

        44       were dealt with on their merits by the department, as you

        45       would expect from a professional organisation.

        46

        47       Q.   You see, when you responded strongly to the
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         1       allegations of US Wheat Associates, and when the Australian

         2       Government, through the embassy, raised the matter with

         3       Secretary Powell, you were vouching more than just the word

         4       of AWB; you were vouching the word and the good name of

         5       Australia - you agree with that?

         6       A.   That is correct.

         7

         8       Q.   But in the end, although you were vouching that, you

         9       were not vouching that you had conducted any kind of

        10       independent inquiry.

        11       A.   I was working on the basis of advice that had been

        12       given to me from the department.

        13

        14       Q.   Which in turn really was material that the department

        15       had obtained from AWB?

        16       A.   I now understand that to be correct.

        17

        18       Q.   So you were putting your name and authority to

        19       statements made to the department by AWB?

        20       A.   At the time I was putting my name to statements on

        21       advice I was given from the department.

        22

        23       Q.   If we go to paragraph 7n of your statement, at 0006,

        24       you refer there to a cable dated 23 June 2003.  You say:

        25

        26            I have no recollection of receiving or

        27            reading this cable.  I have no recollection

        28            of the contents of this cable.  I have no

        29            recollection of ever being advised that

        30            concerns had been raised about contracts

        31            containing a 10% kickback either

        32            specifically against AWB or more generally

        33            for all OFFP contracts.  I had never heard

        34            of Captain Puckett nor his 10 June 2003

        35            memo which preceded this cable (and which

        36            I have only recently become aware of)...

        37

        38       Until the context of this inquiry - that is, you heard

        39       about it first in the context of this inquiry.  But you go

        40       on to say:

        41

        42            The first awareness I have of this matter

        43            in a general sense comes in the context of

        44            the Volcker Inquiry.

        45

        46       I wonder if you would reflect upon this:  two weeks before

        47       you were making public statements defending AWB against an
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         1       allegation that contract prices were overpriced, contract

         2       prices had been inflated, that contracts were overpriced,

         3       that there was a lack of transparency and that money was

         4       being paid to the Iraqi regime.  That was two weeks before.

         5       And then two weeks later the specific information arrives

         6       concerning the inflation by 10 per cent of all contracts

         7       under the Oil-for-Food Program.  The two pieces of

         8       information were consistent.  They came from different

         9       sources.  It was not the case of the same story being told

        10       on two different occasions, but the information was

        11       consistent.  Why wouldn't somebody in your department have

        12       brought to your attention the contents of this cable of

        13       23 June 2003, given that two weeks before you had been

        14       publicly making statements defending AWB?

        15       A.   I don't have an answer to that question.  I don't know

        16       why they wouldn't have brought it to my attention.

        17

        18       Q.   It is probably too late now, but would you have

        19       expected them to have brought this cable to your attention,

        20       or the substance of it, given the public statements that

        21       you had made about two weeks before?

        22       A.   Not necessarily so, given that I didn't have direct

        23       ministerial responsibility for this area.

        24

        25       Q.   Your public statements made in defence of AWB must

        26       have related to your direct ministerial responsibility, or

        27       were you making those statements on behalf of the Minister

        28       for Foreign Affairs?

        29       A.   The public statements?

        30

        31       Q.   Defending AWB against the attack by US Wheat

        32       Associates?

        33       A.   In the middle of 2003?

        34

        35       Q.   Yes.

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Those statements were made two and a half weeks before

        39       this cable arrived on 23 June 2003, and AWB was the largest

        40       supplier of the OFF program and, beyond that, Iraq was a

        41       very important market for AWB.  Wouldn't that make it even

        42       more likely that somebody would bring this cable to your

        43       attention?

        44       A.   Well, given it is about the CPA and the operation

        45       there, I still think not necessarily so.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, perhaps I can come at this another way.  The AWB
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         1       and, I assume, your ministry would have been very

         2       interested to know what AWB's chances were of maintaining

         3       significant sales of wheat to Iraq after March of 2003;

         4       would you agree with that?

         5       A.   That there would have been a general disposition to

         6       look beyond the conflict, at what was going to happen in

         7       the market?

         8

         9       Q.   Yes.

        10       A.   In a general sense, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And not just from a diplomatic point of view, but from

        13       the point of view of trade, in particular the sale of

        14       wheat?

        15       A.   In a general sense, yes.  It has always been an

        16       important market.

        17

        18       Q.   And this cable represents one of the first

        19       communications from the CPA in connection with what was

        20       then the new market, or the developing market, in the new

        21       Iraq; would you agree with that?

        22       A.   On my reading of the cable, it is from the CPA with

        23       regard to the ministries that had been established in the

        24       CPA.

        25

        26       Q.   But the CPA was going through the process at that time

        27       of re-evaluating all outstanding contracts and determining

        28       a priority for them.

        29       A.   That's my general understanding, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And in the short term, or for as long as the CPA held

        32       sway in Iraq, future trade with Iraq depended upon the

        33       attitude of the CPA?

        34       A.   That's true.

        35

        36       Q.   Doesn't it strike you as all the more strange, then,

        37       that nobody brought this to your attention in June of 2003?

        38       A.   Well, it could be argued either way, I would imagine,

        39       but, again, not having direct ministerial responsibility

        40       for the Oil-for-Food Program or the CPA, it may have been

        41       viewed that way.  I don't know.

        42

        43       Q.   So was it because, although this was a trade matter,

        44       it involved the CPA or the Oil-for-Food Program that you

        45       believe that people in your department would have thought

        46       that this fell outside your responsibility?

        47       A.   I don't know the reason why the decision would have
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         1       been taken not to make me aware of this cable.

         2

         3       Q.   Again, it may be too late to be asking these

         4       questions, but did you cause any inquiries to be made, even

         5       as late as the time of the final report from Volcker or

         6       more recently over the last few weeks when you were

         7       preparing your statement, as to why it was that this and

         8       some of the other cables were not brought to your

         9       attention?

        10       A.   Have I instigated any action to find out why it wasn't

        11       specifically?

        12

        13       Q.   Yes.

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   Can I ask you to go to paragraphs 8 and 9 of your

        17       statement.  Issue 2, if I go back to the letter which you

        18       have annexed to your statement, asked, "Did you become

        19       aware of any of the unassessed intelligence or the

        20       substance of the information distilled in the nine

        21       paragraphs of the attached document headed 'Distillation of

        22       distribution of secret exhibit 4 proposed by senior counsel

        23       assisting'".  It went on to ask you some other questions if

        24       you had become aware of it, and it ended with this inquiry,

        25       "Were you aware of any other intelligence relevant to the

        26       inquiry?"  You dealt with that in paragraphs 8 and 9 by

        27       saying that you have not previously seen any of those

        28       documents in paragraph 8.  Did you make any inquiries to

        29       determine whether or not anybody within your department had

        30       seen any of those documents during the course of the

        31       Oil-for-Food Program?

        32       A.   In paragraph 9 I note that there was one piece of

        33       intelligence that the indication was it had been copied to

        34       my office that I had no recollection of, nor could I ever

        35       remember seeing.  I did ask my staff in terms of how this

        36       would have come to the office and who may have seen it and

        37       then taken a decision not to show me.  I was advised by my

        38       staff that a former DLO - departmental liaison officer -

        39       from DFAT may have been in receipt of that one piece of

        40       information, and that's where the decision would have been

        41       made not to show it to me.

        42

        43       Q.   I noted that you did refer to that one matter in

        44       paragraph 9.  May we assume that you have made inquiries

        45       about all of the material and the result of those inquiries

        46       is that only one piece of information was provided to your

        47       department?
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         1       A.   To my office.

         2

         3       Q.   To your office?

         4       A.   That's my understanding.

         5

         6       Q.   And by your office you are referring to your

         7       ministerial office, as opposed to the Department of Trade?

         8       A.   Correct.

         9

        10       Q.   If we go to the next page, paragraph 12, you refer to

        11       the DFAT ministerial submission prepared for

        12       Minister Downer and yourself dated 30 March 2004.  Could we

        13       bring that up, please - DFT.0027.0081.  If we go to the

        14       next page - I think just before we do, could we scroll down

        15       that page so that we can see the Deputy Prime Minister's

        16       signature, 1/4/04.  If we go to the next page, there is the

        17       report from John Quinn, the head of the Iraq task force.

        18       In the last paragraph, numbered 4, about two-thirds of the

        19       way down, we find this:

        20

        21            The Iraqi Grains Board delegation currently

        22            in Australia has advised that AWB Ltd has

        23            acted with propriety at all times in Iraq.

        24            The company concedes however that the

        25            Jordanian company handling local transport

        26            might, of its own volition, have provided

        27            kickbacks to the regime.

        28

        29       When you read that, did it ring any alarm bells for you?

        30       A.   It certainly drew my attention, because that was the

        31       first, in my recollection, awareness that I had of that.

        32

        33       Q.   You see, in that paragraph you would have read of the

        34       substance of the Captain Puckett memorandum, "The

        35       investigation may look particularly closely at contracts

        36       issued from OFF phase 8, 1998, identified by the CPA as the

        37       phase when the so-called 10% kickback was introduced".

        38       Now, if you hadn't seen the earlier cable, would you have

        39       been reading that reference to the 10% kickback in a

        40       vacuum, or had you otherwise heard of the 10 per cent

        41       kickback allegation by the date of this ministerial

        42       submission, which was March 2004?

        43       A.   I don't recall whether I had heard about that prior to

        44       reading this ministerial submission.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, by the time you came to read this submission,

        47       and having read it, if you did, you would have been aware
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         1       of the 10 per cent kickback allegation and a concession

         2       by - and I think we should read the reference to "the

         3       company" as a concession by AWB that the Jordanian company

         4       handling local transport might of its own volition have

         5       provided kickbacks to the regime.  Given that you had

         6       relied on the word of the AWB in the past, and given that

         7       you had put your name and Australia's reputation behind

         8       that reliance, when you read this, did it give you cause

         9       for concern?

        10       A.   When I read that and became aware of that, as you say,

        11       the concession by the company that the local transport

        12       company might, of its own volition, have paid kickbacks to

        13       the regime, it did create concern, but I recall also that

        14       over a period of time AWB had strenuously denied

        15       allegations and, again, on the front of this ministerial

        16       submission the note was that AWB denies any involvement in

        17       direct payment of kickbacks.  I still accepted that then,

        18       but took the view that the UN, given that that's what the

        19       submission was about, was about to conduct an inquiry and

        20       that that would be tested as part of that inquiry.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you think that was reason to review procedures

        23       within your own department to determine what, if anything,

        24       your department had known about these allegations over the

        25       preceding two or three years of the Oil-for-Food Program?

        26       A.   I don't recall thinking that at the time.

        27

        28       Q.   Was there at that time - March 2004 - any examination

        29       of records of the department of trade to see what the

        30       department had been told over the previous three or four

        31       years concerning the Oil-for-Food Program?

        32       A.   I'm not exactly sure of timing but I think there may

        33       have been internally at some stage through the Volcker

        34       process an assessment of files and information in terms of

        35       assisting the Volcker process.

        36

        37       Q.   We know about that, particularly within the Department

        38       of Foreign Affairs and Trade, that there was a production

        39       of a great deal of material.  At what point did you, if you

        40       ever did, draw the line and determine that you wouldn't

        41       believe anymore what AWB told you?

        42       A.   I think that probably came later on in the Volcker

        43       Inquiry.

        44

        45       Q.   Not until after the final report?

        46       A.   Possibly not until after the final report.

        47
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         1       Q.   We know that following the suggestion by the Iraq task

         2       force to AWB, as we see in Mr Quinn's note, the suggestion

         3       to AWB that they may wish to provide more formal advice on

         4       their position to government, AWB provided a letter of

         5       10 June 2004 to Minister Downer, which is exhibit 622.

         6       Could we bring up, please, DFT.0013.0016.  I wonder if you

         7       would just take a minute to look at that and consider

         8       whether or not you saw that letter at about the time that

         9       it was sent to Minister Downer.

        10       A.   Is there a second page?

        11

        12       Q.   We will turn the page, yes, sorry.

        13       A.   I don't specifically recall whether that letter had

        14       been copied to me.  There are many elements in the text of

        15       the letter that are familiar.

        16

        17       Q.   Is there any reason why you simply took the word of

        18       AWB on the occasions when AWB made denials, rather than

        19       issue instructions for AWB to provide a detailed and

        20       thorough response to the allegations?

        21       A.   My best recollection of my attitude at those times was

        22       that AWB was a highly respected major Australian

        23       corporation, since it was floated it was a publicly listed

        24       company, so obviously subject to the disciplines that

        25       publicly listed companies with boards of directors are, and

        26       that, in responding, I was relying on advice coming from

        27       the department, and I had a great deal of confidence in the

        28       department in terms of the advice they were bringing

        29       forward as well.

        30

        31       Q.   It doesn't seem as though the department ever

        32       contacted AWB and said, for example, in relation to

        33       the January 2000 cable from Bronte Moules, "Are you paying

        34       a discrete sum of $14 a tonne to anybody?"  It doesn't seem

        35       as though anybody contacted AWB and said, "Provide the

        36       department with a dollar breakdown of what you say are all

        37       of the components that make up this wheat price that is

        38       said to be inflated."  Do you say that the responsibility

        39       for those matters existed - that somebody ought to have

        40       done that?

        41       A.   Well, I suppose it is easy to say, with the benefit of

        42       hindsight, maybe someone should have, but I'm not aware of

        43       what the attitude of individual officers of the department

        44       was at the time.

        45

        46       Q.   I'm not suggesting for a moment, Mr Deputy Prime

        47       Minister, that you yourself should have gone down and
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         1       conducted such a minute investigation of the particulars of

         2       contract, but it does seem as though all AWB did in

         3       response to a series of complaints is simply make denials,

         4       and it does seem as though AWB never provided any evidence

         5       in the sense of particular detail getting down to dollars,

         6       and particular detail getting down to which accounts money

         7       that AWB was paying was going to.  It is a long question,

         8       but the nub of this question is why didn't anybody within

         9       the Department of Trade ever press for that kind of

        10       information?

        11       A.   I don't know the answer to that question.

        12

        13       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly sent an email to Charles Stott.  We

        14       have it as exhibit 211.  It is AWB.0106.0104.  You have

        15       responded to this as issue 12, at page 0016, paragraphs 21

        16       and 22 of your statement, wherein you say that you did not

        17       meet with Mr Stott and Messrs Harley and Davidson Kelly of

        18       BHP in Melbourne in September 2000, and you go on to

        19       provide more detail about this event which occurred on

        20       13 September 2000.  Can I ask you to take a moment to look

        21       at the email that Mr Davidson Kelly sent:

        22

        23            fyi Tigris is an Aussie registered company

        24            and enjoys the support of our friends at

        25            DFAT who, as I told you, are interested in

        26            the outcome of the discussions to recover

        27            the Obligation.

        28

        29       Were you aware in September of 2000 of a company which had

        30       the word "Tigris" as part of its name?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   Were you aware of Mr Davidson Kelly?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Is it the case that you had not met him before

        37       13 September 2000?

        38       A.   I don't recall ever meeting Mr Davidson Kelly.

        39

        40       Q.   That is, right up until today?

        41       A.   That's the best of my recollection.  What I have

        42       outlined in paragraphs 21 and 22 is my recollection of

        43       events at that time.

        44

        45       Q.   So you knew nothing of any business activity that

        46       involved a company that had the word "Tigris" as part of

        47       its name as at September 2000?
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         1       A.   That's the best of my recollection, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And nothing of any obligation - put in more plain

         4       words, nothing of any debt that was owed by the Iraqi Grain

         5       Board to BHP?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   Or of any involvement of Mr Davidson Kelly in that

         9       matter?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you from time to time as Minister for Trade hear

        13       of Australian Government agencies becoming aware of

        14       instances where other Australian companies, not the AWB,

        15       had exported goods to Iraq without obtaining export

        16       permissions?

        17       A.   I don't recall any specific occasions, no.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you hear of any such allegations in relation to

        20       rice growers?

        21       A.   I don't recall any specific occasions.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you ever hear of any allegations in relation to

        24       the providers of milk powder?

        25       A.   I don't recall any specific allegations.

        26

        27       Q.   And do you say that at no time did anybody in the

        28       department, prior to the publication of the final Volcker

        29       Report, ever inform you of any suspicion that they had that

        30       AWB might have been acting in breach of sanctions?

        31       A.   Not to the best of my recollection.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Thank you, Mr Deputy Prime Minister. .

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robertson?

        36

        37       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        38

        39       <EXAMINATION BY MR ROBERTSON:

        40

        41       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Minister, could I ask you to go back

        42       to page 3 of your statement, please, and paragraph 7d,

        43       which concerns a cable of 11 March 2000.  So far as you are

        44       aware, was your office on the distribution list for that

        45       cable?

        46       A.   As far as I'm aware, and we're talking about cable

        47       DFT.0027.0027?
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

         3

         4       THE WITNESS:   As far as I'm aware, my office was not on

         5       that distribution list, and if you look at

         6       page DFT.0027.0028, my office is not listed at the bottom

         7       of that page on the distribution.

         8

         9       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Thank you.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   The department is, but your office is

        12       not.

        13

        14       THE WITNESS:   My office is not.  It is listed as

        15       Mr Jamieson, Dr Calvert at the department, Dr Calvert and

        16       Ms Adamson.

        17

        18       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Do you know, minister, what the

        19       significance is of the words "limited distribution",

        20       immediately above the lines that you have just read out to

        21       the Commissioner?

        22       A.   Presumably that distribution is limited to those

        23       people listed.

        24

        25       Q.   Perhaps I could ask you to look at page 4 of your

        26       statement.  That's paragraph f on that page, which concerns

        27       a cable dated 22 March 2000, and perhaps you could turn

        28       that cable up, if you would, which has as one of its

        29       barcodings DFT.0027.0030.  So far as you are aware, was

        30       your office on the distribution list for that cable?

        31       A.   If I look at the copy of the document I have in front

        32       of me, it doesn't seem as though it was on the distribution

        33       list.  I also note that it is an outbound cable from

        34       Canberra to New York.

        35

        36       Q.   Is there a difference in your mind between the

        37       provision of inbound cables and outbound cables to your

        38       office?

        39       A.   In many circumstances outbound cables are sending

        40       instructions to posts, and they may have been the subject

        41       of discussions with a ministerial office, so the cable may

        42       not necessarily have been brought to the attention of the

        43       office or the minister.

        44

        45       Q.   Do you have information which allows you to generalise

        46       about the occasions on which, or the regularity with which,

        47       outbound cables are provided to your office?
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         1       A.   In some circumstances my advisers may be asked to

         2       check the contents of outbound cables in terms of their

         3       veracity.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you know whether outbound cables are regularly

         6       provided to your office?

         7       A.   My understanding is that they are not.

         8

         9       Q.   Could I ask you then, Minister, to look at

        10       paragraph 7b on that same page, which concerns a cable

        11       dated 5 April 2000, which is, I think, DFT.0027.0031.

        12       A.   Mmm.

        13

        14       Q.   So far as you are aware, was your office on the

        15       distribution list for that cable?

        16       A.   No, it is not on the distribution list.

        17

        18       Q.   Further down page 4 of your statement, in the

        19       paragraph numbered i, there is reference to a cable of

        20       6 June 2003, and this concerns the US Wheat Associates'

        21       allegations.  Did anybody from the United States

        22       administration take up with you the allegations made by US

        23       Wheat Associates?

        24       A.   Directly, not to my recollections, no.

        25

        26       Q.   Could I ask you to turn to page 5 of your statement,

        27       paragraph 7n, which concerns a cable of 23 June 2003, which

        28       Mr Agius asked you some questions about - that's the cable

        29       from Ms Venamore in Baghdad.  Did anybody from the US

        30       administration or any other administration take up with you

        31       the propositions that are sourced to Captain Puckett in

        32       that cable?

        33       A.   I have no recollection of having those issues raised

        34       with me by any such people.

        35

        36       Q.   Could I ask you to look at page 6 of your statement,

        37       against the paragraph s, which concerns a cable dated

        38       23 October 2003.  So far as you are aware, Minister, was

        39       your office on the distribution list for that cable -

        40       that's DFT.0027.0062?

        41       A.   My office does not appear to be on the distribution

        42       list.

        43

        44       Q.   Is that also an outbound cable?

        45       A.   Yes, it is.  It is from Canberra to Washington.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does it not show a copy going to the
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         1       Minister for Trade for information, at 0061, or am

         2       I looking at the wrong cable?

         3

         4       MR ROBERTSON:   I was looking at, I think, Commissioner,

         5       the cable after that, beginning 0062.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Oh, yes.  Thank you.

         8

         9       THE WITNESS:   The relevant page for distribution, I think,

        10       is 0064.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        13

        14       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Minister, you were asked a question by

        15       Mr Agius about the lack of inquiry, or the absence of

        16       inquiry, of AWB in relation to accounts into which it paid

        17       money and also information about contract prices.  Do you

        18       have any experience, knowledge, of AWB's attitude to the

        19       provision to government of price or other commercial

        20       information?

        21       A.   As a general rule, AWB, in all their trade, do not

        22       disclose price or prices in contracts going into the

        23       different markets of the world, they are listed as

        24       commercially confidential, to the extent that even in the

        25       trade figures that are compiled by the Australian Bureau of

        26       Statistics those confidential items are listed as a total

        27       amount of money and, within that, we presume are those

        28       wheat contracts.  That's the case in all markets.

        29

        30       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Minister.  Thank you,

        31       Commissioner.  I have no other questions.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there anything arising, Mr Agius?

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Just one matter.

        36

        37       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have had the experience of cables being

        40       identical but for differing distribution lists.  Is that

        41       within your experience as a minister, or as Deputy Prime

        42       Minister?

        43       A.   Sorry, I just don't clearly understand what you mean.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, let us bring up the cable that my learned friend

        46       took you to - DFT.0027.0030.  This is a cable of 22 March

        47       2000.  If I could just ask the monitor to scroll down, this
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         1       is one of the cables that you said --

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   -- does not include your department on the

         5       distribution list.  If we could bring up, please,

         6       DFT.0001.0169, this is the same cable but with a different

         7       distribution list, which includes under the subheading

         8       "Information" your ministry, does it not?

         9       A.   Can we scroll back to the top of that cable, please?

        10       Well, the copy of that cable that I have in my information

        11       here reflects the first cable that you put on the screen.

        12

        13       Q.   Yes, I know.  I was just drawing that to your

        14       attention.  The copy of the cable that is annexed to your

        15       statement is the first one that we brought up, which is

        16       DFT.0027.0030.  We have located what appears to be another

        17       version of that same cable but with a different

        18       distribution list, and that's why I am drawing it to your

        19       attention.  Is it within your experience that sometimes a

        20       cable can be identical with another cable but differ only

        21       in terms of its distribution list?

        22       A.   No, it is not my experience.  My experience is that

        23       cables have one original that is kept in the system.

        24       I don't know how there is a cable that has two different

        25       distribution lists.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the document that we have had

        28       brought up, Mr Commissioner.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That will be exhibit 765.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #765 CABLE BARCODED DFT.0001.0169, ALSO EXHIBIT 486

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You were taken by your counsel to the

        35       cable of 10 March 2000, which again is annexed to your

        36       statement - DFT.0027.0024.  That's the 10 March cable from

        37       Bronte Moules.  You can turn up your copy of that, can you,

        38       Mr Deputy Prime Minister?

        39       A.   Yes.  So we're looking at the back page - 0026?

        40

        41       Q.   And if we go to 0026, there are five action items, if

        42       I might use that expression.  Now, could we bring up,

        43       please, DFT.0001.0174.  This is the identical cable,

        44       identical in every respect, save for the distribution list.

        45       You will see that the distribution list for this cable,

        46       although the substance of the cable is the same, includes a

        47       reference to the Minister for Trade.  Could we go to
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         1       page 0175.  So you agree it appears to be the same cable,

         2       but with a different --

         3       A.   The text of the cable is the same that I have in front

         4       of me, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   But the distribution list is different?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that version of the cable,

        10       Mr Commissioner.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #766 CABLE BARCODED DFT.0001.0174, ALSO EXHIBIT 570

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   My learned friend Mr Robertson took you to

        15       the annexure to your statement, which is DFT.0027.0027,

        16       which is the 11 March 2000 cable from Alistair Nicholas.

        17       I think you made the point that although this cable was

        18       sent to your department it was not sent to your office; is

        19       that right?

        20       A.   It was addressed to Austrade.

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.  Well, if we go to the first page, you will see

        23       in about the fourth line:

        24

        25            Canberra:  Could you please pass to

        26            Austrade Managing Director Sydney,

        27            Charles Jamieson.

        28

        29       A.   Sorry, where are we looking on here?

        30

        31       Q.   The fourth line of the body of the cable on the front.

        32       Do you see "Distribution limited to" --

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   -- then:

        36

        37            Canberra: Austrade Deputy Managing

        38            Director, Peter Langhorne.

        39

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.

        43            Canberra, could you please pass to Austrade

        44            Managing Director, Sydney, Charles

        45            Jamieson.

        46

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Would you have expected such a cable to be passed to

         3       your office as well, given that it was sent to, apparently,

         4       the managing director and the deputy managing director?

         5       A.   Not necessarily on the basis of being addressed to

         6       those two offices.  As I indicated when I read this cable

         7       in the body of the cable, where it indicates that the

         8       managing director may see fit to advise the Minister for

         9       Trade, I was surprised.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could I just indicate that the document

        12       that I just marked as exhibit 765 is already exhibit 486

        13       and that which was exhibit 766 was already exhibit 570.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I am indebted for that, Mr Commissioner, and

        16       I apologise for cluttering the exhibit list.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Deputy Prime Minister,

        19       you are excused, thank you.

        20

        21       THE WITNESS:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        22

        23       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will take a brief adjournment.

        26

        27       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        28

        29       <ANDREW ALEXANDER LINDBERG, on former oath:       [4pm]

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lindberg, you are on your former

        32       oath.

        33

        34       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Lindberg, might we have your full name

        37       again, just for the record?

        38       A.   It's Andrew Alexander Lindberg.

        39

        40       Q.   Mr Lindberg, we plan to sit for about another hour or

        41       so this afternoon.  There are a few matters I can cover

        42       with you in that time.  Do you recall that there was a

        43       document produced which was a release - there was one

        44       produced in relation to Mr Emons and one produced in

        45       relation to Mr Officer.  Do you recall those documents.

        46       A.   I do recall.

        47



            .10/4/06 (63)              6458     A A LINDBERG (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   Do you recall that they were identical in at least one

         2       respect in that they claimed, on their face, to have the

         3       authority of the chief executive and the board.

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you ever have the authority of the board to sign

         7       those documents?

         8       A.   I believe I discussed the release in respect of

         9       Mr Officer with the chairman of the board, but not the

        10       board directly.

        11

        12       Q.   The chairman of the board being who?

        13       A.   Mr Flugge.

        14

        15       Q.   And when you say you believe you discussed the release

        16       with him, what aspect of the release did you discuss with

        17       him?

        18       A.   Well, I discussed why Mr Officer was seeking the

        19       release and I raised the matter of agency arrangements.  He

        20       said that he believed that was a matter for management,

        21       but, as I described it to him, didn't see there was any

        22       difficulty.

        23

        24       Q.   When you talked to him about agency, did you mention

        25       anything about Alia?

        26       A.   I don't believe I did.

        27

        28       Q.   What agency arrangements did you speak of?

        29       A.   Well, I just talked about agency arrangements in

        30       general.  I may have mentioned, I just can't recall - I may

        31       have mentioned - no, I believe I just mentioned agency

        32       arrangements, because I discussed them with Mr Goodacre.

        33

        34       Q.   Can we bring up, please, EXH.0001.0040.  This is a

        35       copy of exhibit 46.  Does it bear your handwriting,

        36       "Approved A Lindberg"?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   "3/7/00".  Paragraph 7 records:

        40

        41            AWB acknowledges that it (by its Board and

        42            Chief Executive Officer) authorised agency

        43            payments during the period...to overseas

        44            agents for sales.

        45

        46       Was it truly the case that those agency payments were

        47       authorised at the time - that is, between December 1999
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         1       and June 2000 - by the board?

         2       A.   Well, that was my understanding, from the discussions

         3       I had had.

         4

         5       Q.   With Mr Flugge?

         6       A.   With Mr Flugge and with Mr Goodacre.

         7

         8       Q.   So you discussed the matter with Mr Goodacre as well?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   When you mentioned the matter or discussed the matter

        12       with Mr Goodacre, did you speak of Alia or any payments in

        13       connection with wheat supplies to Iraq?

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   Did you have those in mind?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Flugge has said at transcript 3556, line 16, that

        20       he did not authorise that clause in the release documents.

        21       What do you say about that?

        22       A.   Well, I remember discussing it with him.

        23

        24       Q.   We have had quite a deal of evidence concerning the

        25       Arthur Andersen report since you were last in the witness

        26       box.  Incidentally, I note that we don't have an additional

        27       statement from you dealing with the very many matters that

        28       have arisen since you were last here.  Do I take it that

        29       you are not proposing to provide such a statement?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   I take it that's on legal advice?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Have you read the evidence that has been given since

        36       you were last here?

        37       A.   Not all of it.

        38

        39       Q.   Have you read the evidence of Messrs Stott, Goodacre

        40       and Tuohy concerning the Arthur Andersen report and the

        41       discussion of that report or the alleged discussion of that

        42       report with you?

        43       A.   I have read Mr Stott's and Mr Goodacre's, but not

        44       Mr Tuohy's.

        45

        46       Q.   Have you been given a report of Mr Tuohy's evidence?

        47       A.   I have by my advisers.
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         1

         2       Q.   What do you say occurred - was there a discussion

         3       between at least you, Mr Stott, Mr Tuohy and Mr Goodacre

         4       concerning the December version of the Arthur Andersen

         5       report?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Was it a discussion that took place in February?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   During the course of that discussion were there copies

        12       of the report available for you and the others to read?

        13       A.   I believe there were.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you go through the report during the course of

        16       that discussion?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Were you briefed on the contents of the report during

        20       the course of that discussion?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Were you briefed on the contents of the report by

        24       having someone go through it?

        25       A.   I believe we went through a PowerPoint presentation

        26       but in hard copy form.

        27

        28       Q.   What about the report itself?

        29       A.   Not as I recall.

        30

        31       Q.   Mr Goodacre has said at transcript 3364 that the

        32       discussion with you was about the whole of the December

        33       2000 Arthur Andersen report.  What would you say about

        34       that?

        35       A.   I think the presentation that was given did cover the

        36       report as a whole, so in that sense I agree.

        37

        38       Q.   Mr Stott has said that you worked through the report -

        39       that is, you, Mr Stott, Mr Goodacre, Mr Tuohy worked

        40       through the December 2000 report.

        41

        42       MR ALLEN:   I wonder if that is precisely what he said.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   T2277.  Could we bring that up, please.

        45

        46       Q.   At page 2277 - there is quite a lot of transcript on

        47       this in a number of different places --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   The precise words were at page 2278,

         3       line 11.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At page 2278, having placed Mr Goodacre,

         6       Mr Tuohy and himself there:

         7

         8            Q.   At that time did you read the report?

         9            A.   We had one copy of the report and we

        10            worked through the report.

        11            Q.   Together?

        12            A.   Andrew had already been briefed -

        13            appeared to have been briefed on the report

        14            by Arthur Andersen people, and before

        15            Tim Goodacre and myself were invited to

        16            come up and discuss the context of the

        17            report.

        18            Q.   And in the course of that, when you

        19            say you worked through the report, may we

        20            take that to mean that you and Mr Goodacre

        21            went through the report together?

        22            A.   We focused on the main points of the

        23            report that were of concern.

        24            THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Did you do that

        25            with Mr Lindberg - the three of you?

        26            A.   Yes - five of us.

        27

        28       At page 2640:

        29

        30            MR AGIUS:   Q.   During the course of your

        31            discussion when you, in that group in

        32            Mr Lindberg's office, went through the

        33            Arthur Andersen report, did you discuss

        34            that the increase in trucking cost to $45 a

        35            tonne appeared to be high?

        36            A.   Yes.

        37            Q.   Did you discuss that there was a risk

        38            that this money might be diverted to other

        39            purposes.

        40            A.   We discussed that comment appearing in

        41            the report, yes

        42

        43       At page 2643, commencing at line 13 - this is again

        44       examination of Mr Stott - it reads:

        45

        46            Q.  Did you think about what Mr Hogan had

        47            said to you in the October trip report
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         1            concerning the 10 per cent increase in fees

         2            when you read this report in December, two

         3            months later?

         4            A.   There's no mention in October of the

         5            10 per cent fee increase, Mr Agius.

         6            Q.   Perhaps it was early November.  Do you

         7            want me to turn up the email again?  We

         8            were looking at it before lunch.

         9            A.   No, you asked me a question around

        10            October.  The 10 per cent increase only

        11            came up in November; it did not come up in

        12            October.

        13            Q.   Thank you for correcting me.  So

        14            within a month of hearing of the

        15            10 per cent impost by the Iraqis you

        16            received an Arthur Andersen report raising

        17            red flags about money going to the Iraqis.

        18            Did you think about that 10 per cent that

        19            had been reported to you in November?

        20            A.   Yes.

        21            Q.   And you dismissed it?

        22            A.   No, we talked about - remember I've

        23            talked this morning about - this morning or

        24            this afternoon about - the approval process

        25            that I believed I received that the Iraqis

        26            put forward to the UN included - the

        27            document that I believe I saw included the

        28            freight component broken out.  So I was --

        29            Q.   So you had that in mind, did you?

        30            A.   Yes.

        31            Q.   So you had that Iraqi contract which

        32            specified the specific sum on account of

        33            inland trucking in mind when you read this

        34            report from Arthur Andersen in December

        35            2000?

        36            A.   Yes.

        37            Q.   Did you tell Arthur Andersen about

        38            that?

        39            A.   I believe we discussed that around

        40            Andrew Lindberg's table when we were going

        41            through the report.

        42

        43       And I believe there are other references as well.  What

        44       I want is your evidence about it, Mr Lindberg.  Having

        45       heard that evidence, were you all sitting around a table

        46       and were you going through the December 2000 report?

        47       A.   We were sitting around the table, and we were going



            .10/4/06 (63)              6463     A A LINDBERG (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       through the PowerPoint presentation.

         2

         3       Q.   But not the report itself?

         4       A.   But not the report itself.

         5

         6       Q.   So you would dispute that evidence that I have read to

         7       you from Mr Stott which referred to, in particular, going

         8       through that part of the report that speaks of the increase

         9       to $45?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   The fact that that appeared to be high and that there

        13       may be a risk that the money was being diverted to other

        14       purposes, that there may be a risk to AWB of excessive

        15       trucking fees - is it your evidence that that material was

        16       not the subject of specific discussion?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Is it your evidence that you never read that portion

        20       of the Arthur Andersen report?

        21       A.   I have thought about this a lot, Mr Agius, since I was

        22       last here, and I recall I did get a copy of the report,

        23       I read the executive summary, and I skimmed it, but I do

        24       not recall reading the detail of it, including that portion

        25       that you have mentioned.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recall that others were going to go away and

        28       follow up on this report?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And did those others include Mr Goodacre and Mr Stott?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   And what aspects of the report did you expect them to

        35       follow up on?

        36       A.   I expected them to follow up on all aspects of the

        37       report within their direct areas of responsibility.

        38

        39       Q.   Let's assume for the sake of this question that you

        40       didn't read this portion of the report that speaks of the

        41       recent increase in the trucking cost to $45 a metric

        42       tonne --

        43       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        44

        45       Q.   -- that that appeared to be high and that there was a

        46       risk of money being diverted to other purposes and that

        47       there may be a risk of excessive trucking fees.  Accepting
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         1       that you didn't read that, for the sake of this question,

         2       who would you have expected to follow up on that?

         3       A.   I would have expected Mr Goodacre.

         4

         5       Q.   Would you agree with me that the fact that Mr Emons

         6       and Mr Officer had left by December 2000, February 2001,

         7       did not in any way diminish the concerns that are raised in

         8       that paragraph from the report that I read to you - that

         9       there was a recent increase in trucking cost to $45 a

        10       metric tonne, that that appeared to be high, that there may

        11       be a risk that the money was being diverted to other

        12       purposes, there may be a risk of AWB paying excessive

        13       trucking fees?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   When you gave evidence on 19 January 2006, at

        17       page 901, line 31, I asked you this question:

        18

        19            MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Lindberg, did you see

        20            the report that was provided by Arthur

        21            Andersen after it had conducted its

        22            integrity risk review of the International

        23            Marketing Group?

        24            A.   I can't recall whether I saw the

        25            report.

        26            Q.   Were you given a summary of the

        27            report?

        28            A.   My recollection is that I was briefed

        29            on the report and I may have been given a

        30            summary.

        31            Q.   But you can't recollect seeing the

        32            report?

        33            A.   I can't recollect that.  I can

        34            recollect being briefed in a meeting, and

        35            perhaps that briefing was the summary.  I

        36            just can't - I can't recall back in --

        37

        38       And you didn't finish the answer.  Your recollection today

        39       is that you did see a copy of the report?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   And that there was in fact more than one copy of the

        43       report available - there were multiple copies available?

        44       A.   Certainly I had a copy at that presentation.

        45

        46       Q.   And you read through the executive summary?

        47       A.   I read through the executive summary after the
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         1       presentation.

         2

         3       Q.   What has caused the improvement in your recollection

         4       of the events?

         5       A.   Well, I have had a lot of time to refresh my memory.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you learn that the trucking costs had increased to

         8       $45 a metric tonne at any time?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   And let me just expand on that:  did you not learn of

        12       that later --

        13       A.   Oh, yes, sorry.  I did learn later.  I am sorry,

        14       I thought you meant at the time.

        15

        16       Q.   Yes, I understand the way in which you meant that

        17       answer.

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Can you recall when it was that you did learn?

        21       A.   Well, I learnt, I think, in 2003 at the initial Cooper

        22       presentation.

        23

        24       Q.   But not before then?

        25       A.   I don't believe so, no.

        26

        27       Q.   Did you learn in 2003 that, in effect, no reasons had

        28       been given for this increase in the trucking costs to $45 a

        29       metric tonne?

        30       A.   The reason I recall being given by the presenters,

        31       Mr Quennell and Mr Cooper, was that it was just a

        32       reflection of market forces.

        33

        34       Q.   And that was at a time when you still believed that

        35       Alia were in fact providing the transport services?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you accept Mr Flugge's evidence at T3563 that he

        39       did not discuss the findings of the Arthur Andersen report

        40       with you - and by that I mean the December version of the

        41       report?

        42       A.   I discussed the Arthur Andersen report with Mr Flugge.

        43       I didn't go into great detail about it, but I certainly

        44       told him of the report and I told him of the main issues

        45       dealt with by the report, but not every detail of the

        46       findings, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   Well, when you told him of the main issues dealt with

         2       by the report did you tell him of the matter that I have

         3       read once or twice already - that the inland trucking cost

         4       was high and that there was a risk that the money might be

         5       being diverted to other purposes?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   Or that the fees were excessive?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   Mr Stewart has said that no overview of the Arthur

        12       Andersen report was presented by you or anybody else, he

        13       said, at any AWB Limited or AWBI Limited board meeting -

        14       would you agree with that?

        15       A.   In my previous evidence, Mr Agius, I have said that

        16       I did tell the board, on a number of occasions, about the

        17       existence of the Arthur Andersen report, and I believe the

        18       matters that were dealt with in the Arthur Andersen report

        19       management addressed in relation to the actions that we

        20       took and the reports that we gave to the board.

        21

        22       Q.   Mr Moffet also said that no summary or overview of the

        23       Arthur Andersen report was presented by you, or by anybody

        24       else, at either of the board meetings for either company.

        25       What do you say about that?  Do you accept that?

        26       A.   As to a detailed presentation, I think that is right.

        27       As to the existence of the report, I do not think that is

        28       right, and I note that at least one director -

        29       Mr McClelland - believes in his statement that the Arthur

        30       Andersen report was mentioned to him in 2001.

        31

        32       Q.   In relation to both Mr Stewart and Mr Moffet, I have

        33       spoken of either an overview or a summary or overview of

        34       the report, not simply the fact of an Arthur Andersen

        35       report.

        36       A.   I believe I informed the board that we had done a

        37       probity report by Arthur Andersen, and the matters that had

        38       been raised in that report were being dealt with by

        39       management, and I believe that we did do that.  I believe

        40       on a number of occasions aspects of that report were

        41       mentioned and dealt with with the board and with the audit

        42       committee.

        43

        44       Q.   Including matters to do with Iraq?

        45       A.   Not specifically Iraq, no.  I am talking about the

        46       major issues.

        47
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         1       Q.   The changes to chartering and matters of that kind?

         2       A.   The changes to chartering, the changes to contract

         3       execution, changes to rebates and commissions, changes to

         4       authorisation procedures, changes to legal reviews of

         5       contract execution - a range of things - because our

         6       internal auditors were privy to the Arthur Andersen report

         7       and were across it.

         8

         9       Q.   But you gave no summary or overview in relation to

        10       Iraq?

        11       A.   No.  That was not a major finding or recommendation

        12       from the Arthur Andersen report.

        13

        14       Q.   When you say it wasn't a major finding or

        15       recommendation, can we bring up AWB.0182.0118.  Do you see

        16       the paragraph above "Other matters" - that's the one I have

        17       been referring to.  Do you see that above that --

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   -- there is a reference to "This type of payment could

        21       be misinterpreted as a money laundering process"?

        22       A.   Sorry, where is that, Mr Agius?

        23

        24       Q.   The paragraph above?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Wouldn't you regard that as a major finding?

        28       A.   I agree it is an important comment, but it wasn't a

        29       major finding or recommendation of the Arthur Andersen

        30       report, and it was not traversed in the overview that

        31       I received in the PowerPoint.

        32

        33       Q.   Now, Mr Stott has denied that he was in charge of

        34       implementing the changes following the Arthur Andersen

        35       report.  Do you have any comment to make about that?

        36       A.   Well, Mr Goodacre reported to me, and he was the

        37       person that I held directly responsible for that.  He was

        38       on the ELG.

        39

        40       Q.   Mr Stott went a little further.  At 2639, line 21,

        41       I put it to him:

        42

        43            MR AGIUS:   Q.  Mr Lindberg has said at

        44            page 952, line 25, that you were in charge

        45            of implementing the reforms that followed

        46            the Arthur Andersen report.  Do you agree

        47            with that?
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         1            A.   No, I don't agree with that statement.

         2            I tell you why I don't agree with that

         3            statement, Mr Agius.  I don't agree that

         4            I was in charge of implementing the changes

         5            following the report.  I believe

         6            I implemented the changes before the report

         7            was done.  The report was tabled

         8            in December, we had already done work

         9            in July, August, September, October

        10            and November of that year to address the

        11            issues and rectify many of the issues that

        12            were raised in the Arthur Andersen report.

        13            So by the time the report was tabled,

        14            that December version of the report was

        15            tabled, we believed that, as the management

        16            team, we had addressed the majority of the

        17            issues that were tabled in that report.  So

        18            the only difference I have with that

        19            statement is that I was responsible with my

        20            manager to rectify the issues in the

        21            marketing team.

        22            THE COMMISSIONER:  Q.  Does that mean that,

        23            at this five-person discussion that

        24            discussed the December report, I think in

        25            Mr Lindberg's office, it was agreed that

        26            there was nothing further to be done?

        27            A.   Yes.

        28            Q.   So nobody was put in charge of doing

        29            anything about that report?

        30            A.   That's right.

        31            Q.   And was it reported to the board?  Was

        32            a report made to the board to that effect?

        33            A.   I prepared a presentation to the

        34            executive leadership group and the board in

        35            October, and so I prepared a report.  I'm

        36            not sure if it was presented to the board

        37            or the ELG, Commissioner.

        38

        39       Do you accept, then, that during the course of going

        40       through the Arthur Andersen report it was agreed that there

        41       was nothing further to be done?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you accept that Mr Stott was not put in charge of

        45       doing anything about the Arthur Andersen report?

        46       A.   Mr Goodacre had a responsibility.  Mr Stott reported

        47       to Mr Goodacre.  It was an area of his responsibility, so,
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         1       in that sense, he also had a responsibility, but the direct

         2       accountability to me was through Mr Goodacre.

         3

         4       Q.   Mr Lindberg, at page 2520, line 16, Mr Stott says that

         5       you were eventually told about the payments through Ronly

         6       on account of the inland transport fees.  Do you agree with

         7       that?

         8       A.   I believe that he told me that Ronly had paid for the

         9       freight, and that included inland trucking, at some point,

        10       yes.

        11

        12       Q.   So at some point you were told that payments for the

        13       freight and inland trucking were being made to Ronly?

        14       A.   I think that's right - some point later.

        15

        16       Q.   After the payments had been stopped?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   By Mr Stott - that is, you were told by Mr Stott?

        20       A.   I believe so.

        21

        22       Q.   We know from emails that we have seen since you were

        23       last here that Mr Stott put a stop to the payment of the

        24       inland trucking fee through Ronly.  Did you only learn of

        25       it after he had put a stop to the payment of that fee

        26       through Ronly?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   You were not consulted beforehand?

        30       A.   No, I don't believe so.

        31

        32       Q.   And you did not know that payments for the inland

        33       transport fee were being made through Ronly until after

        34       those payments had been stopped?

        35       A.   That's right.

        36

        37       Q.   When do you believe you were told that by Mr Stott -

        38       that is, that payments of the trucking fee were being made

        39       through Ronly?

        40       A.   Look, I can't be precisely sure.  It would have been -

        41       look, it was certainly some time after the arrangement had

        42       ceased and Ronly was well out of the picture.

        43

        44       Q.   Well, that was in about July of 2000.  Would it have

        45       been some time in 2000?

        46       A.   No, I think it was after that, Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       Q.   Years later, or within months of that?

         2       A.   Oh, no, I think - certainly later, within 12 months.

         3

         4       Q.   So by the end of August, September, 2001 - something

         5       like that?

         6       A.   I learned that, yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you find out, ever, why it was that payments had

         9       been made through Ronly in the first place?

        10       A.   Well, I think what I was told was that there was a

        11       concern about Ronly being involved but not as to the

        12       freight payments, but as to the fact that Ronly might be

        13       doing something that wasn't appropriate with the money.

        14

        15       Q.   What, paying a portion of it to AWB employees?

        16       A.   I think that was one of the concerns, and the other

        17       concern - the other concern I think was the suggestion that

        18       somehow money might be going back to Iraq, or at least to

        19       the Middle East.  That was one of the things I recall in

        20       the presentation.

        21

        22       Q.   When you say "presentation", this was a presentation

        23       that you attended, was it?

        24       A.   In 2001, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Was that presentation made to the board or to the ELG?

        27       A.   That was the presentation that I received from Arthur

        28       Andersen.

        29

        30       Q.   That some of the money going to Ronly might have been

        31       finding its way back to Iraq?

        32       A.   That was one of the concerns.

        33

        34       Q.   And no doubt you would have been interested to have

        35       that followed up?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you get a report back in relation to that?

        39       A.   Well, I charged Mr Goodacre with following those

        40       matters up.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you get a report back about it?

        43       A.   I got a report back at the ELG that those matters had

        44       been dealt with.

        45

        46       Q.   What was the result - were you told whether or not it

        47       had been confirmed that money being paid to Ronly was
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         1       finding its way to Iraq?

         2       A.   Well, I think the context was that by taking Ronly out

         3       of the picture and by taking the employees out of the

         4       picture that risk had been dealt with.

         5

         6       Q.   But the practice of paying money through Ronly had

         7       been dealt with and put to an end before Arthur Andersen

         8       delivered its report dated December 2000.

         9       A.   I believe so, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   So I just don't follow your evidence.  You said that

        12       you charged Mr Goodacre with following those matters up?

        13       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        14

        15       Q.   And one of those matters was the possibility that

        16       money might have been finding its way from Ronly to the

        17       Iraqis?

        18       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        19

        20       Q.   If that matter had already been determined part way

        21       through the year 2000, then there would have been nothing

        22       to charge him to follow up in that regard?

        23       A.   I agree with that, and that's why I agree with

        24       Mr Stott's evidence that many of the matters had been dealt

        25       with and there was a presentation to the ELG, and that this

        26       was a matter that Mr Goodacre was dealing with.

        27

        28       Q.   I just am trying to follow this, Mr Lindberg.  We may

        29       be at cross purposes, but weren't you concerned to find out

        30       whether or not money had found its way to the Iraqis

        31       through Ronly?

        32       A.   Well, I understood the matter had been dealt with.

        33

        34       Q.   I understand that, but weren't you concerned to find

        35       out whether or not money had found its way to the Iraqis

        36       through Ronly?

        37       A.   Well, we were, and I think - well, we were, and

        38       I think the report was that that hadn't been verified.

        39

        40       Q.   And who gave you that report?

        41       A.   Well, I think that was the conclusion that was reached

        42       from discussions with management and from the discussion

        43       with the Arthur Andersen people.

        44

        45       Q.   That it hadn't been verified?

        46       A.   Well, that we had no means of verifying that, or it

        47       hadn't been verified.
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         1

         2       Q.   In other words, you had no evidence that money was

         3       passing from Ronly to the Iraqis?

         4       A.   That was the suspicion, but no evidence that that had

         5       occurred, and a belief that, with Ronly out of the picture

         6       and the former employees, the matter had been dealt with.

         7

         8       Q.   What evidence could you have hoped to find that Ronly

         9       was paying money to the Iraqis?

        10       A.   Could you repeat that, please?

        11

        12       Q.   What evidence could you have hoped to find that Ronly

        13       was paying money to the Iraqis?

        14       A.   Well, I don't know - presumably some sort of payment

        15       arrangement directly from Ronly or through the freight

        16       companies, and I don't think that was unearthed.

        17

        18       Q.   You would never have had any hope of finding that,

        19       would you?

        20       A.   Not unless they were able to go and investigate those

        21       transaction flows.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, do you know whether anybody ever asked any

        24       questions of Ronly as to where it was paying the money that

        25       it was receiving?

        26       A.   I just don't know.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you know whether anybody ever asked any questions

        29       of the IGB as to whether or not it or any other Iraqi

        30       entity was receiving any of the money that was being paid

        31       to Ronly?

        32       A.   I don't know.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you have any of those inquiries made?

        35       A.   Well, I, as I say, charged Mr Goodacre with following

        36       up on those matters.  I had the assurances of management

        37       that these things had been followed up on.  I assumed that

        38       those things would have been done by the management if they

        39       thought necessary.

        40

        41       Q.   We have exhibit 735, which is a Project Rose hard copy

        42       of a PowerPoint presentation dated 25 May 2004 -

        43       AWB.0413.0166.  It is prepared by, so it seems, Blake

        44       Dawson Waldron.  Have you seen this document recently?

        45       A.   I have.

        46

        47       Q.   And did you see it at the time?



            .10/4/06 (63)              6473     A A LINDBERG (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   We have as exhibit 498 a memo from you to the

         4       directors of both boards - Limited and International.  It

         5       is dated 6 May.  It addresses AWB's oil-for-food contracts

         6       with Iraq and, in particular, refers to media speculation

         7       regarding AWB's contracts with Iraq under the Oil-for-Food

         8       Program.  In it you say "Action already undertaken":

         9

        10            Last year we commenced a detailed review of

        11            the facts surrounding AWB's oil-for-food

        12            contracts with Iraq.  This has involved

        13            reviewing over 30,000 emails, many files

        14            and interviewing AWB management.  The

        15            process has been led by Chris Quennell,

        16            trade and transport lawyer with Blake

        17            Dawson Waldron.

        18

        19       You remember generally that email?

        20       A.   I do.

        21

        22       Q.   I shouldn't have said "email"; it is an AWB Limited

        23       memorandum.  You go on to say:

        24

        25            A report on the factual findings will be

        26            tabled with AWB management tomorrow --

        27

        28       that would have been 7 May --

        29

        30            and I will be in a position to brief you

        31            next week.

        32

        33       Did you ever deliver a briefing, other than what we see in

        34       this document?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   So this is the briefing --

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Is it the briefing that you had in mind, that there

        41       would be in fact a briefing by Chris Quennell of Blakes?

        42       A.   Excuse me, do you mean to the management, or to --

        43

        44       Q.   No, to the boards?

        45       A.   Yes, to the boards.

        46

        47       Q.   And you were present for this briefing?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Had you seen a report before this briefing which dealt

         4       with the substance of the briefing?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you know what the result of the inquiry was before

         8       this briefing was made?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   If we go to 0168, it speaks of:

        12

        13            Have taken a "factual snapshot" by review

        14            of:

        15            14 IS&M ring binders

        16            100 Chartering files

        17            30,000+ AWB emails for 1999 & 2000

        18

        19       That seems to accord with what you have said in your

        20       memorandum, that the review had involved reviewing over

        21       30,000 emails.

        22       A.   Could I just say, Mr Agius, that I have refreshed my

        23       memory:  I did not write that email.  It was sent with my

        24       authority, but it was written by Mr Cooper, and they are

        25       Mr Cooper's words, not mine.

        26

        27       Q.   I am not being critical of you for this, but you did

        28       authorise that memo?

        29       A.   As I --

        30

        31       Q.   Or are you saying it was sent in your name without

        32       your knowledge?

        33       A.   No, no, I am not saying that.  I am saying there were

        34       press reports, and I said, "Well, we should just give the

        35       board an update."  Mr Cooper sent that letter out with my

        36       authority.  The wording in it is his.  That's the report

        37       that was given to the board.

        38

        39       Q.   So the memo was sent out on a pro tem basis - that is,

        40       for the time being - pending the delivery of a fuller

        41       report by Mr Quennell?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Could we go to the next page - 0169.  You will see

        45       that it refers to:

        46

        47            contracts included payment of "trucking
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         1            fee" payable to Jordanian company (Alia)

         2            nominated by GBI

         3

         4       Now, were you aware that as at the date of this report,

         5       which is May 2004, the contracts did not refer to a

         6       "trucking fee"?

         7       A.   No.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you aware that the contracts did not refer to a

        10       trucking fee being payable to a Jordanian company, Alia?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   Or that Alia had been nominated by the Grain Board of

        14       Iraq, or the Iraqi Grain Board?

        15       A.   I believe I knew of that fact.

        16

        17       Q.   But you were not aware, and it was not your belief,

        18       I take it, that the nomination of Alia was not referred to

        19       in the contracts?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Were you aware before this report was delivered that

        23       the same trucking fee was payable under each contract

        24       regardless of the destination of cargo - that is, the

        25       distance that the cargo was to be transported?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   And were you aware before this review that the

        29       trucking fee increased from time to time for no apparent

        30       reason?

        31       A.   No, I wasn't aware of that.

        32

        33       Q.   May I take it, however, that once this report was

        34       delivered you accepted it as accurately depicting what the

        35       circumstance was?

        36       A.   I had no reason not to, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Could we go to the next page - 0170.  The second dot

        39       point reads:

        40

        41            No evidence of any AWB knowledge that money

        42            paid to Alia was onpaid to Iraqi regime.

        43

        44       Now, was that your state of belief prior to the

        45       presentation of this report?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   So may we take it that, prior to the presentation of

         2       this report, you had not seen any emails which were to the

         3       contrary of that proposition - in other words, emails which

         4       established that employees of AWB knew that the money being

         5       paid to Alia was being paid to Alia for the very purpose of

         6       onpaying it to the Iraqi regime?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   You were not aware of that?

        10       A.   I did see some emails, but that was, I believe, later

        11       in 2004.

        12

        13       Q.   After this presentation?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   So as at the date of this presentation you hadn't seen

        17       those emails?

        18       A.   Not as I recall, no.

        19

        20       Q.   But later you did?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Can you recall the circumstances in which you later

        24       saw those emails which suggested that AWB employees knew

        25       that money being paid to Alia was being onpaid to the Iraqi

        26       regime?

        27

        28       MR ALLEN:   I object to that question.  Mr Lindberg simply

        29       said that he did see some emails and it was put back to him

        30       in the context of the circumstances in which he saw emails

        31       which suggested that AWB employees --

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   There may be a misunderstanding.  I appreciate

        34       that.

        35

        36       Q.   I may have misunderstood you, Mr Lindberg, and I don't

        37       want to do that.  What I said to you was this - and I think

        38       my learned friend is right, I misunderstood your answer.

        39       I said:

        40

        41            Q.  So may we take it that, prior to the

        42            presentation of this report, you had not

        43            seen any emails which were to the contrary

        44            of that proposition - in other words,

        45            emails which established that employees of

        46            AWB knew that the money being paid to Alia

        47            was being paid to Alia for the very purpose
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         1            of onpaying it to the Iraqi regime?

         2

         3       You said:

         4

         5            A.   Yes.

         6

         7       My question was:

         8

         9            Q.   You were not aware of that?

        10

        11       You said:

        12

        13            A.   I did see some emails...later.

        14

        15       A.   Yes, but let me clarify that - not emails that went to

        16       AWB knowledge of that matter.

        17

        18       Q.   That's what I am asking you about.

        19       A.   I apologise.  I misunderstood.

        20

        21       Q.   No need.  Prior, then, to the presentation of this

        22       report, do you say you had not seen any emails?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   After the presentation of this report and some time

        26       later in 2004 you did see emails?

        27       A.   I did see some emails, but not, as I recall, that went

        28       to that issue.

        29

        30       Q.   You didn't see any emails which led to a strong

        31       inference that AWB employees had knowledge that money being

        32       paid to Alia was being paid to Alia for the very purpose of

        33       onpaying it to the Iraqi regime?

        34       A.   Yes, that is true.

        35

        36       Q.   You didn't see any emails to that effect?

        37       A.   No, that's right.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you ever see any emails to that effect prior to

        40       your being called before this inquiry?

        41       A.   Well, I saw - I'm not sure that they were emails, but

        42       I saw some material that was put to me by the investigators

        43       that they were alleging demonstrated that link,

        44       particularly material around the ISCWT, but, other than

        45       that, no.

        46

        47       Q.   You will see that the next dot point in this
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         1       presentation is:

         2

         3            No evidence of payment of funds by AWB to

         4            any other person in relation to OFF

         5            shipments.

         6

         7       Was it not the case that, by May of 2004, you were aware

         8       that money had been paid to Ronly by AWB in relation to

         9       oil-for-food shipments?

        10       A.   I know we paid Ronly, yes.  I was told of that.  But

        11       I didn't make that connection.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just before you go on, the exhibit that

        14       I have then has a following page, legal advice, with a

        15       privilege claim.  I thought we were getting a copy of it --

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   There is a subsequent version, I think my friend

        18       has it.  Unfortunately, you must have an earlier version,

        19       Commissioner.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Oh.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   I will hand up a copy that I have.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   It is a spare one.  I haven't memorised it, but

        28       I think I am sufficiently familiar with the contents.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I am afraid it hasn't found its way into my

        31       brief, and I apologise.

        32

        33       MR ALLEN:   It also hasn't found its way into our brief

        34       either, Commissioner.  We must have a copy somewhere.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   We will make a copy of that document,

        37       Mr Commissioner, and I will tender it tomorrow morning.

        38

        39       Q.   Can we bring up exhibit 661, please.  This is

        40       AWB.0381.0276.  This is another PowerPoint presentation,

        41       Mr Lindberg.  It was one prepared by Mr Cooper, dated

        42       28 July 2004.  Have you read Mr Cooper's evidence in

        43       relation to this document?

        44       A.   I have.

        45

        46       Q.   Can we go to the last page of it - AWB.0381.0287.  You

        47       will know, then, and I am not quoting him verbatim, that
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         1       the substance of Mr Cooper's evidence was that you directed

         2       him to remove this page from the presentation.  What do you

         3       say about that?

         4       A.   He is mistaken.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you see that he has written on it "Remove from

         7       pack"?

         8       A.   I do.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you know anything of the circumstances in which he

        11       came to write that on that page?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you ask him to remove that from the presentation?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you recall Mr Cooper going through this

        18       presentation with you prior to the presentation to the

        19       board?

        20       A.   I do.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you recall going through a paper copy of the

        23       presentation?

        24       A.   I do.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you recall whether or not at that time this

        27       page was included in what was then a proposed presentation?

        28       A.   This page was not there.

        29

        30       Q.   Could we go to the previous page - 0286 - this is the

        31       page marked 10.  Do you recall whether this was the last

        32       page of the document that you saw?

        33       A.   I just can't recall that, Mr Agius - whether that was

        34       the last page or not.

        35

        36       Q.   Can we go back, then, to 0287.  On what basis can you

        37       recall that this page was not in the presentation that

        38       Mr Cooper went through with you?

        39       A.   Because that information was not presented to me as a

        40       slide like that.  That information was not given to me in

        41       that form.

        42

        43       Q.   You can remember that, can you?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   And how is it that you can remember that?  Is there

        47       anything about the information or the circumstances that --
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         1       A.   Because I can remember very clearly the first time

         2       that Mr Cooper reported on the apparent or alleged part

         3       ownership by the government of Iraq or the Ministry of

         4       Transport.

         5

         6       Q.   When do you say was the first time that he reported on

         7       that?

         8       A.   Well, I believe it was in a board presentation,

         9       although I have noted other - I have noted the directors'

        10       evidence, I could be mistaken about that, but I have a very

        11       clear recollection that Mr Cooper conveyed that

        12       information, particularly the 49 per cent, orally during a

        13       presentation, and I believe that presentation was a board

        14       presentation, but it is possible that it was an ELG

        15       presentation.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you remember when that was?

        18       A.   Well, I believe it was in the second half of 2004.

        19

        20       Q.   Well, this is July 2004.  This document is prepared

        21       for a presentation at a board meeting on 28 July 2004.

        22       Might it be that Mr Cooper went through this document with

        23       you, including this page, prior to his proposed

        24       presentation at a board meeting at about that time?

        25       A.   No, he never went through this page.

        26

        27       Q.   Your evidence goes further than that, doesn't it:  you

        28       say that this page wasn't in the proposed presentation that

        29       you saw?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, you understand Mr Cooper's evidence is that he

        33       removed this from the pack and wrote those words on the

        34       document when you asked him to?

        35       A.   I understand his evidence.  He is mistaken.

        36

        37       Q.   What is your evidence about whether or not the board

        38       was ever told about this information - that Alia for

        39       Transportation and General Trade was apparently owned by

        40       the Iraqi Ministry of Transport to the extent of

        41       49 per cent?

        42       A.   Well, my evidence is that I believe Mr Cooper

        43       presented that information orally to the board during 2004,

        44       but I couldn't be certain.  It may have been at the ELG,

        45       but it was certainly a presentation.  But I do know that

        46       I reported it to the board following my interview with the

        47       IIC, because that was a central matter that they raised,
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         1       and I reported that to the board at the following meeting -

         2       I believe it was 10 March.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   2005?

         5       A.   2005, Commissioner.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Had you not had that knowledge since July

         8       of the previous year, 2004?

         9       A.   Well, I can't be certain when Mr Cooper conveyed it to

        10       me.  I believe it was some time in the latter part of 2004,

        11       but certainly Mr Cooper conveyed it and that was the first

        12       time I'd heard it.

        13

        14       Q.   Can we bring up, please, exhibit 683 - AWB --

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Before you leave 661, again there is a

        17       page called "Initial legal advice" which is blank in my

        18       copy.  It is AWB.0381.0284, page numbered 8.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   That one has also been replaced, Commissioner.

        21       Again, if there is a shortage of copies, we can get some

        22       made.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   I will attend to that in the morning,

        27       Commissioner.

        28

        29       Q.   Just before we finish, Mr Lindberg, can we bring up

        30       exhibit 683, which is AWB.0393.0001.  At the bottom of the

        31       page there is an email from Mr Quennell to Mr Cooper,

        32       copied to Mr Chesterman of MinterEllison:

        33

        34            One suggestion which was made at the last

        35            Board meeting was that we should conduct an

        36            investigation of Alia's structure,

        37            shareholding etc (I think the idea may have

        38            come from Chris Moffatt).  The decision was

        39            subsequently taken (by management) not to

        40            go down that route.

        41

        42       Then later that day Mr Cooper says:

        43

        44            Chris - thanks - I have added a page on

        45            Alia into the slides.

        46

        47       Now, if that email means what it says, it tends to support
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         1       Mr Cooper's evidence that indeed he did add a last page to

         2       the compilation of slides on Alia; would you accept that?

         3       A.   Well, he may well have.

         4

         5       Q.   Was it the case that a suggestion had been made at the

         6       last board meeting - that is, before the board meeting of

         7       28 July - that an investigation should be conducted of

         8       Alia's structure and shareholding?

         9       A.   I do recall that the board raised that we should look

        10       into the ownership of Alia, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   What about Mr Quennell's note, "The decision was

        13       subsequently taken (by management) not to go down that

        14       route" - do you know anything of such a decision?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   And that would be consistent with removing a page from

        18       the package so that the board would not be told about Alia

        19       and its 49 per cent ownership by the Iraqi Ministry of

        20       Transport?

        21       A.   That may be.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, can you think of any reason why anybody within

        24       AWB, as at 28 July 2004, would not have wanted the board to

        25       know that Alia was apparently 49 per cent owned by the

        26       Iraqi Ministry of Transport?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   I see the time, Mr Commissioner.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, can we get an unexpurgated

        32       copy of that one too, or not?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   We just had a look at it to make sure that it

        35       didn't fall away with the others.  It is on a slightly

        36       different topic.  It is not a regurgitation of the same

        37       material.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will adjourn until 10am.

        40

        41       AT 5.10PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        42       TO TUESDAY, 11 APRIL 2006 AT 10AM

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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